Deformation Theory and Local-Global Compatibility of Langlands Correspondences

Martin T. Luu

Abstract

The deformation theory of automorphic representations is used to study local properties of Galois representations associated to automorphic representations of general linear groups and symplectic groups. In some cases this allows to identify the local Galois representations with representations predicted by a local Langlands correspondence.

Contents

1	Pre	eface	2		
2	Intr	roduction	2		
3	Preliminaries 3.1 Notation 3.2 Weil-Deligne representations 3.3 Iwahori-spherical representations	8 8 8 9			
	3.4	3.3.1 Hecke action 3.3.2 Refinements Crystalline periods	$10 \\ 11 \\ 13$		
		3.4.1 Preliminaries 3.4.2 Rigid geometry 3.4.3 Variation of crystalline periods	13 15 15		
4	Local-global compatibility for Hilbert Modular Forms				
	4.1 4.4	Cohomological weight	18 19 21 23 23 27		
5	Local-global compatibility results via crystalline periods				
	$5.1 \\ 5.2 \\ 5.4$	Galois representations	32 35 38		
6	Loc	cal semi-simplifications: The case of general linear groups	44		
	6.1 6.4	Results in dimension at most 4	44 49 49 50		

7	Local semi-simplifications: The case of symplectic groups	52
8	Congruences	57
	8.1 Potential level-lowering and residual local-global compatibility	57
	8.1.1 Lowering the level	58
9	Local monodromy operators: The case of general linear groups	65
	9.1 Monodromy operators	65
	9.5 Applications	68
1() Local monodromy operators: The case of symplectic groups	71
	10.1 γ -factor arguments	71
	10.1.1 Local Langlands correspondence for GSp_4	72
	10.1.2 Rigidity	74
	10.4 Monodromy Operators	76

1 Preface

Parts of this memoir are based on my Ph.D. thesis written at Princeton University under the direction of professor Christopher Skinner. I am deeply indebted to professor Skinner for sharing numerous mathematical ideas with me, many of which are used in this work. I also thank him for many discussions of the mathematics treated in this memoir. It is also my great pleasure to thank B. Conrad, S. Dasgupta, A. Jorza, C. Sorensen for conversations and correspondences that have been very helpful. Moreover, I thank the referee for remarks concerning the improvement of the exposition.

2 Introduction

Let τ be in the complex upper half-plane and let $q = \exp(2\pi i \tau)$. Fix a prime number ℓ . In the year 1954 Martin Eichler associated to the modular form

$$f = \sum_{n \ge 1} a_n q^n = q - 2q^2 - q^3 + 2q^4 + q^5 + \cdots$$

of weight 2 and level $\Gamma_0(11)$ a very different type of object: A group representation

$$\rho_{f,\ell} : \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_2(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$$

such that for all primes $p \notin \{11, \ell\}$ the representation $\rho_{f,\ell}$ is unramified at p and

Trace
$$\rho_{f,\ell}(\operatorname{Fr}_p) = a_p$$

and

$$\det \rho_{f,\ell}(\mathrm{Fr}_p) = p$$

where Fr_p denotes a lift of Frobenius at p. A priori, this association makes no connection between the local properties at p = 11 of the modular form and the group representation. It is then natural to attempt to strengthen Eichler's correspondence between the analytic object f and the algebraic object $\rho_{f,\ell}$, and many results for generalizations of Eichler's correspondence to more general settings have been obtained in the last half a century in this direction. Such questions are now often called the problem of local-global compatibility of Langlands correspondences. The current memoir is meant to contribute to these ongoing efforts.

Traditionally, the main tool in this area is the detailed study of the geometry of Shimura varieties. This should not be too surprising: The very construction by Eichler of $\rho_{f,\ell}$ uses modular curves. For modular forms a reference for the traditional approach to local-global compatibility is [LAN], for Hilbert modular forms there is for example [CAR], and a more recent work in this tradition is the work [HT] by Harris-Taylor.

The methods of our work are different, we use the deformation theory of automorphic forms and Galois representations instead: The description of f above as an element of $\mathbb{Z}[[q]]$ lends itself to an obvious notion of congruences to other such formal power series in q. In many situations one knows the existence of an abundance of such congruences to other modular forms. We will exploit this to develop an approach to local-global compatibility questions that largely avoids the study of bad reduction of Shimura varieties. Phrased in terms of Eichler's modular form f we would like to advertise the following maxim: The local behavior at 11 of the associated Galois representation is governed in a direct way by unramified local behavior of modular forms, not necessarily of the individual modular form f itself but of families of modular forms deforming f. This approach is very different than the standard approach to such problems via studying singularities of Shimura varieties and therefore in particular is useful in the following situations:

- (i) there is no variety to work with in the first place
- (ii) the singularities of the relevant Shimura varieties are not sufficiently well understood
- Examples for these two situations that we treat in this memoir are:
 - (i) Hilbert modular forms of partial weight one
- (ii) Automorphic forms on symplectic groups

Let us come back to Eichler's modular form f. To study the behavior of $\rho_{f,\ell}$ at p = 11 we look at the corresponding Weil-Deligne representation (r, N). See for example [TAT] for a definition. We refer to r as the semi-simple part and to N as the monodromy operator. We use the following methods to study r and N as well as their analogues for more general automorphic Galois representations:

To study r we use the vertical deformation theory of automorphic forms, namely eigenvarieties and associated families of Galois representations. Our approach to calculating the local monodromy operator N is given by the following principle:

> automorphic congruences + automorphic monodromy operators modularity lifting theorems

We now illustrate these approaches to local-global compatibility in some examples. The examples hopefully demonstrate the usefulness of the deformation theoretic approach to local-global compatibility questions concerning Galois representations whose local properties are not easily detectable by standard approaches via singularities of Shimura varieties. On a more philosophical level they might illustrate that ramified local-global compatibility can sometimes be deduced from unramified local-global compatibility in pleasing accordance with the way unramified properties often abstractly determine the Galois representation via the Chebotarev density theorem.

Calculating N for Eichler's modular form:

Let us explain our approach to monodromy operators in the case of Eichler's modular form f. The space $S_2(SL_2(\mathbb{Z}))$ sitting inside $S_2(\Gamma_0(11))$ is actually trivial. A reflection of this fact for the Galois representation $\rho_{f,\ell}$ is that one expects the inertia action at 11 to be non-trivial and unipotent and this has been known for many decades. However, analogous questions in higher dimensions can be much more difficult, hence we now sketch in this simple situation of Eichler's modular form a deformation theoretic approach to studying the ramification:

The key are the revolutionary techniques developed by Wiles [WIL] in his proof of Fermat's last theorem, namely modularity lifting results. The idea of modularity lifting theorems can be described schematically as:



By this we mean that ρ is a representation whose reduction is isomorphic to the reduction $\overline{\rho}_{f,\ell}$ of $\rho_{f,\ell}$ and we want to study if ρ is equal to $\rho_{g,\ell}$ for a suitable modular form g. With this in mind our idea to prove the above described form of the inertia action of $\rho_{f,\ell}$ at 11 is an approach that can schematically be described by the following diagram:



Here R parametrizes suitable deformations of the residual representation $\overline{\rho}_{f,\ell}$ and R(11-unr) parametrizes the subclass of deformations unramified at 11, $\mathbb{T}(11)$ denotes a Hecke algebra corresponding to certain modular forms whose level divides 11 and $\mathbb{T}(1)$ corresponds to the subclass of modular forms of level 1. However, since $S_2(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}))$ is trivial, the above diagram can not be used directly. This is similar to a problem Wiles faced in the proof of Fermat's last theorem: When working with so called minimal deformation problems it can be non-trivial to show that the relevant Hecke algebras are non-empty. In the work of Wiles this is solved by using level-lowering theorems. In our case, we can use the potential level-lowering results of Skinner and Wiles to bypass the above described problem: In many situations one can find congruences to less ramified modular forms after a suitable base change. An added advantage of the Skinner-Wiles results for our aims is that it avoids the study of singularities of Shimura varieties that is employed to prove more classical level-lowering results.

Since modularity lifting theorems are known in many situations, variants of the above described arguments can also be used to study monodromy operators in situations not easily accessible via more standard geometric methods. Hilbert modular forms of partial weight one are one such example which we treat in the current memoir. Since the Galois representations for such modular forms are constructed by using families of modular forms one loses control of the monodromy operators at places of Steinberg ramification. We demonstrate how the deformation theory can be used to calculate the monodromy operators nonetheless in certain situations.

Calculating r (and consequences for N) in a symplectic example:

We now discuss an example of our approach to the semi-simple parts of Weil-Deligne representations associated to automorphic Galois representations. In the case of modular forms we have indicated earlier for the example of Eichler's modular form how the horizontal deformation theory, by which we mean the theory of modularity lifting, can be used to study N. To study r we use the theory of eigenvarieties: Under suitable assumptions many automorphic representations can be put into p-adic families and there are corresponding families of Galois representations. It follows from the important work of Kisin in [KIS] that for such families one often has a variation of crystalline periods. We use this to obtain the matching of r with what is predicted by the local Langlands correspondence in some cases. For this method we study p-adic families of Galois representations and we study the local properties of the Galois representations at p. If independence of ℓ results are known then one can safely restrict to this case of critical characteristic. The control of the variation of only one crystalline period translates the study of r into a combinatorial problem involving exterior powers of Galois representations and different ways of injecting a suitable local component of π into a principal series representation. We discuss some of the resulting combinatorics, in particular in low dimensions, in this memoir. Note that very recent results on strengthening of Kisin's work towards existence of global triangulations allow to discard the combinatorics in many situations and we briefly discuss this later on.

The motivation for choosing the specific example we are about to discuss stems from the work of Skinner-Urban [SU] on the main conjecture of modular forms. There, it would be useful to know certain local-global compatibility results for automorphic representations of GSp_4 . Since the existence of a Langlands transfer to GL_4 is not always known one cannot simply appeal to the well established results for automorphic representations of general linear and unitary groups. Moreover, contrary to the detailed study of the bad reduction of certain unitary group Shimura varieties carried out by Harris-Taylor in [HT], the corresponding understanding of the bad reduction of symplectic Shimura varieties is much less developed. Hence this is a situation where the methods developed in this memoir come into play.

Let F be a totally real number field and let π be a suitable automorphic representation of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ which is in particular cuspidal, algebraic and globally generic. Let rec_{GSp_4} denote the local Langlands correspondence for GSp_4 constructed by Gan and Takeda. In the following statement we in fact use it only for unramified representations where it is a classical result.

For ℓ a prime and ι an isomorphism from $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ to \mathbb{C} there exists a unique continuous semi-simple representation

$$\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}: \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_4(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$$

such that for $v \nmid \ell$ with π_v an unramified principal series representation one has

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}})^{\mathrm{F-ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GSp}_4}(\pi_v \otimes |c|^{-3/2})$$

where c denotes the symplectic similitude character. An analogue of the behavior of Eichler's modular form f at p = 11 is to assume that $v \nmid \ell$ is a finite place of F such that

$$\pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_1|\cdot|^{1/2},\chi_1|\cdot|^{-1/2};\chi_2)$$

where $|\cdot|$ is normalized absolute value of F_v and χ_1 and χ_2 are unramified characters of F_v^{\times} such that $\chi_1^2 \notin \{|\cdot|^{\pm 1}, |\cdot|^{\pm 3}\}$ and the right hand side is the normalized induction of the character of the diagonal torus of $\text{GSp}_4(F_v)$ given by

$$t = \begin{bmatrix} t_1 & & & \\ & t_2 & & \\ & & c(t)t_2^{-1} & \\ & & & c(t)t_1^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \to \chi_1(t_1)|t_1|^{1/2}\chi_1(t_2)|t_2|^{-1/2}\chi_2(c(t))$$

Let (r, N) denote the Weil-Deligne representation associated to $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ at the place v. Let ϖ be a uniformizer of F_v , let q be the size of residue field of F_v , let Fr_v be a lift of geometric Frobenius and let S be the multiset of eigenvalues of $r(\operatorname{Fr}_v)$ multiplied by $q^{-3/2}$. Local-global compatibility predicts that

$$S = \{\alpha \beta q^{1/2}, \alpha \beta q^{-1/2}, \alpha^2 \beta, \beta\}$$
 where $\alpha := \chi_1(\varpi)$ and $\beta := \chi_2(\varpi)$

By using the vertical deformation theory, by which we mean the theory of eigenvarieties, we show under some assumptions, including an independence of ℓ assumption, the following: Let $1 \le j \le 4$ and let

$$\mu = \begin{bmatrix} \mu_1 & & \\ & \mu_2 & \\ & & \mu_3 & \\ & & & & \mu_4 \end{bmatrix}$$

be an unramified character of the diagonal torus of $GL_4(F_v)$ such that

$$\operatorname{St}_2(\chi_1\chi_2) \boxplus \chi_1^2\chi_2 \boxplus \chi_2 \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}_{B_{\operatorname{GL}_4(F_v)}}^{\operatorname{GL}_4(F_v)}(\mu)$$

Then there exists a multiset $\{x_1, \dots, x_j\}$ contained in S such that

$$\prod_{k=1}^{j} x_k = \prod_{k=1}^{j} \mu_k(\varpi)$$

Remark 1. Assuming an independence of ℓ hypothesis deserves some discussion since it might sound rather strong. However, this type of result has already proven to be useful, for example in the work of Jorza in [JOR]. There, via a multiplicity one result, symplectic local-global compatibility is related to GL₄ local-global compatibility but only up to a quadratic twist. Via the methods developed in the current memoir this twist can be removed, since the independence of ℓ for GL₄ is indeed known.

We now use the above described result for various pairs (μ, j) and the combination of the information obtained from these applications will yield that S is as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence.

• Pair 1:

Here we take

$$(\mu, j) = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_1 \chi_2 | \cdot |^{1/2} & & \\ & \chi_1 \chi_2 | \cdot |^{-1/2} & & \\ & & \chi_1^2 \chi_2 & \\ & & & \chi_2 \end{bmatrix}, 1)$$

It follows that $\alpha\beta q^{-1/2}\in S$

• Pair 2:

Here we take

$$(\mu, j) = \left(\begin{bmatrix} \chi_2 & & \\ & \chi_1^2 \chi_2 & \\ & & \chi_1 \chi_2 |\cdot|^{1/2} & \\ & & & \chi_1 \chi_2 |\cdot|^{-1/2} \end{bmatrix}, 3 \right)$$

It follows that there is $\{x_1, x_2, x_3\} \subset S$ such that

$$x_1 x_2 x_3 = \alpha^3 \beta^3 q^{-1/2}$$

• Pair 3:

Here we take

$$(\mu, j) = \left(\begin{bmatrix} \chi_2 & & \\ & \chi_1^2 \chi_2 & \\ & & \chi_1 \chi_2 |\cdot|^{1/2} & \\ & & & \chi_1 \chi_2 |\cdot|^{-1/2} \end{bmatrix}, 4 \right)$$

It follows that there is $\{y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4\} = S$ such that

$$y_1 y_2 y_3 y_4 = \alpha^4 \beta^4$$

Hence, without loss of generality,

$$y_4 = \alpha \beta q^{1/2} \in S$$

• Pair 4:

Here we take

$$(\mu, j) = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_2 & & & \\ & \chi_1^2 \chi_2 & & \\ & & \chi_1 \chi_2 |\cdot|^{1/2} & \\ & & & \chi_1 \chi_2 |\cdot|^{-1/2} \end{bmatrix}, 1)$$

It follows that $\beta \in S$ and since $\alpha^2 \notin \{q^{\pm 1}, q^{\pm 3}\}$ one has $\beta \neq \alpha \beta q^{\pm 1/2}$ and therefore

$$S = \{\alpha\beta q^{-1/2}, \alpha\beta q^{1/2}, \beta, z\}$$

for some number z. Now using the pair $(\mu, 4)$ implies $\alpha^2 \beta^3 z = \alpha^4 \beta^4$ and hence

$$z = \alpha^2 \beta$$

and S is as desired.

Note that this local-global compatibility result concerning r has consequences for what N can be. The analogue of the conjecture of Skinner-Urban in our current situation predicts that the rank of N equals one. In fact, for their applications it is only necessary to show that the rank is at most one and this can be deduced from results of the above type concerning r.

Remark 2. The approach to local-global compatibility that we outlined above actually allows to go beyond the results based on singularities of Shimura varieties. By working directly with symplectic group eigenvarieties one can attack the non-globally generic case as well. Note that the conjecture of Skinner-Urban is now essentially a theorem of Jorza. He proves this by showing a certain strong multiplicity one result for automorphic representations of GSp_4 and using the already known local-global compatibility results for automorphic representations of GL_4 . To prove the full compatibility, there was originally a problem with quadratic-twists. After learning of these results we suggested to solve this problem via the methods outlined above and this is now included in [JOR2]. The general deformation theoretic approach that we wish to develop gives another, more self-contained, approach to showing such local-global compatibility results it should be easier to apply it in more general situations where the understanding of bad reduction of Shimura varieties is less developed.

A more detailed outline of this memoir:

We focus throughout this work on automorphic representations of GL_n and GSp_{2n} and while we usually focus on Iwahori-spherical ramification one can obtain more general results by using base change methods. One should also note that several of the results we prove in this work are not new. Namely, some results are special cases of the local-global compatibility results of [HT] and [TY] and subsequent variations of the methods of these two references. The results in these references are proved by a detailed study of singularities of Shimura varieties and related algebraic varieties, which our approach avoids. Some new results that we prove via the deformation theoretic methods include: Suppose the automorphic Galois representation is not known to be realized in the cohomology of an algebraic variety. To show how deformation theory can deal with this situation, in this case we prove non-triviality results for monodromy operators for Hilbert modular forms of partial weight one.

We also obtain lower bounds on the rank of monodromy operators associated to symplectic automorphic representations. In this symplectic example we show how to bypass the possible lack of strong multiplicity one results by the use of the γ -factors coming from the doubling method. These methods should work more generally. Another difficult case for the standard approach to local-global compatibility is if the automorphic Galois representation is known to be realized in the cohomology of an algebraic variety but a detailed understanding of the singularities of the variety is not known: To show how deformation theory can deal with this situation we prove local-global compatibility results for symplectic automorphic representations. These results not withstanding, the aim of this memoir is not only to present new results: In particular for results concerning automorphic representations of GL_n , the modest aim of much of what we do in the present work is to illustrate the usefulness of the deformation theoretic approach which then can be applied to more difficult situations in the future. We now give a brief outline of the structure of this memoir.

In Chapter 2 we recall some results about Iwahori-spherical representations and p-adic Hodge theory. These results will be used extensively in the applications of families of automorphic forms. In Chapter 3 we give examples for Hilbert modular forms of the way eigenvarieties and modularity lifting theorems can be used to obtain local-global compatibility results for automorphic Galois representations. In Chapter 4 the deformation theoretic approach to local-global compatibility questions is developed in the setting of unitary groups and general linear groups. In Chapter 5 the results of the previous chapter are used to obtain local global compatibility results for automorphic Galois representations of general linear groups. In Chapter 6 the results of the Chapter 4 are used to obtain local global compatibility results for automorphic Galois representations of symplectic groups. In Chapter 7 we prove potential level-lowering results for general linear groups, unitary groups, and symplectic groups. In Chapter 8 we prove nontriviality results for monodromy operators associated to automorphic Galois representations of general linear groups. In Chapter 9 we develop, via the example of symplectic groups, a variant of the modularity lifting approach to monodromy operators that is developed in Chapter 8 that is based on γ -factors from the doubling method rather than strong multiplicity one results.

3 Preliminaries

Since such results will be used on many occasions throughout this memoir, in this chapter we collect some preliminary results about Iwahori-spherical representations as well as crystalline periods of Galois representations.

3.1 Notation

Fix throughout an algebraic closure $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ of \mathbb{Q} and $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ of \mathbb{Q}_p for each prime p. We will denote by $v_p(-)$ the valuation on $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ such that $v_p(p) = 1$ and let $|\cdot|_p$ denote the corresponding absolute value such that $|p|_p = 1/p$. Throughout this work, by a p-adic field we will mean a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p for some rational prime p. For a p-adic field K let $|\cdot|_K$ denote the absolute value normalized such that for a uniformizer ϖ one has $|\varpi|_K = 1/q$ where q denotes the size of the residue field of K. If the context is clear then $|\cdot|_K$ will sometimes simply be denoted by $|\cdot|$.

For a *p*-adic field *K* normalize local class field theory so that uniformizers correspond to lifts of geometric Frobenius. Let $G_K := \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)$ and let $W_K \subset G_K$ denote the Weil group and for $g \in W_K$ let $\nu(g) \in \mathbb{Z}$ be such that g is a lift of the $\nu(g)$ 'th power of geometric Frobenius. For a character χ of K^{\times} we will denote by $\tilde{\chi}$ the character of W_K corresponding to it by local class field theory. Let the maximal absolutely unramified subfield of K be denoted by K_0 and let K_0^{ur} denote its maximal unramified extension.

Suppose F is a number field and $\rho : \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \to \operatorname{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$ is a continuous representation. Consider the isomorphism class of the semi-simplification of the residual representation of the representation on a Galois stable lattice coming from ρ . Let $\overline{\rho}$ denote the scalar extension of this representation to the algebraic closure.

For an extension B/A of number fields let $\text{Spl}_{B/A}$ denote the set of finite places of A which split completely in B.

3.2 Weil-Deligne representations

We briefly recall some standard results on Weil-Deligne representations and refer to [BH, Chapter 7] for more details.

Let K be a p-adic field and fix an algebraic closure \overline{K} . Let W_K be the Weil group which is a topological group such that the inertia group I_K is open and the topology of I_K agrees with the topology on I_K viewed as a subset of $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)$ equipped with the Krull topology. With this topology the Weil group is a locally profinite topological group. As for any locally profinite topological group, one defines a smooth representation of W_K as follows: Let E be a field of characteristic zero and V an E-vector space. Then a smooth representation is defined to be a homomorphism from W_K to the group of E-linear automorphisms of V such that every $v \in V$ has an open stabilizer.

Let $v_K : K \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}$ be defined by taking geometric Frobenius elements to 1, let q denote the size of the residue field of K and let $||\sigma|| := q^{-v_K(\sigma)}$ for $\sigma \in W_K$. A Weil-Deligne representation (ρ, N) of W_K over a field E of characteristic zero consists of a smooth representation ρ of W_K on a finite-dimensional E-vector space V and a nilpotent E-linear endomorphism N of V such that

$$\rho(\sigma)N\rho(\sigma)^{-1} = ||\sigma||N$$

for all $\sigma \in W_K$. A morphism between Weil-Deligne representations over E is defined to be an E-linear map between underlying E-vector spaces which commutes with the relevant smooth representations and nilpotent endomorphisms. Let WD-Rep_E(W_K) denote the category of Weil-Deligne representations of W_K on E-vector spaces. Suppose $\iota : E \longrightarrow E'$ is a field isomorphism of fields of characteristic zero. Consider the corresponding functor from WD-Rep_E(W_K) to WD-Rep_{E'}(W_K) which on objects takes a Weil-Deligne representation (ρ , N) with underlying E-vector space V to the Weil-Deligne representation (ρ' , N') over E' whose underlying E'-vector space is $V \otimes_E E'$ with

$$\rho'(\sigma)(v \otimes 1) = \rho(\sigma)(v) \otimes 1$$
 and $N'(v \otimes 1) = N(v) \otimes 1$

for $v \in V$. This yields an equivalence of categories. In particular, for any choice ι of isomorphism between $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ and \mathbb{C} there is an equivalence of categories between WD-Rep_{$\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$} (W_K) and WD-Rep_{\mathbb{C}} (W_K) .

Let p denote the residue characteristic of K and let $\ell \neq p$ be a rational prime. View $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ as a topological space via

the ℓ -adic topology and hence consider $\operatorname{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$ as a topological space. Let

$$\operatorname{Rep}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}}^{\mathrm{f}}(W_K)$$

category of f.d. continuous representations of W_K on $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ -vector spaces

Fix a lift $Fr \in W_K$ of Frobenius and fix a surjection $t: I_K \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$. It is well known, see for example [BH, p.204], that if ρ is a continuous finite-dimensional representation of W_K on a $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ -vector space V then there is a unique nilpotent $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ -linear endomorphism N_{ρ} of V such that for all σ in some open subgroup of I_K one has

$$\rho(\sigma) = \exp(t(\sigma)N_{\rho})$$

For ρ an object in $\operatorname{Rep}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}}^{\mathrm{f}}(W_K)$ define the homomorphism

$$\rho_{\mathrm{Fr}}: W_K \longrightarrow \mathrm{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$$

by

$$\rho_{\rm Fr}({\rm Fr}^i\sigma) :=
ho({\rm Fr}^i\sigma) \exp(-t(\sigma)N_
ho)$$

for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and all $\sigma \in I_K$. This is a smooth representation of W_K . It is well known, see for example [BH, p.206], that there is an equivalence of categories between $\operatorname{Rep}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}}^{\mathbf{f}}(W_K)$ and $\operatorname{WD-Rep}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}}(W_K)$ which takes an object ρ of $\operatorname{Rep}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}}^{\mathbf{f}}(W_K)$ to $(\rho_{\operatorname{Fr}}, N_{\rho})$ and that the isomorphism class of $(\rho_{\operatorname{Fr}}, N_{\rho})$ is in fact independent of the choice of surjection $t: I_K \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ and choice of lift of Frobenius Fr.

The typical situation encountered in this work is that F is a number field, ι is an isomorphism from $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ to \mathbb{C} and

$$\rho: \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$$

a continuous homomorphism and v a finite place of F. Hence, via the above described equivalence of categories, one obtains a Weil-Deligne representation of W_{F_v} over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ and via ι a Weil-Deligne representation of W_{F_v} over \mathbb{C} . If W = (r, N) is a Weil-Deligne representation over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ we will denote by W_{ι} the corresponding Weil-Deligne representation over \mathbb{C} via ι . We let $W^{\text{F-ss}}$ denote the Frobenius semi-simplification of W and let W^{ss} denote the Frobenius semi-simplification of r.

Let $\rho_1 = (r_1, N_1)$ and $\rho_2 = (r_2, N_2)$ be two Weil-Deligne representations of W_K , with underlying vector spaces V_1 and V_2 . The direct sum $\rho_1 \oplus \rho_2 = (r', N')$ of ρ_1 and ρ_2 is defined to have underlying vector-space $V_1 \oplus V_2$ and $r' = r_1 \oplus r_2$ and N' is defined via

$$N'((v_1, v_2)) = (N_1(v_1), N_2(v_2))$$

for $v_1 \in V_1$ and $v_2 \in V_2$. The tensor product $(r, N) := \rho_1 \otimes \rho_2$ of ρ_1 and ρ_2 is defined to be the Weil-Deligne representation with underlying vector space $V_1 \otimes V_2$ and for every $\sigma \in W_K$ one has

$$r(\sigma)(v_1 \otimes v_2) = r_1(\sigma)v_1 \otimes r_2(\sigma)v_2$$
 and $N(v_1 \otimes v_2) = N_1v_1 \otimes v_2 + v_1 \otimes N_2v_2$

The *i*'th exterior product $\wedge^i \rho_1$ of ρ_1 is defined by viewing $\wedge^i V_1$ as a sub-space of the *i*-fold tensor product $V_1^{\otimes i}$.

3.3 Iwahori-spherical representations

The local components of the automorphic representations to which we will later apply arguments involving families of automorphic representations are of a specific type: They are Iwahori-spherical representations. Hence we now describe now for later use some known results about Iwahori-spherical and closely related types of representations. Let us first fix some notation:

Let K be a p-adic field, let \mathcal{O} be its valuation ring and let k be its residue field. Let $G = \operatorname{GL}_n(K)$ for some $n \geq 2$.

Let *B* be the upper triangular Borel subgroup of $\operatorname{GL}_n(K)$. Let *I* denote the Iwahori subgroup of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O})$ associated to *B* and let I_1 denote the subgroup of *I* corresponding to unipotent matrices in the reduction modulo the maximal ideal of \mathcal{O} . Let *T* be the diagonal torus of GL_n . Let $\delta_B : B \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be the modulus character, which takes $b \in B$ to $|\det_b|_K$ where \det_b denotes the determinant of the conjugation action of *b* on the set \mathfrak{n} of strictly upper triangular matrices in $M_n(K)$.

Definition 1. Let π be an irreducible admissible representation of $GL_n(K)$.

- Let $\pi^I := \{ v \in \pi | i \cdot v = v \text{ for all } i \in I \}$
- For any character $\rho: I \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ that is trivial on I_1 define

$$\pi^{\rho} := \{ v \in \pi \mid i \cdot v = \rho(i)v \text{ for all } i \in I \}$$

The representation π is called Iwahori-spherical if $\pi^I \neq (0)$.

Note that automorphic representations whose local components at some finite place satisfy $\pi^{\rho} \neq (0)$ for some non-trivial character ρ as above will be used in the potential level-lowering results that we prove in Section 8.1.

3.3.1 Hecke action

For a character $\rho: I \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ as in the above definition, define

$$\mathcal{H}(G,\rho) := \{ f: G \longrightarrow \mathbb{C} \mid f(xgy) = \rho^{-1}(x)f(g)\rho^{-1}(y) \text{ for all } x, y \in I \text{ and } g \in G \}$$

where all functions are required to be locally constant and with compact support. Fix a Haar measure on G such that I has measure 1. The product of $f_1, f_2 \in \mathcal{H}(G, \rho)$ is defined by

$$(f_1 * f_2)(x) = \int_G f_1(xy^{-1}) f_2(y) dy$$

The algebras $\mathcal{H}(G,\rho)$ are in general not abelian and we will sometimes work with certain subalgebras which we now describe. Fix a uniformizer ϖ of K and let

$$T^+ := \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} \varpi^{a_1} & & \\ & \varpi^{a_2} & \\ & & \ddots & \\ & & & \varpi^{a_n} \end{bmatrix} | a_1, \cdots, a_n \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ and } a_1 \ge a_2 \cdots \ge a_n \right\}$$

Definition 2. For $t \in T^+$ let

$$\phi_t^{\rho} \in \mathcal{H}(G,\rho)$$

be the element which has support ItI and which satisfies $\phi_t^{\rho}(t) = 1$. Let \mathcal{H}_{ρ}^+ denote the subalgebra of $\mathcal{H}(G, \rho)$ generated by ϕ_t^{ρ} for $t \in T^+$. Note that the elements ϕ_t^{ρ} as above are invertible as recalled in [HAI, Cor. 5.2.2].

For any irreducible admissible representation π of $\operatorname{GL}_n(K)$ there is an action of $\mathcal{H}(G,\rho)$ on π^{ρ} given by

$$f \cdot v = \int_G f(y)(y \cdot v) dy$$

for $f \in \mathcal{H}(G,\rho)$ and $v \in \pi^{\rho}$. The vector space π^{ρ} with its \mathcal{H}^+_{ρ} -action has an alternative description in terms of the Jacquet module of π which we describe in Theorem 1. First let

$$\xi: T(\mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^{\times}$$

be the character given by the composition of the natural map $T(\mathcal{O}) \to T(k)$ with the character of T(k) determined by ρ via the isomorphism $I/I_1 \cong T(k)$. Let $J(\pi)$ denote the Jacquet module of π with respect to B and for ξ as above let $J(\pi)^{\xi}$ denote the subspace of $J(\pi)$ on which $T(\mathcal{O})$ acts through ξ . The following theorem in the case $\xi = 1$ is due to Borel and Casselman and a proof in the case where ξ is non-trivial can be found in [HAI, Prop. 6.0.1]:

Theorem 1. Let π be an irreducible admissible representation of $GL_n(K)$. There is a $T(\mathcal{O})$ -equivariant isomorphism of \mathbb{C} -vector spaces

$$\pi^{\rho} \cong J(\pi)^{\xi} \otimes \delta_B^{-1}$$

Furthermore, this isomorphism is T^+ -equivariant where $t \in T^+$ acts on π^{ρ} via ϕ_t^{ρ} and on $J(\pi)^{\xi} \otimes \delta_B^{-1}$ via the T(K)-action.

Note that the T^+ -equivariance follows from [HAI, Lem. 6.0.3, Lem. 6.0.4] and [CAS, Lem. 1.5.1]. This equivariance, both for the case where ρ is trivial and where it is non-trivial, will be used in Section 8.1 to obtain certain residual local-global compatibility results for automorphic Galois representations.

3.3.2 Refinements

We now describe some known results about realizing Iwahori-spherical representations as sub-representations of principal series representations. This leads to the notion of accessible refinement of an Iwahori-spherical representation and the notion of accessible refinement is crucial for our intended application to local-global compatibility questions: Different accessible refinements of relevant local components of an automorphic representation, if they exist, correspond in general to different families deforming the automorphic representations. In the applications to Hilbert modular forms in Chapter 4 the phenomenon of multiple accessible refinements does not yet play a role but it becomes crucial in the higher dimensional cases treated later on.

Let χ be a smooth character of T(K). For $1 \leq i \leq n$ define $\chi_i : K^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ by

$$x \mapsto \chi(\operatorname{diag}(1, \cdots, 1, x, 1, \cdots, 1))$$

where x is at the *i*'th entry. For the characters χ_i as above we will write

$$\chi = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \chi_i$$

Throughout this work we identify the principal series representation associated to χ as

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{B}^{G}(\chi) =$$

$$\{f: G \to \mathbb{C} | f(bg) = \delta_B(b)^{1/2} \chi(b) f(g) \text{ for all } b \in B \text{ and } g \in G \text{ and } f \text{ smooth } \}$$

This representation will also be denoted by $Ind(\chi)$ as well as $Ind(\chi_1, \dots, \chi_n)$. As in [CHE] we make the following definition:

Definition 3. Let π be an irreducible admissible representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(K)$ which is Iwahori-spherical. A smooth unramified character $\chi: T(K) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ such that

$$\pi \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi)$$

is called an accessible refinement of π .

One can deduce from Theorem 1 that if π is as in the above definition, then it has an accessible refinement. In Theorem 2 we will describe in more detail such accessible refinements in the case where π is generic.

Definition 4. Let $\chi: K^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a smooth character. By [ZEL, Thm. 6.1 (a)] the representation

$$\operatorname{Ind}(\chi|\cdot|^{\frac{n-1}{2}},\chi|\cdot|^{\frac{n-3}{2}},\cdots,\chi|\cdot|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})$$

of $\operatorname{GL}_n(K)$ has a unique irreducible subrepresentation which we will denote by $\operatorname{St}_n(\chi)$.

For a partition $n = \sum_{i=1}^{r} n_i$ let P_{n_1,\dots,n_r} be the corresponding standard parabolic subgroup of $GL_n(K)$ given by matrices of the form

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} A_1 & * & \cdots & * \\ 0 & A_2 & * & \vdots \\ \vdots & 0 & \ddots & * \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & A_r \end{bmatrix}$$

for some $A_j \in \operatorname{GL}_{n_j}(K)$. Suppose now that π is an irreducible admissible representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(K)$ which is Iwahorispherical and generic. It then follows from [ZEL, Thm. 9.7(b)] that there exist numbers n_1, \dots, n_r in $\mathbb{Z}^{\geq 1}$ and smooth characters χ_1, \dots, χ_r of the form $K^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ such that $n = \sum_{i=1}^r n_i$ and

$$\pi \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathcal{P}_{n_1,\dots,n_r}}^{\mathrm{GL}_n}(\operatorname{St}_{n_1}(\chi_1),\cdots,\operatorname{St}_{n_r}(\chi_r))$$

and such that the corresponding segments are unlinked in the sense of [ZEL, Sect. 4.1]. Here the induction is normalized induction. We will denote the above representation by

$$\operatorname{St}_{n_1}(\chi_1) \boxplus \cdots \boxplus \operatorname{St}_{n_r}(\chi_r)$$

For such representations one has:

Theorem 2 (Bernstein-Zelevinsky). Assume π is an irreducible admissible Iwahori-spherical generic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(K)$ which is isomorphic to a representation of the form $\operatorname{St}_{n_1}(\chi_1) \boxplus \cdots \boxplus \operatorname{St}_{n_r}(\chi_r)$ where $\sum_{i=1}^r n_i = n$. Then

$$\pi \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}_{P_1, \dots, 1}^{\operatorname{GL}_n}(\mu_1, \cdots, \mu_n)$$

if there is a permutation w in the symmetric group S_r such that there is an equality of ordered n-tuples

$$(\mu_1, \cdots, \mu_n) =$$
$$(\chi_{w(1)}|\cdot|^{\frac{n_{w(1)}-1}{2}}, \cdots, \chi_{w(1)}|\cdot|^{\frac{1-n_{w(1)}}{2}}, \cdots, \chi_{w(r)}|\cdot|^{\frac{n_{w(r)}-1}{2}}, \cdots, \chi_{w(r)}|\cdot|^{\frac{1-n_{w(r)}}{2}})$$

The theorem is a special case of [ZEL, Thm. 1.2] as we will now explain. Let us fix the following notation:

Definition 5. For a sub-partition $n = m_1 + \cdots + m_s$ of a partition

$$n = n_1 + \dots + n_r$$

and for a collection of irreducible admissible representations π_i of $\operatorname{GL}_{n_i}(K)$ let $\otimes_{i=1}^r \pi_i$ denote the corresponding representation of $\prod_{i=1}^r \operatorname{GL}_{n_i}(K)$ and let

$$\mathbf{J}_{(n_1,\cdots,n_r)}^{(m_1,\cdots,m_s)}(\otimes_{i=1}^r \pi_i)$$

denote the Jacquet module of the representation with respect to P_{m_1,\dots,m_s} . Denote by

$$\mathbf{J}_{(n_1,\cdots,n_r)}^{(m_1,\cdots,m_s)}(-)_{\mathrm{BZ}}$$

the corresponding Jacquet module with the action normalized as in [BZ, Sect. 1.8]. For ease of notation let $J(-) := J_{(n)}^{(1,\dots,1)}(-)$ and note that

$$J(-) \cong \delta_B^{1/2} \otimes J(-)_{\rm BZ}$$

Fix π as in the statement of Theorem 2 and for such a representation we say that two numbers $1 \le i, j \le n$ belong to the same block if there is $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$n_1 + \dots + n_k < i, j \le n_1 + \dots + n_{k+1}$$

Let $W = S_n$ be the symmetric group and consider it as a subgroup of $GL_n(K)$ by taking $w \in W$ to the matrix, also denoted by w, whose (i, j)'th entry is $\delta_{i,w(j)}$. For a character λ of T(K) let $w \circ \lambda$ be the character of T(K) defined by

$$x \to \lambda(w^{-1}xw)$$

for all $x \in T(K)$. Let

 $W' = \{ w \in W | w(i) < w(j) \text{ whenever } i < j \text{ and } i, j \text{ belong to the same block} \}$

By applying [ZEL, Thm. 1.2, Prop. 1.5, Sect. 9.1] one obtains

$$J(\pi)_{\mathrm{BZ}}^{ss} \cong \bigoplus_{w \in W'} [w \circ J^{(1,\dots,1)}_{(n_1,\dots,n_r)}(\otimes_i \mathrm{St}_{n_i}(\chi_i))_{\mathrm{BZ}}]$$
$$\cong \bigoplus_{w \in W'} [w \circ (\otimes_i J^{(1,\dots,1)}_{(n_i)}(\mathrm{St}_{n_i}(\chi_i))_{\mathrm{BZ}}]$$
$$\cong \bigoplus_{w \in W'} [w \circ (\otimes_i (\otimes_{k=0}^{n_i-1} \chi_i |\cdot|^{\frac{n_i-1}{2}-k}))]$$

And it follows from [ZEL, Cor. 1.3] that $J(\pi)_{\text{BZ}}$ has $\bigotimes_i (\bigotimes_{k=0}^{n_i-1} \chi_i | \cdot |^{\frac{n_i-1}{2}-k}))$ as a quotient. Furthermore, since π is generic it follows that for any permutation $w \in S_r$ one has

$$\pi \cong \operatorname{St}_{n_{w(1)}}(\chi_{w(1)}) \boxplus \cdots \boxplus \operatorname{St}_{n_{w(r)}}(\chi_{w(r)})$$

By [CAS, Thm. 3.2.4] one has

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{GL}_n(K)}(\pi,\operatorname{Ind}(\chi)) = \operatorname{Hom}_{T(K)}(J(\pi),\chi \otimes \delta_B^{1/2})$$

Hence Theorem 2 follows.

3.4 Crystalline periods

Proving the existence of certain crystalline periods of automorphic Galois representations and their exterior powers plays a key role in our deformation theoretic approach to local-global compatibility. In this section we recall relevant notions from p-adic Hodge theory and collect useful results concerning crystalline periods for later use.

3.4.1 Preliminaries

Let B_{cris} , B_{cris}^+ , B_{st} , B_{dR} and B_{dR}^+ be the period rings of *p*-adic Hodge theory as defined in [FON1]. Let $t \in B_{dR}^+$ be a generator of the maximal ideal of B_{dR}^+ that is a period for the cyclotomic character. Let φ denote the crystalline Frobenius as defined in [FON1, Sect. 2] and let $N : B_{st} \to B_{st}$ be as defined in [FON1, Sect. 3]. Fix a finite extension K/\mathbb{Q}_p , let $q = p^f$ denote the size of the residue field of K and let $\varphi_K := \varphi^f$. The Galois group $Gal(\overline{K}/K)$ acts on the period rings mentioned above and this action commutes with φ and N. For a finite dimensional $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -vector space Vwith continuous G_K -action define

•

$$D_{cris}(V) = (V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} B_{cris})^{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)}$$
•

$$D_{st}(V) = (V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} B_{st})^{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)}$$

•

$$D_{pst}(V) = \bigcup_{L/K \text{ s.t. } L \subset \overline{K} \text{ and } [L:K] < \infty} (V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} B_{st})^{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/L)}$$

$$\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{dR}}(V) = (V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathbf{B}_{\mathrm{dR}})^{\mathrm{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)}$$

The representation V is called crystalline if $D_{cris}(V)$ is a free $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} K_0$ -module of rank $\dim_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}(V)$. One similarly defines what it means for V to be semi-stable, potentially semi-stable or de Rham.

The action of W_K on $D_{pst}(V)$ is $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -linear and K_0^{ur} -semi linear, where K_0^{ur} is as defined in the beginning of the current chapter. A $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} K_0^{ur}$ -linear action of W_K on $D_{pst}(V)$ is defined in [FON3] with $g \in W_K$ acting on $v \in D_{pst}(V)$ by

$$v \to g \cdot \varphi^{\nu(g)} \cdot v$$

For any embedding $K_0^{\mathrm{ur}} \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ the previous construction together with the action of N defines a Weil-Deligne representation over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$. The isomorphism class of this is independent of the embedding and we will denote it by WD(ρ).

If ρ is a Hodge-Tate representation of $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)$ then for any embedding $\tau : K \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ let $\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}(\rho)$ denote the corresponding multiset of Hodge-Tate weights. If ρ is de Rham these are the opposites of the jumps in the filtration on $\operatorname{D}_{\mathrm{dR}}(\rho)$ coming from the filtration of $\operatorname{B}_{\mathrm{dR}}$. For use in later chapters let us also fix the following notation. Suppose all elements of $\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}(\rho)$ are in \mathbb{Z} . Order the elements of $\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}(\rho)$ in increasing order and for $i \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 1}$ let $\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}^{(i)}(\rho)$ denote the *i*'th element of this ordered set in the sense that for example $\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}^{(1)}(\rho)$ denotes a smallest element of $\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}(\rho)$.

Let us recall some definitions from [FON2]. Let σ be the absolute Frobenius of K_0 . A (φ, N) -module is a K_0 -vector space D with a σ semi-linear injective map $\varphi: D \longrightarrow D$ and a K_0 -linear endomorphism N of D such that

$$N\varphi = p\varphi N$$

The dimension of a (φ, N) -module is the K_0 -dimension of D. Let $\underline{\mathrm{Mod}}(\varphi, N)$ denote the category whose objects are finite dimensional (φ, N) -modules. Let D_1 and D_2 be two objects of $\underline{\mathrm{Mod}}(\varphi, N)$ whose underlying K_0 -vector spaces we denote by V_1 and V_2 . Then the tensor product $D_1 \otimes D_2$ is defined to be the object in $\underline{\mathrm{Mod}}(\varphi, N)$ whose underlying K_0 -vector space is $V_1 \otimes_{K_0} V_2$ and $\varphi(d_1 \otimes d_2) := \varphi d_1 \otimes \varphi d_2$ and

$$N(d_1 \otimes d_2) := Nd_1 \otimes d_2 + d_1 \otimes Nd_2$$

for $d_1 \in V_1$ and $d_2 \in V_2$.

A filtered (φ, N) -module is (φ, N) -module D with a decreasing, exhaustive and separated \mathbb{Z} -indexed filtration on $D_K := D \otimes_{K_0} K$. Let $MF_K(\varphi, N)$ denote the category whose objects are filtered (φ, N) -modules whose underlying K_0 -vector space is finite dimensional and a morphism between two such objects D_1 and D_2 is a morphism η of underlying (φ, N) -modules whose extension of scalars η_K to a map $D_{1,K} \longrightarrow D_{2,K}$ satisfies $\eta_K(\operatorname{Fil}^i(D_{1,K})) \subseteq \operatorname{Fil}^i(D_{2,K})$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$. Let D_1 and D_2 be two objects in $MF_K(\varphi, N)$. Their tensor product $D_1 \otimes D_2$ is defined to be the object in $MF_K(\varphi, N)$ whose underlying (φ, N) -module is the tensor product of the underlying (φ, N) -modules of D_1 and D_2 and whose filtration is given by

$$\operatorname{Fil}^{i}(D_{1}\otimes D_{2})_{K}:=\sum_{j+k=i}\operatorname{Fil}^{j}D_{1,K}\otimes\operatorname{Fil}^{k}D_{2,K}$$

Hence one can define exterior products: Let D be an object in $MF_K(\varphi, N)$ of K_0 -dimension equal to r and with underlying K_0 -vector space V. For $1 \leq i \leq r$ the exterior product $\wedge^i V$ is a sub-object of the *i*-fold tensor product of $V \otimes_{K_0} \cdots \otimes_{K_0} V$. One hence can view it as an object in $MF_K(\varphi, N)$ which will be denoted by $\wedge^i D$.

Let D be an object of $MF_K(\varphi, N)$ and let r be $\dim_{K_0} D$ and consider the object $\wedge^r D \in \underline{Mod}(\varphi, N)$ whose K_0 dimension is 1. Let $d \in \wedge^r D$ be such that $\varphi d = \lambda d$ and define $t_N(D) := v_p(\lambda)$ which is well defined. Define $t_H(D)$ to be the largest integer i such that $\operatorname{Fil}^i((\wedge^r D)_K) \neq (0)$. An object D in $MF_K(\varphi, N)$ is called weakly admissible if

$$t_N(D) = t_H(D)$$
 and $t_N(D') \ge t_H(D')$

for all sub-objects, see [FON2] (Section 4.3.3), D' of D.

3.4.2 Rigid geometry

We recall some important notions from rigid geometry which will be used in describing families of automorphic representations as well as associated families of Galois representations. For more details we refer to [BGR].

Let K be a field with a non-trivial complete non-archimedean valuation. Then a K-algebra with a complete Kalgebra norm is said to be a K-Banach algebra. For n = 0 let $T_0 = K$ and for $n \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 1}$ and X_1, \dots, X_n indeterminates consider the K-algebra

$$T_n := K \langle X_1, \cdots, X_n \rangle = \{ \sum c_{i_1, \cdots, i_n} X_1^{i_1} \cdots X_n^{i_n} | c_{i_1, \cdots, i_n} \in K \text{ and } \lim c_{i_1, \cdots, i_n} = 0 \}$$

An affinoid K-algebra \mathcal{R} is a K-Banach algebra such that there exists a continuous epimorphism $T_n \longrightarrow \mathcal{R}$ for some $n \geq 0$. For an affinoid K-algebra let $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{R})$ denote the set of maximal ideals of \mathcal{R} . A locally G-ringed space over K consists of a G-topological space X and an associated sheaf \mathcal{O}_X of rings which are K-algebras and such that the stalk of \mathcal{O}_X at every $x \in X$ is a local ring. A rigid space X over K is a locally G-ringed space over K that locally looks like $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{R})$ for an affinoid K-algebra \mathcal{R} in a sense made precise in [BGR] (Section 9.3). Define \mathcal{O}_X .

Suppose \mathcal{R} is a Tate algebra and $U \subseteq \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{R})$. Then U is called Zariski dense if U equals W^{an} for a Zariski open and scheme-theoretically dense $W \subseteq \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{R})$. Here W^{an} denotes the analytification of W as defined in [BGR, Section 9.3.4].

3.4.3 Variation of crystalline periods

In later chapters, to study an automorphic Galois representation we will work with all its exterior powers and the following lemma will turn out to be useful:

Lemma 3.5. Let K be a p-adic field and let V be an n-dimensional $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -vector space which is a potentially semi-stable representation of $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)$. Suppose $\alpha \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ is such that

$$D_{\rm cris}(\wedge^i V)^{\varphi_K=\alpha} \neq (0)$$

for some $1 \leq i \leq n$. For $\sigma \in W_K$ let S_{σ} denote the set of eigenvalues of σ acting on $WD(\rho)$. Then if $\nu(\sigma) = [K_0 : \mathbb{Q}_p]$ there exists a subset $\{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_i\} \subseteq S_{\sigma}$ such that

$$\prod_{j=1}^{i} \alpha_j = \alpha$$

Proof. If $D_{cris}(\wedge^i V)^{\varphi_K=\alpha} \neq (0)$ then also

$$\mathcal{D}_{pst}(\wedge^{i}V)^{G_{K}=1,N=0,\varphi_{K}=\alpha} \neq (0)$$

Hence, for any $\sigma \in W_K$ with $\nu(\sigma) = [K_0 : \mathbb{Q}_p]$ the action on $WD(\wedge^i V)$ has α as an eigenvalue. Since V is potentially semi-stable so is $\wedge^i V$ and

$$WD(\wedge^i V) \cong \wedge^i WD(V)$$

Hence there is a subset $\{\alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_i\} \subseteq S_{\sigma}$ such that $\prod_{j=1}^i \alpha_j = \alpha$.

When we apply this lemma in later chapters, the existence of the relevant crystalline periods will be obtained via families of automorphic Galois representations and Kisin's results on variation of crystalline periods in such families. We now describe the work of Kisin in more detail.

Let E be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p contained in \overline{K} and containing the Galois closure of K in \overline{K} . Let \mathcal{R} be an affinoid E-algebra and M a finite free \mathcal{R} -module with a continuous \mathcal{R} -linear G_K -action. As discussed for example in [NAK, Sect. 3.2] let

$$P_M(T) \in (K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathcal{R})[T]$$

denote the Sen polynomial and note that via the isomorphism $K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \cong \bigoplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow \overline{K}} E$ it factors as

$$(P_M(T)_{\sigma})_{\sigma} \in \oplus_{\sigma} \mathcal{R}[T]$$

In case that $P_M(T)_{\sigma}(0)$ vanishes for all σ we will write that $P_M(T) = T \cdot Q(T)$ for some $Q(T) \in (K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathcal{R})[T]$. For the statement of the next theorem note that if X and X' are rigid analytic spaces over E and $Y \in \mathcal{O}(X)^{\times}$ then in [KIS, Sect. 5.2] it is defined what it means for a map of analytic spaces $f : X' \to X$ to be Y-small: Namely, there exists a finite extension E'/E and $\lambda \in \mathcal{O}_{X' \otimes_E E'}(X' \otimes_E E')^{\times}$ such that $E'(\lambda)$ is a product of finite field extensions of E and $Y\lambda^{-1} - 1$ is topologically nilpotent on $X' \otimes_E E'$. For the following theorem see [KIS, Cor. 5.15] and [NAK, Prop. 3.14]:

Theorem 3 (Kisin-Nakamura). Let K and E be as above. Let \mathcal{R} be an affinoid E-algebra and M a finite-free \mathcal{R} module with a continuous G_K -action. Let $Y \in \mathcal{R}^{\times}$ and assume that the identity map $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{R}) \to \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{R})$ is Y-small.
Assume that

$$P_M(T) = T \cdot Q(T) \in (K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathcal{R})[T]$$

for some

$$Q(T) \in (K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_n} \mathcal{R})[T]$$

Let $\{\mathcal{R}_i\}_{i\in I}$ be a collection of affinoid E-algebras which are \mathcal{R} -algebras and let Y_i denote the image of Y in \mathcal{R}_i . Assume for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 1}$ there exists $I_k \subset I$ such that

• For every $i \in I_k$ the natural map gives rise to an isomorphism

$$(\mathcal{B}^+_{\mathrm{cris}}\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}(M\otimes_{\mathcal{R}}\mathcal{R}_i))^{G_K,\varphi_K=Y_i}\otimes_{K_0}K \xrightarrow{\sim} (\mathcal{B}^+_{\mathrm{dR}}/t^k\mathcal{B}^+_{\mathrm{dR}}\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}(M\otimes_{\mathcal{R}}\mathcal{R}_i))^{G_K}$$

- For every $i \in I_k$ the image of $\prod_{i=0}^{k-1} Q(-j)$ in \mathcal{R}_i is a unit
- The map

$$\mathcal{R}
ightarrow \prod_{i \in I_k} \mathcal{R}_i$$

is injective

Let $E \subset \mathbb{C}_p$ be a closed subfield and $f : \mathcal{R} \to E$ a continuous map. Then

$$(\mathbf{B}^+_{\mathrm{cris}}\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}(M\otimes_{\mathcal{R},f} E))^{G_K,\varphi_K=f(Y)} \neq (0)$$

To verify the first assumption of Theorem 3 we will later use the following standard lemma:

Lemma 3.6. Let $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 1}$ be an integer. Suppose M is an n-dimensional $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -vector space with a continuous G_K -action such that

$$D_{\rm cris}(M)^{\varphi_K=\alpha} \neq (0)$$

for some $\alpha \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ and suppose that M is Hodge-Tate such that for all $\tau : K \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ one has $\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}(M) = \{0, k_{\tau,2}, \cdots, k_{\tau,n}\}$ with

- $0 > k_{\tau,2} \ge \cdots \ge k_{\tau,n}$
- $|k_{\tau,2}| > \max(k, [K:\mathbb{Q}_p]\mathbf{v}_p(\alpha))$

Then the natural map gives rise to an isomorphism

 $(\mathbf{B}^+_{\mathrm{cris}}\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}M)^{G_K,\varphi_K=\alpha}\otimes_{K_0}K \xrightarrow{\sim} (\mathbf{B}^+_{\mathrm{dR}}/t^k\mathbf{B}^+_{\mathrm{dR}}\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}M)^{G_K}$

of $K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -modules.

Proof. Since for all $\tau: K \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ one has

$$#\{j \in \operatorname{HT}_{\tau}(M) | |j| \le k\} = 1$$

it follows from [KIS, Cor. 2.6] that $(B_{dR}^+/t^k B_{dR}^+ \widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_p} M)^{G_K}$ is a finite flat $K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ module of rank 1. Since $HT_{\tau}(M) \subset \mathbb{Z}^{\leq 0}$ for all τ it follows from [NAK, Lem. 3.8] that

$$(\mathbf{B}_{\mathrm{cris}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} M)^{G_K} = (\mathbf{B}^+_{\mathrm{cris}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} M)^{G_K}$$

and hence it follows from the assumptions of the lemma that

$$(\mathbf{B}^+_{\operatorname{cris}} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}_n} M)^{G_K, \varphi_K = \alpha} \neq (0)$$

and this is a free $K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -module of rank at least 1. Consider the natural map

$$f: (\mathbf{B}^+_{\mathrm{cris}}\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_p} M)^{G_K, \varphi_K = \alpha} \otimes_{K_0} K \to (\mathbf{B}^+_{\mathrm{dR}}\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_p} M)^{G_K}$$

Suppose now for contradiction that the image of f has non-trivial intersection with

$$(t^k \mathbf{B}^+_{\mathrm{dR}} \widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_p} M)^{G_K}$$

where $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 1}$ is as in the statement of the lemma. Since $D_{cris}(M)$ is weakly admissible and since for all $\tau : K \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ one has

$$j \in \{i \in \operatorname{HT}_{\tau}(M) | |i| \ge k\} \Longrightarrow |j| \ge |k_{\tau,2}|$$

and since by assumption one has $|k_{\tau,2}| > [K : \mathbb{Q}_p] v_p(\alpha)$, it follows [careful, see [Kisin] (Lem. 6.7) where somehow the inequalities are in opposite if expected direction!] that

$$\mathbf{v}_p(\alpha)/[K_0:\mathbb{Q}_p] > \mathbf{v}_p(\alpha)$$

This is a contradiction. Let

$$g: (\mathcal{B}^+_{\mathrm{cris}}\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_p} M)^{G_K, \varphi_K = \alpha} \otimes_{K_0} K \longrightarrow (\mathcal{B}^+_{\mathrm{dR}}/t^k \mathcal{B}^+_{\mathrm{dR}}\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_p} M)^{G_K}$$

be the natural map. Then the image of g is a free $K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -submodule of rank at least 1 and the lemma follows. \Box

4 Local-global compatibility for Hilbert Modular Forms

In this chapter we illustrate the main ideas of this memoir at the example of Hilbert modular forms. First we will deal with Hilbert modular forms of cohomological weight where we simply reprove some classical results via our deformation theoretic methods. Afterwards we prove new results about the non-triviality of monodromy operators associated to Hilbert modular forms of partial weight one. The relevant Galois representations were constructed via congruences by Jarvis in [JAR]. A drawback to this method is that one looses control over local monodromy operators at places of Steinberg ramification. To generalize our methods from cohomological to non-cohomological weight we develop a slightly different version of the approach to monodromy operators via monodromy lifting theorems that we use in the case of cohomological weight. While the methods should work more generally, we focus here on the case of Hilbert modular forms for simplicity. Roughly speaking the idea is to replace identification of small deformation rings and small Hecke algebras with the corresponding identification of big deformation rings and big Hecke algebras. For simplicity of exposition we restrict to the case of ordinary forms but the methods can be adapted to deal with the general case as well and we hope to address this matter in the future.

4.1 Cohomological weight

Note that we will not prove the most general results possible in this chapter in order to present the main ideas in a simplified setting. In particular, this allows us to appeal directly to the families of Hilbert modular forms used in [SKI] and the potential level-lowering results of [SW], and this shortens the arguments.

Let F be totally real field and let π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$. It is said to be of weight

$$\kappa = ((k_{\tau})_{\tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{R})}; w) \in (\mathbb{Z})^{\operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{R})} \times \mathbb{Z}$$

if for the infinite place v_{τ} corresponding to τ the representation $\pi_{v_{\tau}}$ is an essentially discrete series representation of $\operatorname{GL}_2(F_{v_{\tau}})$ of Blattner parameter k_{τ} and with central character

$$x \mapsto \operatorname{sign}(x)^{k_i} |x|^{-w}$$

The weight is called cohomological if $k_{\tau} \geq 2$ and $w \equiv k_{\tau} \mod 2$ for all τ .

Let $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_2}(-)$ be a local Langlands correspondence for GL_2 normalized such that in particular the following holds. Suppose K is a p-adic field and χ_1 and χ_2 are characters of K^{\times} such that the normalized induction $\operatorname{Ind}(\chi_1, \chi_2)$ is irreducible. Then

$$\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_2}(\operatorname{Ind}(\chi_1,\chi_2)) \cong \tilde{\chi}_1 \oplus \tilde{\chi}_2$$

Here $\tilde{\chi}_1$ and $\tilde{\chi}_2$ are as defined at the beginning of Chapter 3.

The following local-global compatibility hypothesis will be combined with the deformation theory of automorphic forms to deduce more general local-global compatibility results. The compatibility at all places where the automorphic representation is unramified is crucial, as is the independence of ℓ hypothesis at places of Iwahori-spherical ramification.

Hypothesis 4.1.1. Let F be a totally real field and let π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of cohomological weight

$$\kappa = ((k_{\tau})_{\tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{R})}; w)$$

For any rational prime ℓ and choice of $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ there exists a continuous semi-simple representation

$$\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota} : \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_2(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$$

such that

(i) for all finite places $v \nmid \ell$ of F such that π_v is a principal series representation one has

$$WD_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{v}}})^{F-ss} \cong \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_{2}}(\pi_{v} \otimes |\det|^{-\frac{1}{2}})$$

(ii) if $v|\ell$ then

• if π_v is unramified then $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_v}}$ is crystalline and

$$WD_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_{v}}})^{F-ss} \cong \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_{2}}(\pi_{v} \otimes |\det|^{-\frac{1}{2}})$$

• $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ is Hodge-Tate at v and if $\tau \in \text{Hom}(F,\mathbb{R})$ corresponds to v via ι then the Hodge-Tate weights with respect to τ are given by

$$(-\frac{w-k_\tau}{2},-\frac{w+k_\tau-2}{2})$$

• if π_v is Iwahori-spherical then $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ is potentially semi-stable at v

(iii) let v be a finite place of F such that π_v is Iwahori-spherical. Then for all rational primes ℓ_1, ℓ_2 and isomorphisms

 $\iota_{\ell_1}:\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell_1} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C} \ \text{ and } \ \iota_{\ell_2}:\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C} \ \text{ one has }$

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota_{\ell_{1}}}\left(\rho_{\pi,\ell_{1},\iota_{\ell_{1}}}\big|_{W_{F_{v}}}\right)^{\mathrm{ss}} \cong \mathrm{WD}_{\iota_{\ell_{2}}}\left(\rho_{\pi,\ell_{2},\iota_{\ell_{2}}}\big|_{W_{F_{v}}}\right)^{\mathrm{s}}$$

and these representations are unramified

This hypothesis will be assumed throughout the current chapter.

Remark 3. Concerning part (iii) of the hypothesis, see [SAI2] for independence of ℓ results for ℓ -adic Galois representations associated to Hilbert modular forms. We do not assume the results of [SAI2] since one aim of this work is to obtain local-global compatibility results without studying the singularities of Shimura varieties. In [SAI3] and [OCH] independence of ℓ results for Galois representations on the ℓ -adic cohomology of quite general algebraic varieties are obtained which however do not imply the full independence of ℓ assumption that we make in Hypothesis 4.1.1: The case where, in the notation of Hypothesis 4.1.1 (iii), the characteristic of the residue field of F_v equals ℓ_1 does not follow directly from the above mentioned references.

4.1.2 Semi-simplification

The next proposition is an example of how Hypothesis 4.1.1 can be used to deduce local-global compatibility results for the local semi-simplifications of automorphic Galois representations at places where the local Langlands correspondence predicts ramification.

Note that while we focus throughout this work on the case of Iwahori-spherical ramification, the particularly restrictive assumption used in the next proposition is included only to be able to appeal directly to the families of Hilbert modular forms used in [SKI]. The assumption on the weight is also included only to make the argument shorter. See corollaries 6.3 and 9.9 where more general results for Hilbert modular forms are deduced as special cases of results for automorphic forms of GL_n over CM-fields.

Proposition 4.2. Let F be a totally real field and let π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of weight $(2, \dots, 2; 2)$. Assume v is a finite place of F of residue characteristic p such that π_w is Iwahori-spherical for all places w|p of F. Then

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}\left(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{v}}}\right)^{\mathrm{ss}} \cong \left(\mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GL}_{2}}(\pi_{v} \otimes |\det|^{-\frac{1}{2}})\right)^{\mathrm{ss}}$$

Proof. Let v, p and ℓ be as in the statement of the proposition. By Hypothesis 4.1.1 (iii) one can assume that $p = \ell$. After making a base change to a suitable solvable totally real base extension in which v splits completely one can assume that $[F : \mathbb{Q}]$ is even. In the notation of Section 3.3 write $\pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi)$ for some unramified character χ of F_v^{\times} . For each place w|p of F choose a uniformizer ϖ_w and let Iw_w denote the Iwahori subgroup corresponding to the upper triangular Borel subgroup of $\operatorname{GL}_2(F_w)$. Let

$$U_w = \operatorname{char}(\operatorname{Iw}_w \begin{bmatrix} \varpi_w & \\ & 1 \end{bmatrix} \operatorname{Iw}_w) \in \mathcal{H}(\operatorname{GL}_2(F_w), 1)$$

where char(-) denotes the characteristic function and $\mathcal{H}(\mathrm{GL}_2(F_w), 1)$ is the Iwahori-Hecke algebra as defined in Chapter 3. Let \mathcal{A}_w be the subalgebra of $\mathcal{H}(\mathrm{GL}_2(F_w), 1)$ generated by U_w . Let S be the union of the set of infinite places of F, the set of places w|p of F and the set of finite places of F where π is ramified. For a place $w \notin S$ let \mathcal{H}_w denote the spherical Hecke algebra at w. This is the algebra consisting of functions on $\mathrm{GL}_2(F_w)$ which are locally constant, have compact support and are $\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathcal{O}_{F_w})$ bi-invariant. Let

$$\mathcal{H} = \otimes'_{w \not\in S} \mathcal{H}_w \otimes_{w \mid p} \mathcal{A}_u$$

and let

$$K^{(S)} = \prod_{w \notin S} \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathcal{O}_{F_w})$$

Let $f \in \pi^{K^{(S)} \prod_{w \mid p} \operatorname{Iw}_w} \neq (0)$ be an eigenvector for \mathcal{H} . For each $w \mid p$ there exists an unramified character χ_w such that $\pi_w \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_w)$ and one has

$$U_w \cdot f = \chi_w(\operatorname{diag}(\varpi_w, 1)) \cdot q^{1/2} \cdot f$$

We now recall the existence of certain families of Hilbert modular forms as described in [SKI]. The only difference is that there the local components of π at places dividing p are all unramified principal series representations.

Let K/\mathbb{Q}_p be a *p*-adic field contained in \mathbb{Q}_p and containing the image of all embeddings $F \hookrightarrow \mathbb{Q}_p$. Let $r \in |K^{\times}|_p$ and let $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{A}_r)$ be the closed rigid ball over K of radius r. Then \mathcal{A}_r is a $\mathcal{A}_1 \cong K\langle T \rangle$ -module where T is an indeterminate and

$$K\langle T\rangle := \{\sum_{n\geq 0} a_n T^n \Big| a_n \in K \text{ and } |a_n|_K \to 0 \text{ as } n \to 0\}$$

is a Tate algebra. Let $\mathbf{p} := p$ if p is odd and $\mathbf{p} := 4$ otherwise. As explained in [SKI], there exists $r \in |K^{\times}|_p$ and a reduced finite torsion-free \mathcal{A}_r -algebra \mathcal{R} such that

(i) there is a morphism

 $\phi:\mathcal{H}\longrightarrow\mathcal{R}$

such that for each $\kappa \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K}(\mathcal{R}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p})$ such that $\kappa(1+T) = (1+\mathbf{p})^{n_{\kappa}}$ for some $n_{\kappa} \in p(p-1)\mathbb{Z}^{\geq 1}$ there is an automorphic representation π_{κ} of $\operatorname{GL}_{2}(\mathbb{A}_{F})$ of weight $(2, \dots, 2; 2) + n_{\kappa}(1, \dots, 1; 1)$ and $f_{\kappa} \in \pi_{\kappa}^{K^{(S)} \prod_{w \mid p} \operatorname{Iw}_{w}}$ such that

$$S \cdot f_{\kappa} = (\kappa \circ \phi)(S) \cdot f_{\kappa}$$

for all $S \in \mathcal{H}$. Here $\operatorname{Hom}_K(\mathcal{R}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ denotes the set of continuous homomorphisms

- (ii) there is a constant C such that if $n_{\kappa} > C$ and π_{κ} are as above, then $\pi_{\kappa,v}$ is an unramified principal series representation
- (iii) there exists κ_0 with $\kappa_0(1+T) = 1$ such that $\kappa_0 \circ \phi$ gives the Hecke eigenvalues of f_0
- (iv) for v as in the statement of the proposition the slope $v_p((\kappa \circ \phi)(U_v))$ for κ as in (i) is constant and will be denoted by $v_p(\phi(U_v))$
- (v) there exists a free \mathcal{R} -module $V_{\mathcal{R}}$ of rank 2 and a continuous Galois representation

$$\rho_{\mathcal{R}}: G_F \longrightarrow \mathrm{GL}(V_{\mathcal{R}})$$

such that for κ_0 as above the semi-simplification $\rho_{\mathcal{R},\kappa_0}^{ss}$ of the representation on $V_{\mathcal{R}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R},\kappa_0} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ is isomorphic to $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ and for all $\kappa \in \operatorname{Hom}_K(\mathcal{R},\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ as in (i) the semi-simplification $\rho_{\mathcal{R},\kappa}^{ss}$ of the representation on $V_{\mathcal{R}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R},\kappa} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ is isomorphic to $\rho_{\pi_{\kappa},\ell,\iota}$

Fix $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 1}$ and let

 $I_k :=$

 $\{\kappa \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K}(\mathcal{R}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}) \mid \kappa \text{ is as in (i) with } n_{\kappa} > \max(C, k-1, [F_{v} : \mathbb{Q}_{p}] v_{p}(\phi(U_{v})) - 1) \}$

Moreover, for $\kappa \in I_k$ let \mathcal{R}_{κ} denote the residue field of the maximal ideal of \mathcal{R} corresponding to κ . Note that for $\kappa \in I_k$ one has

$$\operatorname{HT}_{\tau,v}(\rho_{\pi_{\kappa}}) = \{0, n_{\kappa} + 1\}$$

Moreover, there is an injection $\mathcal{R} \hookrightarrow \prod_{\kappa \in I_k} \mathcal{R}_{\kappa}$ since \mathcal{R} is reduced and $\{\mathfrak{m}_{\kappa}\}_{\kappa \in I_k}$ is a Zariski dense subset of $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{R})$. Now let M be the dual of $V_{\mathcal{R}}$, let $Y := \phi(U_v)^{-1}$ and let $\{\mathcal{R}_{\kappa}\}_{\kappa}$ denote the collection of residue fields of \mathcal{R} corresponding to $\kappa \in \operatorname{Hom}_K(\mathcal{R}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ such that $\kappa \in I_k$ for some $k \geq 1$.

For $\kappa \in I_k$ the representation $\pi_{\kappa,v}$ is an unramified principal series representation and hence it follows from Hypothesis 4.1.1 (i) that

$$\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{cris}}(\rho_{\mathcal{R}_{\kappa}}|_{G_{F_{v}}})^{\varphi_{F_{v}}=\kappa\circ\phi(U_{v})}\neq(0)$$

It follows now from Lemma 3.6 that there is an isomorphism

$$(\mathbf{B}^{+}_{\operatorname{cris}} \widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} (M \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} \mathcal{R}_{\kappa}))^{G_{F_{v}}, \varphi_{F_{v}} = \kappa \circ \phi(U_{v})} \otimes_{F_{v,0}} F_{v}$$

$$\downarrow \sim$$

$$(\mathbf{B}^{+}_{\mathrm{dR}} / t^{k} \mathbf{B}^{+}_{\mathrm{dR}} \widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} (M \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} \mathcal{R}_{\kappa}))^{G_{F_{v}}}$$

Hence all the assumptions of Theorem 3 are satisfied and it follows that

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{cris}}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_v}})^{\varphi_{F_v}=\chi(\varpi_v)q^{1/2}}\neq(0)$$

Let $\alpha := \chi_v(\operatorname{diag}(\varpi_v, 1))$ and $\beta := \chi_v(\operatorname{diag}(1, \varpi_v))$. Let $\sigma \in W_{F_v}$ be such that $\nu(\sigma) = [F_{v,0} : \mathbb{Q}_p]$ and let S_σ denote the multiset of eigenvalues of σ acting on the Weil-Deligne representation $D_{\text{pst}}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_v}})$. By using Lemma 3.5 it follows from the above that $S_\sigma = \{\alpha q^{1/2}, y\}$ for some y. To conclude the proof of the proposition we will now use the local-global compatibility for the determinant of $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$.

Let χ_{π} denote the central character of π and let

$$r_{\ell,\iota}(\chi_{\pi}|\cdot|_{\mathbb{A}_{F}^{\times}}^{-1}):\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F)\longrightarrow\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}^{\times}$$

denote the ℓ -adic character associated to $\chi_{\pi} | \cdot |_{\mathbb{A}_{F}^{\times}}^{-1}$ as defined for example in [CHT, Lem. 4.1.3]. It follows from the Chebotarev density theorem and Hypothesis 4.1.1 that

$$\det \rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota} \cong r_{\ell,\iota}(\chi_{\pi}|\cdot|_{\mathbb{A}^{\times}}^{-1})$$

Since $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ is potentially semi-stable at v one has

$$\wedge^2 \mathcal{D}_{pst}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_n}}) \cong \mathcal{D}_{pst}(\wedge^2 \rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_n}})$$

Moreover, $\chi_{\pi,v}$ is unramified and $D_{cris}(\wedge^2 \rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_v}})^{\varphi_{F_v}=\alpha\beta q} \neq (0)$ and hence by Lemma 3.5 one has $\alpha\beta q = \alpha q^{1/2}y$. It follows that $y = \beta q^{1/2}$ and

Trace WD(
$$\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$$
)(σ) = Trace rec_{GL₂}($\pi_v \otimes |\det|^{-\frac{1}{2}}$)(σ)

for all $\sigma \in W_{F_v}$ with $\nu(\sigma) \ge 0$. The result follows now from [SAI, Lem. 1].

Remark 4. The methods of this proof can also be used to obtain local-global compatibility results for Galois representations associated to Hilbert modular forms of partial weight one. Moreover, one can use base change methods to use the previous proposition to obtain local-global compatibility results even if the local component of the automorphic representation is not Iwahori-spherical.

4.2.1 Monodromy operators

We now illustrate how modularity lifting theorems can be used to calculate local monodromy operators. To avoid a detailed analysis of what type of local-global compatibility results are used in the proofs of particular modularity lifting theorems, and hence the possibility of circular arguments, we will treat such modularity lifting results as hypotheses in this work. See Section 9.1 for some discussion of this. Note also that more general modularity lifting results than the ones used in this work are known. We simply give an example of how modularity lifting theorems can be used to deduce results for local monodromy operators of automorphic Galois representations.

Hypothesis 4.2.2. Let F be a totally real field and $\rho : \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_2(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$ a continuous Galois representation unramified outside of a finite set of places. Suppose that

• $\ell \geq 7$ and ℓ is unramified in F

- ρ is crystalline at all $v|\ell$
- $\overline{\rho}$ is absolutely irreducible and $\overline{\rho} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi',\ell,\iota}$ for some cuspidal cohomological automorphic representation π' of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of weight $\kappa = ((k_{\tau})_{\tau}; w)$ and some $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$
- the Hodge-Tate weights of ρ at $v|\ell$ with respect to any $\tau \in \text{Hom}(F,\mathbb{R})$ giving rise to v via ι are

$$(-\frac{w-k_{\tau}}{2},-\frac{w+k_{\tau}-2}{2})$$

• $\overline{\rho}|_{G_{F(\zeta_{\ell})}}$ is absolutely irreducible where ζ_{ℓ} denotes a primitive ℓ 'th root of unity

Then there is a cuspidal cohomological automorphic representation $\tilde{\pi}$ of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of weight κ such that

- $\rho \cong \rho_{\tilde{\pi},\ell,\iota}$
- $\tilde{\pi}_v$ is unramified for any finite place $v \nmid \ell$ of F such that $\rho|_{G_{F_v}}$ and π'_v are unramified

This hypothesis will be assumed for the rest of this chapter. It will be used to obtain information about local properties of ℓ -adic automorphic Galois representations. This works if ℓ is such that the ℓ -adic Galois representation is amenable to Galois deformation theory. Hence we make the following definition:

Definition 6. Let F be a totally real field and let π be a cuspidal cohomological automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let \mathcal{B}_{π} denote the set of pairs (ℓ, ι) consisting of a rational prime ℓ and an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ such that

- π_v is spherical for all places $v|\ell$ of F
- $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F(\zeta_{\ell})}}$ is absolutely irreducible where ζ_{ℓ} denotes a primitive ℓ 'th root of unity
- $\ell \geq 7$ and ℓ is unramified in F

Remark 5. Note that for the calculation of local semi-simplifications of automorphic Galois representations we have assumed a certain independence of ℓ hypothesis. However, we will not assume an independence of ℓ hypothesis for local monodromy operators in this work. If such a hypothesis were assumed then the non-triviality results for local monodromy operators could be extended beyond those ℓ -adic Galois representations to which one can apply the modularity lifting theorem methods. Note however that in some cases one can rather easily obtain independence of ℓ results for monodromy operators. For example in the next proposition the assumption on the weight allows to realize the Galois representation in the Galois representation of an abelian variety and one can use the good reduction criterion of Serre and Tate.

As in Proposition 4.2, the restriction on the weight in the next proposition is not necessary and is included only to be able to appeal directly to the potential level-lowering results of [SW]. Results for Hilbert modular forms of more general weight will be obtained in Chapter 6.

Proposition 4.3. Let F be a totally real field and let π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of weight $(2, \dots, 2; 2)$. Assume $(\ell, \iota) \in \mathcal{B}_{\pi}$ and let $v \nmid \ell$ of F be a finite place such that π_v is Iwahori-spherical and write $\operatorname{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}})^{\operatorname{F-ss}} = (r, N)$. Then N is non-trivial if and only if it is predicted to be non-trivial by the local Langlands correspondence.

Proof. If the local Langlands correspondence predicts, in the above notation, that N is trivial then π_v is a principal series representation and by 4.1.1 (i) it follows that N is indeed trivial. Hence suppose now that the local Langlands correspondence predicts that N is non-trivial. Then $\pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi)$ for some unramified character χ . Suppose for contradiction that N is trivial. Then there exists a totally real solvable extension F'/F such that $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F'}}$ is unramified at all places of F' above v and $\operatorname{BC}_{F'}(\pi)$ is cuspidal and $\ell \in \mathcal{B}_{\operatorname{BC}_{F'}(\pi)}$, where $\operatorname{BC}_{F'}(-)$ denotes the base change to an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_{F'})$ as constructed in [AC]. By [SW] there exists a solvable totally real extension L/F' such that $\operatorname{BC}_L(\pi)$ is cuspidal and there is a cuspidal cohomological automorphic representation $\tilde{\pi}$ of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_L)$ of the same weight as $\operatorname{BC}_L(\pi)$ such that

- $\overline{\rho}_{\mathrm{BC}_L(\pi),\ell,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\tilde{\pi},\ell,\iota}$
- there is a place w of L above v such that $\tilde{\pi}_w$ is an unramified principal series representation
- $\tilde{\pi}$ is an unramified principal series at all places above ℓ
- $(\ell, \iota) \in \mathcal{B}_{\tilde{\pi}}$

It then follows from Hypothesis 4.2.2 with $\rho := \rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_L}$ and $\pi' := \tilde{\pi}$ that there is a cuspidal cohomological automorphic representation π_2 of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_L)$ of the same weight as $\operatorname{BC}_L(\pi)$ such that $\rho_{\operatorname{BC}_L(\pi),\ell,\iota} \cong \rho_{\pi_2,\ell,\iota}$ and such that π_2 is an unramified principal series at all places of L above v. From the local-global compatibility assumption at unramified principal series places it follows that for all but finitely many finite places u of L one has $\operatorname{BC}_L(\pi)_u \cong \pi_{2,u}$. By strong multiplicity one for cuspidal automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_L)$, see for example [PS], it follows that in particular for all places u of L above v one has $\operatorname{BC}_L(\pi)_u \cong \pi_{2,u}$. Since for such places $\pi_{2,u}$ is an unramified principal series this is a contradiction since $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_2}(\operatorname{BC}_L(\pi)_u)$ has a non-trivial monodromy operator but $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_2}(\pi_{2,u})$ has trivial monodromy operator.

4.4 Non-cohomological weight

Suppose F is a totally real field and f is a Hilbert modular form of partial weight one. Jarvis has shown in [JAR] the existence of associated Galois representations but he was not able to show the non-triviality of monodromy operators at Steinberg places. Generalizing our earlier methods from cohomological to non-cohomoligical weights we are able to prove the desired non-triviality under some assumptions. Note that, since we are proving new result, in this chapter we allow ourselves to use the known fact of compatibility of local Langlands correspondence with base change.

4.4.1 Classical and *p*-adic Hilbert modular forms

We will recall some background on Hilbert modular forms, following the discussion in [HID3, Section 4.3.1].

Throughout this chapter fix a totally real number field F with ring of integers \mathfrak{O}_F and let F_+^{\times} denote the set of totally positive elements. Let \mathfrak{d} denote the different of F over \mathbb{Q} and let I denote the set of embeddings $F \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}$. We denote by $\mathbb{Z}[I]$ the set of collections of integers indexed by I and let $t = (1, \dots, 1) \in \mathbb{Z}[I]$. For $k \in \mathbb{Z}[I]$ and $x \in F$ we let $x^k := \prod_{\sigma \in I} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$ and for $k_1, k_2 \in \mathbb{Z}[I]$ we say $k_1 \geq k_2$ if $k_{1,\sigma} \geq k_{2,\sigma}$ for all $\sigma \in I$. Let $G = \operatorname{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2$, let Z denote the center of G and let $G(\mathbb{R})^+$ denote the connected component of the identity of $G(\mathbb{R})$.

Let T_G be the diagonal torus of $\operatorname{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\operatorname{GL}_2$ and let $T = \operatorname{Res}_{\mathfrak{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}\operatorname{GL}_1$. Identify $\mathbb{Z}[I]^2$ with $\operatorname{Hom}(T_G, \operatorname{GL}_1)$ by taking $(\kappa_1, \kappa_2) \in \mathbb{Z}[I]^2$ to the morphism

$$\begin{bmatrix} a & \\ & d \end{bmatrix} \mapsto a^{\kappa_1} d^{\kappa_2}$$

for $a, d \in F$. Fix a square root $\sqrt{-1}$ of -1 in \mathbb{C} and let \mathcal{H} denote the corresponding complex upper half-plane and and let $\mathbf{i} := (\sqrt{-1}, \dots, \sqrt{-1}) \in \mathcal{H}^I$. Let $C_{\mathbf{i}}$ denote the stabilizer of \mathbf{i} in $G(\mathbb{R})^+$. Let $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \kappa_2) \in \operatorname{Hom}(T_G, \operatorname{GL}_1)$ for κ_1 and κ_2 in $\mathbb{Z}[I]$. For $g \in G(\mathbb{R})$ and $z \in \mathcal{H}^I$ let

$$j(g,z) = (c_{\sigma}z_{\sigma} + d_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in I} \in \mathbb{C}^{I}$$
 and $J_{\kappa}(g,z) := \det(g)^{\kappa_{1}-I}j(g,z)^{\kappa_{2}-\kappa_{1}+I}$

Throughout this chapter fix an embedding $\overline{\mathbb{Q}} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ and for each rational prime p fix an embedding $i_p : \overline{\mathbb{Q}} \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$. Let \mathcal{W} be a subring of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ which is a discrete valuation ring and contains the pre-image under i_p of the valuation ring of the maximal unramified extension of \mathbb{Q}_p in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$. Let $W = \lim_{m \to \infty} \mathcal{W}/p^m \mathcal{W}$ and let $W_m := \mathcal{W}/p^m \mathcal{W}$. Throughout this section fix a prime p and assume that it is unramified in F.

For an integral ideal \mathfrak{N} of \mathfrak{O}_F let

$$\widehat{\Gamma}_0(\mathfrak{N}) = \{ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{GL}_2(\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_F) \big| c \in \mathfrak{N} \}$$

Since it simplifies the form of Fourier expansions, in [HID3] one works with a slightly modified level structure: Let $d \in \mathbb{A}_F^{\times}$ be such that $d\mathfrak{O}_F = \mathfrak{d}$ and $d^{(\mathfrak{d})} = 1$. For an integral ideal \mathfrak{N} of \mathfrak{O}_F let

$$S_0(\mathfrak{N}) = \begin{bmatrix} d & \\ & 1 \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \widehat{\Gamma}_0(\mathfrak{N}) \begin{bmatrix} d & \\ & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

Let $\epsilon = (\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2, \epsilon_+)$ be a nebencharacter in the sense that there is a continuous character $\epsilon : T_G(\hat{\mathbb{Z}}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{W}^{\times}$ given by

$$\epsilon \begin{pmatrix} a & \\ & d \end{pmatrix} = \epsilon_1(a)\epsilon_2(d)$$

and $\epsilon_+ : Z(\hat{\mathbb{Z}}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{W}^{\times}$ given by $\epsilon_+(z) = \epsilon_1(z)\epsilon_2(z)$ and $\epsilon^- : T(\hat{\mathbb{Z}}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{W}^{\times}$ by $\epsilon^-(z) = \epsilon_2^{-1}(z)\epsilon_1(z)$ and assume that ϵ_+ can be extended to a Hecke character $\epsilon_+ : Z(\mathbb{A})/Z(\mathbb{Q}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ such that

$$\epsilon_+(x_\infty) = x_\infty^{-(\kappa_1 + \kappa_2) + I}$$

Define the character $\epsilon_{\Delta}^{\infty}: S_0(\mathfrak{N}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ by

$$\epsilon_{\Delta}^{\infty}(s) = \epsilon_2(\det(s))\epsilon^-(a_{\mathfrak{N}})$$

where

$$s = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}$$

Definition 7. For an integral ideal \mathfrak{N} of \mathfrak{O}_F let $S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, \mathbb{C})$ denote the space of functions

$$f: \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$$

such that the following holds:

• For all $\alpha \in G(\mathbb{Q}), z \in Z(\mathbb{A}), u \in S_0(\mathfrak{N})C_i$ and $x \in GL_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ one has

$$f(\alpha x u z) = \epsilon_+(z) \epsilon_\Delta^\infty(u) f(x) J_\kappa(u_\infty, \mathbf{i})^{-1}$$

• For each $z \in \mathcal{H}^I$ choose $u \in G(\mathbb{R})$ such that $u(\mathbf{i}) = z$ and for each $g \in G(\mathbb{A}^{(\infty)})$ the function

$$f_g: \mathcal{H}^I \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$$

given by $f_q(z) = f(gu_\infty) J_\kappa(u_\infty, \mathbf{i})$ is holomorphic on \mathcal{H}^I and exponentially decreasing as $\mathrm{Im}(z) \longrightarrow \infty$.

Remark 6. Note that $S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, \mathbb{C}) = \{0\}$ unless there is an integer $[\kappa_1 + \kappa_2]$ such that $\kappa_1 + \kappa_2 = [\kappa_1 + \kappa_2]t$ and hence we will assume from now on that this holds.

Remark 7. The space $M_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, \mathbb{C})$ of not necessarily cuspidal Hilbert modular forms is defined analogously but with the exponential decrease assumption replaced by an assumption on so-called moderate growth.

Remark 8. For simplicity of notation we will also denote by $S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, 1, \mathbb{C})$ the space of modular forms as defined above with nebencharacter ϵ such that ϵ_1 and ϵ_2 are trivial. Similar conventions will be used later on in definitions of spaces of *p*-adic modular forms.

We now recall from [HID3] how the above defined spaces of Hilbert modular forms can be described geometrically via sheaves on Shimura varieties: Let

$$\overline{S}_0(\mathfrak{N}) = S_0(\mathfrak{N})Z(\mathbb{A}^{(\infty)})$$

and let $\operatorname{Sh}_{\overline{S}_0(\mathfrak{N})}$ be the Hilbert modular Shimura variety of level $\overline{S}_0(\mathfrak{N})$. Fix κ and a nebencharacter ϵ . In [HID3, Section 4.2.6] a sheaf $\underline{\omega}_{\kappa,\epsilon}$ on the above Shimura variety is defined which by loc. cit. (p.194) satisfies

$$\mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathrm{Sh}_{\overline{S}_{0}}(\mathfrak{N}), \underline{\omega}_{\kappa, \epsilon/\mathbb{C}}) \cong S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, \mathbb{C})$$

To define spaces of Hilbert modular forms defined over, for example, number fields one can use Fourier expansions: As described in loc. cit. (p.196), every $f \in S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, \mathbb{C})$ has a Fourier expansion

$$f\begin{pmatrix} y & x\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = |y|_{\mathbb{A}} \sum_{\xi \in F_+^{\times}} a_{\infty}(\xi y, f)(\xi y_{\infty})^{-\kappa_1} \mathbf{e}_F(\sqrt{-1}\xi y_{\infty}) \mathbf{e}_F(\xi x)$$

where for $\overline{x} = (x_i) \in \mathbb{C}^d$ $(d \ge 1)$ one defines

$$\mathbf{e}_F(x) = \exp(2\pi\sqrt{-1}\sum_i x_i)$$

Definition 8. For any \mathbb{Q} -algebra R contained in \mathbb{C} and containing the image of ϵ_1 , ϵ_2 and κ , define $S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, R)$ to be the space of $f \in S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, \mathbb{C})$ such that $a_{\infty}(y, f) \in R$ for all $y \in \mathbb{A}_F^{\times}$. It is then known that

$$S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N},\epsilon,R) = \mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathrm{Sh}_{\overline{S}_{0}(\mathfrak{N})},\underline{\omega}_{\kappa,\epsilon/R})$$

Definition 9. For a $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -algebra R the p-adic q-expansion coefficients are defined as

$$a_p(y,f) = y_p^{-\kappa_1} a_\infty(y,f)$$

and the formal q-expansion of f is the element in $R[[q^{\xi}]]_{\xi \in F_{\perp}^{\times}}$ given by

$$f(y) = \sum_{\xi \in F_+^{\times}} a_p(\xi y, f) q^{\xi}$$

We now define various Hecke operators acting on spaces of Hilbert modular forms. To do so, fix an integral ideal \mathfrak{N} of \mathfrak{O}_F and let

$$D = \{ \begin{bmatrix} a \\ & d \end{bmatrix} \in M_2(\mathfrak{O}_{F,\mathfrak{N}}) | a \in \mathfrak{O}_{F,\mathfrak{N}}^{\times}, d \in \mathfrak{O}_{F,\mathfrak{N}} \}$$

Let $\Delta_0(\mathfrak{N}) = \Delta_0(\mathfrak{N})_{\mathfrak{N}} \times \Delta_0(\mathfrak{N})^{(\mathfrak{N})}$ where

$$\Delta_0(\mathfrak{N})^{(\mathfrak{N})} = M_2(\widehat{\mathfrak{O}}_F) \cap \mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}^{(\mathfrak{N}\infty)}) \text{ and } \Delta_0(\mathfrak{N})_{(\mathfrak{N})} = (S_0(\mathfrak{N})DS_0(\mathfrak{N})) \cap \mathrm{GL}_2(F_{\mathfrak{N}})$$

For an invertible matrix y write $y^{\iota} = \det(y)y^{-1}$. Write

$$S_0(\mathfrak{N})y^\iota S_0(\mathfrak{N}) = \bigsqcup_{u,t} ut S_0(\mathfrak{N})$$

with $u \in U(\hat{\mathbb{Z}})$, where U denotes the upper triangular unipotent subgroup of G, and $t \in T_G(\mathbb{A}^{(\infty)})$ such that det $t = \det y$. Then define the operator $[S_0(\mathfrak{N})y^{\iota}S_0(\mathfrak{N})]$ by

$$(f|[S_0(\mathfrak{N})y^{\iota}S_0(\mathfrak{N})])(x) := \sum_{u,t} \epsilon^{\infty}_{\Delta}((ut)^{\iota})f(xut)$$

and define the modified Hecke operator

$$[S_0(\mathfrak{N})y^{\iota}S_0(\mathfrak{N})]_p := \det(y_p)^{-\kappa_1}[S_0(\mathfrak{N})y^{\iota}S_0(\mathfrak{N})]$$

As described in [HID3, p.196], the action of $y \in \Delta_0(\mathfrak{N})$ on $S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, R)$ via $[S_0(\mathfrak{N})y'S_0(\mathfrak{N})]$ coincides with the action of the geometrically defined Hecke operator associated to y as in loc. cit. (Section 4.2.6).

Definition 10. For every finite place \mathfrak{q} of F fix a uniformizer $\varpi_{\mathfrak{q}}$ and let $T(\varpi_{\mathfrak{q}}) = [S_0(\mathfrak{N})y^{\iota}S_0(\mathfrak{N})]$ for

$$y = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \\ & \varpi_{\mathfrak{q}} \end{bmatrix}$$

If $\mathfrak{q}|\mathfrak{N}$ then denote $T(\varpi_{\mathfrak{q}})$ also by $U(\varpi_{\mathfrak{q}})$. Similarly, let $S(\varpi_{\mathfrak{q}})$ be defined by choosing instead

$$y = \begin{bmatrix} \varpi_{\mathfrak{q}} & \\ & \varpi_{\mathfrak{q}} \end{bmatrix}$$

The operators $T_p(\varpi_q)$, $U_p(\varpi_q)$ and $S_p(\varpi_q)$ are obtained by the above described modification, namely by multiplying by $\det(y_p)^{-\kappa_1}$.

Note that it is shown in [HID2] that these operators are in fact elements in $\operatorname{End}_W(S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, W))$.

Definition 11. For a prime $\mathfrak{p}|p$ the ordinary projector $e_{\mathfrak{p}}$ in $\operatorname{End}_W(S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N},\epsilon;W))$ is defined to be $\lim_{n\to\infty} U(\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}})^{n!}$ if $\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{N}$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} T(\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}})^{n!}$ if $\mathfrak{p}\nmid\mathfrak{N}$. Also, let $e_p := \prod_{\mathfrak{p}|p} e_{\mathfrak{p}}$.

Definition 12. For $z \in Z(\mathbb{A}^{(p\infty)})$ define the associated normalized diamond operator $\langle z \rangle = |z|_{\mathbb{A}}^{-2}[S_0(\mathfrak{N})zS_0(\mathfrak{N})]$. Note that with this normalization, $f \in S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, W)$ satisfies

$$f|\langle z\rangle = \epsilon_+(z)f$$

We now describe p-adic Hilbert modular forms as well as Λ -adic modular forms. For each $m \geq 1$ let

$$S_m = \operatorname{Sh}^{(p)}(\operatorname{PGL}_2, X) / S_0(\mathfrak{N})[\frac{1}{E}]_{/W_m}$$

where E is a lift of the Hasse invariant, see [HID3, p.186] for precise definitions of the Shimura variety and level structure. Following [HID3, Section 4.1.6, 4.1.7] let $T_{m,n}$ be the piece of the Igusa tower over S_m as defined in loc. cit.. Let $V_{m,n}^{\text{cusp}}$ denote the space of the global section of the structure sheaf of $T_{m,n}$ that vanish at the cusps and let $V_{m,\infty}^{\text{cusp}} = \bigcup_n V_{m,n}^{\text{cusp}}$ and define

$$V_{\text{cusp}}(\mathfrak{N}; W) = \varprojlim_{m} V_{m,\infty}^{\text{cusp}}$$
$$\mathcal{V}_{\text{cusp}}(\mathfrak{N}; W) = \varinjlim_{m} V_{m,\infty}^{\text{cusp}}$$

Define the spaces $V_{\text{cusp}}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon; W)$ and $\mathcal{V}_{\text{cusp}}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, W)$ by imposing the central character and nebencharacter given by ϵ . For later use in describing modularity lifting results we define the Hecke algebras $\mathbf{h}^{n.\text{ord}}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, W[[T(\mathbb{Z}_p)]])$ to be the $W[[T(\mathbb{Z}_p)]]$ -subalgebra of $\text{End}(\mathcal{V}_{\text{cusp}}^{\text{ord}}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, W))$ generated over $W[[T(\mathbb{Z}_p)]]$ by $T_p(y)$ and $\langle y \rangle_p$ as y ranges over integral ideles, where $\mathcal{V}_{\text{cusp}}^{\text{ord}}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, W)$ denotes the image of the ordinary projector acting on $\mathcal{V}_{\text{cusp}}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, W)$. Here the operator $\langle y \rangle_p$ is obtained by associating to y the corresponding element in $Z(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ and then the associated diamond operator as defined in [HID3, p.173] and the Hecke operator $T_p(y)$ is defined analogously to Definition 10 by associating to y the matrix

1	
L	y

Let $\Lambda = W[[\Gamma]]$ where $T(\mathbb{Z}_p) = \Gamma \times \Delta^{(p)}$ where Γ is the maximal *p*-profinite subgroup. We now describe Λ -adic modular forms as *p*-adic modular forms defined over Λ . By taking the base change of the Igusa tower $T_{m,n}$ one defines the space $V_{\text{cusp}}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon; \Lambda)$ of *p*-adic modular forms over Λ in an analogous manner to $V_{\text{cusp}}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon; W)$. The space of Λ -adic modular forms can then be defined as the subspace of $V(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon; \Lambda)$ where the Λ -module structure agrees with the Λ -module structure coming from the diamond operators. See for example [HID2, Section 3.4.1] for a comparison in the case of $F = \mathbb{Q}$ with other definitions of Λ -adic modular forms. For $f \in V(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon; \Lambda)$ and $\kappa \in \text{Hom}(T_G, \text{GL}_1)$ the weight κ specialization \mathcal{F}_{κ} of \mathcal{F} is the *p*-adic modular form over *W* obtained from *f* by specializing the $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ -action via κ_1 . Note that ϵ is fixed and through this the second weight κ_2 intervenes.

4.4.2 Monodromy Operators

We first discuss a type of rigidity result for *p*-adic modular forms that will replace our appeal to strong multiplicity one results that we used in Section 4.2.1 to deal with Hilbert modular forms of cohomological weight. In order to conform with conventions used in other parts of this memoir, for the rest of this chapter we will denote the prime *p* of the previous sections by ℓ . We will assume throughout the remainder of this chapter that $\ell \geq 3$. Fix a nebencharacter ϵ . Let *B* be a discrete valuation ring which is a subring of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ and an extension of $\mathbb{Z}_{(\ell)}$ such that B^{\times} contains the values of ϵ . Let *W* be the ℓ -adic completion of *B*.

Definition 13. A form $f \in V_{\text{cusp}}(\mathfrak{N}, 1; W)$ will be called an eigenform with respect to \mathfrak{N} if it is an eigenform for $T(\varpi_v)$ for all $v \nmid \mathfrak{N}$ and an eigenform for $U(\varpi_v)$ for all $v \mid \mathfrak{N}$.

Let $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \kappa_2)$ with $\kappa_2 - \kappa_1 + t \ge t$ in the sense that $(\kappa_2 - \kappa_1 + t)_{\sigma} \ge 1$ for all $\sigma \in I$. Let \mathfrak{N} be a square-free ideal of \mathfrak{O}_F and let $f \in V_{\text{cusp}}^{\text{ord}}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon; W)$ be an eigenform with respect to \mathfrak{N} with weight $\kappa \in \text{Hom}(T_G, \text{GL}_1)$. For a Hecke operator T let $\theta_f(T)$ denote the corresponding eigenvalue. Then, see [JAR] for references, there exists a continuous Galois representation

$$\rho_{f,\ell} : \operatorname{Gal}(F/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$$

such that in particular:

- $\rho_{f,\ell}$ is unramified outside $\mathfrak{N}\ell$
- If $v \nmid \mathfrak{N}\ell$ is a prime of F, then

Trace
$$\rho_{f,\ell}(\operatorname{Fr}_v) = \theta_f(T(\varpi_v))$$

•

$$\det \rho_{f,\ell} = \tilde{\epsilon}_+ \chi_\ell^{[\kappa_1 + \kappa_2]}$$

where $\tilde{\epsilon}_+$ denotes the Galois character associated to to ϵ_+

• If π denotes the automorphic representations associated to f and if $v \nmid \ell$ is a finite place of F such that

$$\pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi|\cdot|^{1/2},\chi|\cdot|^{-1/2})$$

for some unramified character χ then

$$(\rho_{f,\ell}|_{G_{F_v}})^{\mathrm{ss}} \sim \chi|\cdot|^{-1/2} \oplus \chi|\cdot|^{1/2}$$

where the right hand side is interpreted as a Galois character via local class field theory

Let \mathfrak{N} be an ideal of F and let $v \nmid \mathfrak{N}$ be a finite prime. Recall that in Definition 10 we fixed a uniformizer ϖ_v of F_v . Let $\eta_v \in \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ be the element whose local component away from v is the identity and whose component at v is given by

$$(\eta_v)_v := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \\ & \varpi_v \end{pmatrix}$$

Consider the map $S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, W)^2 \longrightarrow S_{\kappa}(v\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, W)$ given by

$$(f,g) = f + g|\eta_v$$
 where $(g|\eta_v)(x) := g(x\eta_v)$

Definition 14. Let $S_{\kappa}^{\text{v-old}}(\mathfrak{N}v, \epsilon, W)$ to be the image of the above defined map and $S_{\kappa}^{\text{v-new}}(\mathfrak{N}v, \epsilon, W)$ be the orthogonal complement of $S_{\kappa}^{\text{v-old}}(\mathfrak{N}v, \epsilon, W)$ in $S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}v, \epsilon, W)$ under the Petersson inner product.

Definition 15. A Λ -adic form $\mathcal{F} \in V(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, \Lambda)$ will be called *v*-new for a prime ideal *v* if \mathcal{F}_{κ} is *v*-new for all but finitely many classical weights κ with $\kappa_{1,\sigma} - \kappa_{2,\sigma} \geq 1$ for all $\sigma \in I$. If it is not *v*-new it will be called *v*-old.

Let $f \in S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, W)$ and assume $v \nmid \mathfrak{N}$ is a prime ideal of F. Assume that f is an eigenform for $T(\varpi_w)$ for $w \nmid \mathfrak{N}$ and $U(\varpi_w)$ for $w \mid \mathfrak{N}$. Suppose α and β are the roots of the Hecke polynomial

$$x^2 - \theta_f(T(\varpi_v))x + (\tilde{\epsilon}_+ \chi_\ell^{[\kappa_1 + \kappa_2]})|_{G_{F_v}}(\varpi_v)$$

of f at v. Then

$$f_{\alpha} := f - \alpha f | \eta_v \in S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}(v), \epsilon, W)$$

is an eigenform for $T(\varpi_w)$ for $w \nmid \mathfrak{N}v$ and $U(\varpi_w)$ for $w \mid \mathfrak{N}$ with same eigenvalue as f and an eigenform for $U(\varpi_v)$ with eigenvalue β . The form f_{α} will be called a v-stabilization of f. Similarly, one can create an eigenform for $T(\varpi_w)$ for $w \nmid \mathfrak{N}v$ and $U(\varpi_w)$ for $w \mid \mathfrak{N}$ with same eigenvalue as f and an eigenform for $U(\varpi_v)$ with eigenvalue 0. This form will also be called a v-stabilization of f. More generally, suppose now that $\mathfrak{J} = v_1 \cdots v_r$ is a product of distinct prime ideals in F and that it is coprime to \mathfrak{N} . A modular form in $S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{J}, \epsilon, W)$ will be called an \mathfrak{J} -stabilization of f if it is obtained by taking a v_1 -stabilization of f, then taking a v_2 -stabilization of the resulting form and so on. Such a \mathfrak{J} -stabilization of f will be denoted by $f^{\mathfrak{J}\text{-stab}}$. Similar constructions can be made for Λ -adic forms: For example, let $\mathcal{F} \in V(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, \Lambda)$ and let $v \nmid \mathfrak{N}$ be a finite place of F. Then, after possibly replacing Λ by a finite extension, there exists $\mathcal{F} \mid \eta_v \in V(\mathfrak{N}v, \epsilon, \Lambda)$ such that

$$(F|\eta_v)_\kappa = \mathcal{F}_\kappa |\eta_v|_\kappa$$

for all $\kappa \in \text{Hom}(T_G, \text{GL}_1)$. We can now prove:

Lemma 4.5. Let F be a totally real field and ℓ a rational prime and $\mathfrak{M}, \mathfrak{N}$ square-free integral ideals in F. Let $f \in V_{\text{cusp}}(\mathfrak{N}, 1; W)$ be an eigenform for \mathfrak{N} of some weight $\kappa \in \text{Hom}(T_G, \text{GL}_1)$ such that $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \kappa_2)$ with $\kappa_2 - \kappa_1 + t \ge t$. Let $g \in S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{M}, 1; W)$ be a newform. Let $v | \mathfrak{M}$ be a prime and suppose that $\rho_{f,\ell} \cong \rho_{g,\ell}$. Then there exists ideals $\mathfrak{c}_1, \mathfrak{c}_2$ with \mathfrak{c}_1 prime to v such that

$$q^{\mathfrak{c}_1\operatorname{-stab}} = f^{\mathfrak{c}_2\operatorname{-stab}}$$

If f and g are assumed ordinary, then there exists a Λ -adic form deforming g^{c_1 -stab which is v-old.

Proof. Let v be as in the statement of the lemma. By local-global compatibility for f, the $U(\varpi_v)$ -eigenvalue γ of f is one of the eigenvalues of the unramified representation $\rho_{f,\ell}|_{G_{F_v}}$ and hence of $\rho_{g,\ell}|_{G_{F_v}}$. It hence is, by local-global compatibility for g, a root of the Hecke polynomial of g at v. Let δ denote the second root of the Hecke polynomial Hence and consider g_{δ} and note that

$$U(\varpi_v)g_\delta = \gamma \cdot g_\delta$$

For all other primes $w|\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{N}$ we take stabilizations of f and g_{δ} such that the eigenvalues are zero and hence agree. By the assumptions of the proposition and the earlier arguments the resulting stabilizations $g^{\mathfrak{c}_1\operatorname{-stab}}$ and $f^{\mathfrak{c}_2\operatorname{-stab}}$ have the same Hecke eigenvalues at all finite places. It follows that they have the same q-expansions and hence it follows from the q-expansion principle, see for example [HID2, Section 2.3.3] that $g^{\mathfrak{c}_1\operatorname{-stab}} = f^{\mathfrak{c}_2\operatorname{-stab}}$ as desired. Now assume f and g are ℓ -ordinary and let \mathcal{F} be a Λ -adic form deforming f and let $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{c}_2\operatorname{-stab}}$ be the form obtained as a stabilization from \mathcal{F} in the same way as $f^{\mathfrak{c}_2\operatorname{-stab}}$ is obtained from f. Then $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{c}_2\operatorname{-stab}}$ deforms $f^{\mathfrak{c}_2\operatorname{-stab}} = g^{\mathfrak{c}_1\operatorname{-stab}}$ and for sufficiently large weights in $\operatorname{Hom}(T_G, \operatorname{GL}_1)$ its specializations will be v-old since the specializations of \mathcal{F} at such weights are classical and v-old.

Consider:

Hypothesis 4.5.1. Let F be a totally real field and let ℓ be a rational prime. Let $f \in S_{\kappa}^{\text{ord}}(\mathfrak{N}, 1, W)$ where \mathfrak{N} is a square-free ideal of \mathfrak{O}_F and assume that f is \mathfrak{N} -new and assume $v|\mathfrak{N}$ and $v \nmid (\ell)$ is a prime ideal. Assume that there exists a finite extension K/F such that for all totally real solvable extensions L/F which are linearly disjoint over F with K the following holds: The base change f_L of f to L is cuspidal and for each ordinary (ℓ) -stabilization of every \mathfrak{c} -stabilization of f_L for \mathfrak{c} coprime to v, every Hida family passing through it is w-new for all places w|v of L.

Remark. See [HID2, Corollary 3.57] for some relevant rigidity results.

Even though we will not pursue this matter further in this memoir one can modify the previous hypothesis to obtain version of Theorem 4 also for non-ordinary forms. We hope to treat such questions in more detail elsewhere but we state one such possible modified hypothesis in the following:

Hypothesis 4.5.2. Let F be a totally real field and let $f \in S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, 1, W)$ where \mathfrak{N} is an integral ideal of \mathfrak{O}_F . Assume that there exists a finite extension K/F such that for all totally real solvable extensions L/F which are linearly disjoint over F with K the following holds: The base change f_L of f to L is cuspidal and for every \mathfrak{c} -stabilization of f_L for \mathfrak{c} coprime to v whenever it equals the stabilization of an ℓ -adic modular form then the ℓ -adic modular form is classical.

We now follow closely the discussion in [HID2, Section 3.2] adapted to our current situation.

Hypothesis 4.5.3. Let F be a totally real field, ℓ a rational prime and let $f_0 \in S_{\kappa}^{\text{ord}}(\mathfrak{N}, 1, B)$ be a newform and let π denote the automorphic representation corresponding to f_0 . Assume:

- for $v|\ell$ the local component π_v is a principal series representation
- for all $v|\ell$ the Galois representation satisfies

$$\rho_{f_0,\ell}|_{G_{F_v}} \sim \begin{bmatrix} \eta_{1,v}^{-1}(\tilde{\epsilon}_+\chi_{\ell}^{[\kappa_1+\kappa_2]})|_{G_{F_v}} & *\\ & \eta_{1,v} \end{bmatrix}$$

where $\eta_{1,v}$ is a character $F_v^{\times} \longrightarrow B^{\times}$ such that if $\eta'_{1,v}$ is the corresponding complex character, via our fixed embeddings of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ into \mathbb{C} and $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$, then

$$\pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\eta'_{1,v}, \eta'_{2,v})$$

for some character $\eta'_{2,v}$. Let $\overline{\delta}_v := \eta_{1,v} \mod \mathfrak{m}_B$ and assume

$$\overline{\delta}_v^{-1} \det(\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}) \neq \overline{\delta}_v$$

- $\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}$ is absolutely irreducible
- if $v \nmid \ell$ is a finite place such that $\rho_{f_0,\ell}|_{I_{F_v}}$ after restricting to $I_{F'_v}$ for some finite extension F'_v/F_v is non-trivial unipotent then the same holds for $\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}|_{I_{F_v}}$

We now describe modularity lifting results for the residual representation $\overline{\rho}_{f_0}$. Let k be a finite field such that $\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}$ is defined over k and assume from now on that the residue field of B is the finite field k and all Hecke eigenvalues of f_0 for Hecke operators $T(\varpi_q)$ and $U(\varpi_q)$ are contained in B. Assume furthermore that if a prime $v \nmid \ell$ divides \mathfrak{N} then

$$\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}|_{I_{F_v}} \sim \begin{bmatrix} 1 & * \\ & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

with * non-trivial. We call this last property the condition (min). For every $v|\mathfrak{N}$ write

$$\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}|_{G_{F_v}} \sim \begin{bmatrix} \overline{\epsilon}_v & * \\ & \overline{\delta}_v \end{bmatrix}$$

Let \mathcal{C} denote the category of complete noetherian W-algebras with residue field k. For $A \in \mathcal{C}$ a representation ρ : $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_2(A)$ is called a deformation if the reduction modulo the maximal ideal of A is isomorphic to $\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}$. Two such deformations are called strictly equivalent if they are conjugate by an element in $\operatorname{GL}_2(A)$ whose reduction to $\operatorname{GL}_2(k)$ is the identity. Consider the functor $\mathcal{C} \longrightarrow$ Set which takes an object A of \mathcal{C} to the set of strict equivalence classes of deformations ρ such that

• ρ is unramified away from $\ell \mathfrak{N}$

• For $v|\ell$ one has

$$\rho|_{G_{F_v}} \sim \begin{bmatrix} \epsilon_v & * \\ & \delta_v \end{bmatrix}$$

where ϵ_v and δ_v are characters $G_{F_v} \longrightarrow A^{\times}$ such that

$$\delta_v \mod \mathfrak{m}_A \cong \overline{\delta}_v$$

and $\delta_v|_{I_{F_v}}$ factors through $\operatorname{Gal}(F_v^{\operatorname{unr}}(\mu_{\ell^{\infty}})/F_v^{\operatorname{unr}})$

• For all $v|\mathfrak{N}$ that do not divide ℓ one has

$$\rho|_{G_{F_v}} \sim \begin{bmatrix} \epsilon_v & * \\ & \delta_v \end{bmatrix}$$

where ϵ_v and δ_v are characters $G_{F_v} \longrightarrow A^{\times}$ such that

$$\delta_v \mod \mathfrak{m}_A \cong \overline{\delta}_v \text{ and } \delta_v|_{I_{F_v}} = 1$$

This functor is representable by an object $R = R(N_{\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}})_{\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}}^{\text{ord}}$ in \mathcal{C} and there exists a Galois representation

$$\rho_R : \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_2(R(N_{\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}})_{\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}}^{\operatorname{ord}})$$

such that in particular for $v|\ell$ one has

$$ho_R|_{G_{F_v}}\sim egin{bmatrix} oldsymbol{\epsilon}_v & *\ & oldsymbol{\delta}_v\end{bmatrix}$$

where $\boldsymbol{\delta}_{v}|_{I_{F_{v}}}$ factors through $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{v}^{\operatorname{unr}}(\mu_{\ell^{\infty}})/F_{v}^{\operatorname{unr}})$ and

$$\boldsymbol{\delta}_v \mod \mathfrak{m}_R = \overline{\delta}_v$$

where \mathfrak{m}_R denotes the maximal ideal of R. Hence, by taking the product over $v|\ell$, one obtains a map $W[[\Gamma]] \longrightarrow R(N_{\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}})_{\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}}^{\mathrm{ord}}$.

Definition 16. Let F be a totally real field and let $f \in S_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, B)$ be a Hecke eigenform. Define \mathcal{B}_f to be the set of rational primes such that

- f is as in Hypothesis 4.5.3 with respect to ℓ
- $\ell \geq 7$
- ℓ is unramified in F
- $\overline{\rho}_{f,\ell}|_{G_{F(\zeta_{\ell})}}$ is absolutely irreducible where ζ_{ℓ} denotes a primitive ℓ 'th root of unity in \overline{F}

Let \mathfrak{N} be an ideal of F. Then there is a maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of the Hecke algebra $\mathbf{h}^{n.ord}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, W[[T(\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})]])$ such that there exists a Galois representation

$$\rho_{\mathfrak{h}}: \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbf{h}^{\operatorname{n.ord}}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, W[[T(\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})]])_{\mathfrak{m}})$$

which satisfies the conditions of the above described deformation functor and hence there is a map

$$\pi: R(N_{\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}})^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\overline{\rho}_{f_0,\ell}} \longrightarrow \mathbf{h}^{\mathrm{n.ord}}(\mathfrak{N},\epsilon, W[[T(\mathbb{Z}_\ell)]])_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

such that $\rho_{\mathfrak{h}}$ is obtained from ρ_R via composition with this map. By work of Fujiwara, see also [HID2, Theorem 3.50] for a similar result in parallel weight, one knows the following: Suppose $f \in S_{\kappa}^{\text{ord}}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, B)$ is a newform, $\ell \in \mathcal{B}_f$, and if a prime $v \nmid \ell$ divides \mathfrak{N} then condition (**min**) holds. Then the map π is a $W[[\Gamma]]$ -algebra isomorphism. We can now prove the main result.

Theorem 4. Let F be a totally real field and let ℓ be a rational prime and let $f_0 \in S_{\kappa}^{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathfrak{N}, \epsilon, B)$ be a newform for $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \kappa_2)$ with $\kappa_2 - \kappa_1 + t \ge t$. Assume $\ell \in \mathcal{B}_{f_0}$ and $v | \mathfrak{N}$ is a prime not above ℓ . Assuming Hypothesis 4.5.1, the monodromy operator N of the Weil-Deligne representation associated to $\rho_{f_0,\ell}|_{W_{F_v}}$ is non-trivial if and only if it is predicted to be non-trivial by the local Langlands correspondence.

Proof. After a solvable base change one can assume that \mathfrak{N} is a square-free ideal and ϵ is such that ϵ_1 and ϵ_2 are trivial. Hence we will now assume this. Let π be the automorphic representation associated to f_0 . If the local Langlands correspondence predicts, in the above notation, that N is trivial then π_v is a principal series representation and by Hypothesis 4.1.1 (i) it follows that N is indeed trivial. Hence suppose now that the local Langlands correspondence predicts that N is non-trivial. Then $\pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi)$ for some unramified character χ . Suppose for contradiction that N is trivial. For example by [JAR, Theorem 4.4] there exists $E \in M_{\kappa'}(\mathfrak{c}, 1, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$ of sufficiently large classical weight κ' and with \mathfrak{c} coprime to $\mathfrak{MO}(\ell)$ and such that

$$E \equiv 1 \mod \ell$$

in the sense that there is an integer ring \mathfrak{O} in a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} such that the Fourier coefficients of E and 1 differ by elements in valuation ring of \mathfrak{O} . The product fE^r for r sufficiently large is then an ordinary form of cohomological weight $\tilde{\kappa} = (\tilde{\kappa}_1, \tilde{\kappa}_2)$ with $\tilde{\kappa}_2 - \tilde{\kappa}_1 \geq t$ and $0 \neq e_p(fE^r) \in S_{\tilde{\kappa}}(\mathfrak{Nc}, 1, W)$. One can deduce from classical results of Deligne-Serre that there exists an ordinary eigenform $d \in S_{\tilde{\kappa}}^{\mathrm{ord}}(\mathfrak{Nc}, 1, W)$ such that

$$\overline{\rho}_{d,\ell} \cong \overline{\rho}_{f,\ell}$$

Let T be the set of finite places of F such that if $v \in T$ then $v|\mathfrak{N}$ and the Weil-Deligne representation associated to $\rho_{f_0,\ell}|_{G_{F_v}}$ has trivial monodromy operator. Let π_2 denote the automorphic representation associated to d. By the potential level-lowering results of Skinner-Wiles in [SW] there exists a solvable totally real extension L/F such that $\mathrm{BC}_L(\pi_2)$ is cuspidal and there is a cuspidal automorphic representation $\tilde{\pi}$ of $\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_L)$ of the same weight as $\mathrm{BC}_L(\pi_2)$ such that if \tilde{g} denotes the newform associated to $\tilde{\pi}$ and if f denotes the newform associated to $\mathrm{BC}_L(\pi)$, then

- $\overline{\rho}_{f,\ell} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\tilde{g},\ell}$
- \tilde{g} is of a level which is not divisible by finite places w of L above T
- \tilde{g} is ordinary at all places above ℓ

For suitably chosen L one has $\ell \in \mathcal{B}_{\tilde{g}}$ and we assume this from now on. Furthermore, condition (min) holds for \tilde{g} . Hence there is an isomorphism of W-algebras

$$R(N_{\overline{\rho}_{\tilde{g},\ell}})_{\overline{\rho}_{\tilde{g},\ell}}^{\mathrm{ord}} \cong \mathbf{h}^{\mathrm{n.ord}}(\mathfrak{M}, 1, W[[T(\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})]])_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

where \mathfrak{m} is a maximal ideal corresponding to the residual representation $\overline{\rho}_{\tilde{g},\ell}$ and \mathfrak{M} is an ideal of \mathfrak{O}_L which is prime to places above T. Note that f is *w*-new for all places w|v of L. Since \mathfrak{M} can be chosen such that $\rho_{f,\ell}$ is unramified at all finite places not dividing $\mathfrak{M}(\ell)$ and since $\rho_{f,\ell}$ is ordinary at ℓ one obtains

$$\xi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{W-\mathrm{alg}}(R(N_{\overline{\rho}_{\tilde{a},\ell}})_{\bar{\rho}_{\tilde{a},\ell}}^{\mathrm{ord}}, W) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{W-\mathrm{alg}}(\mathbf{h}^{\mathrm{n.ord}}(\mathfrak{M}, 1, W[[T(\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})]])_{\mathfrak{m}}, W)$$

such that $\rho_{\pi,\ell}|_{\mathrm{Gal}(\overline{F}/L)}$ is the composition of ρ_R with ξ . Since

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{W}(\mathbf{h}^{\operatorname{n.ord}}(\mathfrak{M}, 1, W[[T(\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})]]), W) \cong V_{\operatorname{cusp}}^{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathfrak{M}, 1; W)$$

there exists $g \in V_{\text{cusp}}^{\text{ord}}(\mathfrak{M}, 1; W)$ which is an eigenform and has a weight and such that $\rho_{g,\ell} \cong \rho_{f,\ell}$. By Proposition 4.5 there exists ideals $\mathfrak{c}_1, \mathfrak{c}_2$ with \mathfrak{c}_1 prime to places w above v such that

$$q^{\mathfrak{c}_1\text{-stab}} = f^{\mathfrak{c}_2\text{-stab}}$$

and there exists a Λ -adic form deforming $g^{\mathfrak{c}_1$ -stab} which is w-old for some places w|v and this contradicts Hypothesis 4.5.1.

5 Local-global compatibility results via crystalline periods

As a first step towards proving local-global compatibility results for automorphic representations of GL_n and GSp_{2n} we generalize in this chapter the results of Section 4.1.2. This means that we are using unitary group eigenvarieties, as constructed by Chenevier, and Kisin's result on variation of crystalline periods to obtain certain local-global compatibility results for local semi-simplifications. The key result is Lemma 5.5 which concerns local properties of Galois representations associated to automorphic representations of totally definite unitary groups. This is a case that lends itself very well to the construction of eigenvarieties. Via functoriality this has then implications for local-global compatibility for automorphic Galois representations of general linear groups and symplectic groups. In the following chapters we make these implications more explicit.

5.1 Galois representations

We will now state precisely which properties of automorphic Galois representations will be assumed throughout this chapter. Let F be a CM-field and let F^+ denote its maximal totally real subfield and let c denote the non-trivial element in $\text{Gal}(F/F^+)$. An automorphic representation Π of $\text{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ is called

- conjugate self-dual if $\Pi^{\vee} \cong \Pi^c$
- regular algebraic if it has the same infinitesimal character as a finite-dimensional irreducible algebraic representation of $\operatorname{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\operatorname{GL}_n)$

Let $\mathbb{Z}^{n,+}$ be the set of decreasing *n*-tuples of integers. For any

$$\overline{k} = (k_1, \cdots, k_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^{n,+}$$

let $W_{\overline{k}}$ denote the algebraic representation of GL_n of highest weight \overline{k} , corresponding to the character

$$\begin{bmatrix} t_1 & & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & t_n \end{bmatrix} \mapsto \prod_{i=1}^n t_i^{k_i}$$

of the diagonal torus of GL_n . A finite-dimensional irreducible algebraic representation of $\operatorname{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\operatorname{GL}_n)$ then corresponds to $\overline{a} = (\overline{a}_{\tau})_{\tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C})} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C})}$ and we will say Π is of weight \overline{a} if it has the same infinitesimal character as the finite-dimensional irreducible algebraic representation of $\operatorname{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\operatorname{GL}_n)$ corresponding to \overline{a} .

Let $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_n}(-)$ denote a local Langlands correspondence for GL_n such that in particular the following holds. Suppose K is a p-adic field and $\chi = \prod_{i=1}^n \chi_i$ is a character of the diagonal torus of $\operatorname{GL}_n(K)$ such that the principal series representation $\operatorname{Ind}(\chi)$ is irreducible. Then

$$\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_n}(\operatorname{Ind}(\chi)) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^n \tilde{\chi}_i$$

where $\tilde{\chi}_i$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$ is as defined in the beginning of Chapter 3.

The following hypothesis will be assumed for the rest of this chapter. It will be combined with the deformation theory of automorphic forms to deduce more general local-global compatibility results.

Hypothesis 5.1.1. Let Π be a cuspidal regular algebraic conjugate self-dual automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of weight $\overline{a} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C})}$. For a rational prime ℓ and $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ there is a continuous semi-simple ℓ -adic Galois representation

$$\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota} : \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$$

such that

(i) for all finite places $v \nmid \ell$ of F such that Π_v is a principal series representation there is an isomorphism

$$WD_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{v}}})^{F-ss} \cong \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_{n}}(\Pi_{v} \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})$$

(ii) for $v|\ell$

• if Π_v is unramified then $\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}$ is crystalline at v and

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_{u}}})^{\mathrm{F-ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GL}_{n}}(\Pi_{v} \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})$$

• $\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}$ is Hodge-Tate at each $v|\ell$ and if $\tau \in \text{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C})$ lies above v via ι then the corresponding set of Hodge-Tate weights equals

$$\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_n}}) = \{-(a_{\tau,i}+n-i)|1 \le i \le n\}$$

- if Π_v is Iwahori-spherical then $\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_v}}$ is potentially semi-stable
- (iii) for v a finite place such that Π_v is Iwahori-spherical and for any rational primes ℓ_1 , ℓ_2 and isomorphisms $\iota_{\ell_1}: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell_1} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ and $\iota_{\ell_2}: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota_{\ell_1}}\left(\rho_{\Pi,\ell_1,\iota_{\ell_1}}\big|_{W_{F_v}}\right)^{\mathrm{ss}} \cong \mathrm{WD}_{\iota_{\ell_2}}\left(\rho_{\Pi,\ell_2,\iota_{\ell_2}}\big|_{W_{F_v}}\right)^{\mathrm{ss}}$$

and these representations are unramified.

(iv)

$$\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}^{\vee} \cong \rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}^c \otimes \chi_{\ell}^{n-1}$$

where χ_{ℓ} denotes the ℓ -adic cyclotomic character

Remark. In part (iii) we have assumed for simplicity that the semi-simple parts of the Weil-Deligne representations are unramified. This assumption can be avoided but then the statements of main local-global compatibility results have to be somewhat changed. If the Galois representations are realized for example in the cohomology of a Shimura variety then this part of the assumption can be obtained by constructing good integral models for the Shimura-variety with suitable Iwahori level-structure. See for example [TY].

In order to deduce from Hypothesis 5.1.1 local-global compatibility results at places where the local Langlands correspondence predicts ramification we work in this section with Galois representations associated to automorphic forms on totally definite unitary groups. By using functoriality results of [LAB] the results of this section will then later be used to to obtain results for automorphic representations of general linear groups. The advantage of working with totally definite unitary groups is that for such groups families of automorphic forms have been constructed in [CHE]. This allows us to apply the crystalline periods methods described in Chapter 3 in a similar way as in the proof of Proposition 4.2.

Note that contrary to the case of Hilbert modular forms, in the more general setting that we treat in this section there can be multiple accessible refinements of the relevant local component of the automorphic representation and each of these refinements can lead to different information about the local properties of the automorphic Galois representation. In this section we simply determine what information a given accessible refinement yields and only in later sections will we then combine the information coming from all the different accessible refinements to obtain more precise local-global compatibility results.

Let us first describe the Galois representations associated to automorphic representations on totally definite unitary groups.

Let F^+ be a totally real field, let E an imaginary quadratic extension of \mathbb{Q} and let $F := F^+E$ be a CM-field. Let c denote the non-trivial element of $\operatorname{Gal}(F/F^+)$. Let $n \geq 2$ be an integer and assume that F/F^+ is unramified at all finite places and that $n[F^+:\mathbb{Q}]/2$ is even. Let U_n^* be the quasi-split unitary group over F^+ as defined in [LAB, Sect.

2.1]. As discussed in [CH, Lem. 2.1] there is an inner form G of U_n^* that is quasi-split at all places of F^+ which are inert in F and such that $\prod_{v|\infty} G(F_v^+)$ is compact.

Let π be an automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$. The weight of π is defined to be the representation ξ of $\prod_{v\mid\infty} G(F_v^+)$ on $\otimes_{v\mid\infty} \pi_v$. As explained for example in [CHL, Sect. 2], the representation ξ corresponds to

$$\overline{a}(\xi) \in (\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\{\tau: F \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}\}}$$

such that

$$\overline{a}(\xi)_{\tau,i} = -\overline{a}(\xi)_{\tau \circ c, n+1-i}$$

for each $1 \leq i \leq n$. For π as above, a base change to an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ is constructed in [LAB] and this allows to associate to π a Galois representation. To describe this Galois representation note that if $v \in \operatorname{Spl}_{F/F^+}$ factors as $v = ww^c$ in F then one obtains isomorphisms i_w and i_{w^c} between $G \otimes_{F^+} F_v^+$ and $\operatorname{GL}_{n,F_w}$ and $\operatorname{GL}_{n,F_{w^c}}$. The following hypothesis is a consequence of Hypothesis 5.1.1 by results of [GUE].

Hypothesis 5.1.2. Let π be an automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$ of weight ξ . For a rational prime ℓ and $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ there is a continuous semi-simple Galois representation

$$\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}: \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$$

such that

(i) for all finite places $v \nmid \ell$ of F^+ which split as $v = ww^c$ in F and for which π_v is a principal series representation one has

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_w}})^{\mathrm{F-ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GL}_n}((\pi_v \circ i_w^{-1}) \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})$$

(ii) if $v|\ell$ splits as ww^c in F then

• if π_v is spherical then $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ is crystalline at w and

$$WD_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_w}})^{F-ss} \cong \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_n}((\pi_v \circ i_w^{-1}) \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})$$

• $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ is Hodge-Tate at w and if $\tau \in \text{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C})$ lies above w via ι then the corresponding set of Hodge-Tate weights equals

$$\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_w}}) = \{-(\overline{a}(\xi)_{\tau,i} + n - i)|1 \le i \le n\}$$

- if π_v is Iwahori-spherical then $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_w}}$ is potentially semi-stable at w
- (iii) for v a finite place of F^+ which splits as $v = ww^c$ in F and such that $\pi_v \circ i_w^{-1}$ is Iwahori-spherical and for any rational primes ℓ_1 , ℓ_2 and isomorphisms $\iota_{\ell_1} : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell_1} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ and $\iota_{\ell_2} : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota_{\ell_1}}\left(\rho_{\pi,\ell_1,\iota_{\ell_1}}\big|_{W_{F_w}}\right)^{\mathrm{ss}} \cong \mathrm{WD}_{\iota_{\ell_2}}\left(\rho_{\pi,\ell_2,\iota_{\ell_2}}\big|_{W_{F_w}}\right)^{\mathrm{ss}}$$

and these representations are unramified

(iv)

$$\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}^{\vee} \cong \rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}^c \otimes \chi_\ell^{n-1}$$

where χ_{ℓ} denotes the ℓ -adic cyclotomic character

(v) if the base change Π of π to $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ is cuspidal then

$$\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota} \cong \rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}$$

Moreover, if $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ is irreducible then the base change of π to $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ is cuspidal

5.2 Eigenvariety preliminaries

In this section fix G, F and F^+ as in Section 5.1. As a preparation for the proof of Lemma 5.5 we will in this section briefly recall some facts about unitary group eigenvarieties as constructed in [CHE].

Let p be a rational prime and fix an isomorphism $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$. Fix a decomposition

{places
$$u|p \text{ of } F^+$$
} = $S_p \sqcup S'_p$

with $\#S_p = 1$ and assume $S_p = \{v\}$ with $v \in \operatorname{Spl}_{F/F^+}$. In the discussion until Lemma 5.5 fix a place w of F above v and let i_w be the corresponding isomorphism $G(F_v^+) \cong \operatorname{GL}_n(F_w)$. In the following we will identify these groups. Via this identification we let $T_v \subseteq G(F_v^+)$ be the diagonal torus and we let T_v^0 be the maximal compact subgroup of T_v consisting of elements with entries in \mathcal{O}_{F_w} . Furthermore, we let B_v denote the upper triangular Borel subgroup of $G(F_v^+)$. Let $\mathbb{G}_m^{\operatorname{rig}}$ denote the analytification, as defined in [BGR, Sect. 9.3.4], of the algebraic variety \mathbb{G}_m . View T_v via restriction of scalars as the \mathbb{Q}_p -valued points of a torus defined over \mathbb{Q}_p and define the rigid spaces over \mathbb{Q}_p given by $\mathcal{T}_{S_p} := \operatorname{Hom}(T_v, \mathbb{G}_m^{\operatorname{rig}})$ and $\mathcal{W}_{S_p} := \operatorname{Hom}(T_v^0, \mathbb{G}_m^{\operatorname{rig}})$ where in both cases the the homomorphisms are required to be p-adically continuous.

For $u \in S_p \sqcup S'_p$ let $\Sigma(u)$ be the subset of $\operatorname{Hom}(F^+, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ consisting of homomorphisms lying above u and let $\Sigma_{\infty}(u)$ be the subset of $\operatorname{Hom}(F^+, \mathbb{C})$ corresponding to $\Sigma(u)$ via ι .

Let Σ'_{∞} denote the union of the sets $\Sigma_{\infty}(u)$ for $u \in S'_p$ and fix an irreducible representation W_{∞} of $\prod_{\tau \in \Sigma'_{\infty}} G(F_{\tau}^+)$. Let S be a finite set of finite places of F^+ disjoint from S_p . Fix a compact open subgroup

$$K = \prod K_u \le G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+}^{(\infty)})$$

where u ranges over the finite places of F^+ and K_u is a subgroup of $G(F_u^+)$ which

- is a hyperspecial maximal compact subgroup at all places $u \notin (S_p \sqcup S)$
- equals $G(\mathcal{O}_{F_{u}^{+}})$ for almost all places u
- is the Iwahori subgroup corresponding to B_v at $v \in S_p$

Let

$$\mathcal{H}^{(S_p)} = \otimes'_{u \notin (S_p \sqcup S)} \mathcal{H}_u$$

where \mathcal{H}_u for $u \notin (S_p \sqcup S)$ denotes the spherical Hecke algebra consisting of functions on $G(F_u^+)$ which are locally constant, have compact support and are K_u bi-invariant. Let π be an automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$ such that $\pi^K \neq (0)$ and such that the representation of $\prod_{\tau \in \Sigma'_{\infty}} G(F_{\tau}^+)$ on $\otimes_{\tau \in \Sigma'_{\infty}} \pi_{\tau}$ is isomorphic to W_{∞} . To such an automorphic representation one can associate pairs

$$(\psi_{\pi}, \nu_{\pi}) \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{H}^{(S_p)}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) \times \mathcal{T}_{S_p}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$$

in the following way:

Firstly, π gives rise to an algebra homomorphism

$$\psi_{\pi}: \mathcal{H}^{(S_p)} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$$

coming from the Hecke action. Secondly, since $\pi^K \neq (0)$ it follows that π_v is Iwahori-spherical for $v \in S_p$. Hence $\pi_v \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}}$ has an accessible refinement as defined in [CHE] and recalled in Section 3.3. Define

$$\nu_{\pi} := \chi_{\pi,\infty,v} \cdot \chi'_{\pi,v} \cdot \delta_{B_v}^{-1/2} \cdot |\det|^{\frac{n-1}{2}} \in \mathcal{T}_{S_p}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$$

where

• $\chi'_{\pi,v}$ is an accessible refinement of $\pi_v \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}}$

$$\chi_{\pi,\infty,v} = \prod_{u \in \Sigma_{\infty}(v)} \chi_{\pi_u,u}$$

where $\chi_{\pi_u,u}: T_v \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ is defined as follows. The representation of $G(F_u^+)$ on π_u gives rise, via the embedding $F \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ which lies above u via ι and which gives rise to the fixed place w of F above v, to an algebraic representation of GL_n . Via i_w this gives rise to an algebraic representation of $G(F_v^+)$ and $\chi_{\pi_u,u}$ is the corresponding highest weight character

Remark 9. Note that a given automorphic representation π as above yields multiple pairs (ψ_{π}, ν_{π}) if π_{v} has multiple accessible refinements.

Let \mathcal{Z}' denote the collection of all elements $(\psi_{\pi}, \nu_{\pi}) \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{H}^{(S_p)}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) \times \mathcal{T}_{S_p}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ obtained from automorphic representations π of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$ as above. In [CHE, Thm. 1.6] an associated eigenvariety is constructed. This is a quadruple (X, ψ, ν, Z') which has the following properties:

- X is a reduced rigid space defined over a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p which contains the image of all embeddings $F^+ \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$
- $\psi: \mathcal{H}^{(S_p)} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}(X)$ is a ring homomorphism
- $\nu: X \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}_{S_p}$ is a finite analytic map

•

• $Z' \subseteq X(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ is a Zariski dense subset such that for all $z \in Z'$ there is an automorphic representation π_z such that $(\psi_z, \nu(z)) = (\psi_{\pi_z}, \nu_{\pi_z})$ for some choice of ν_{π_z} and (ψ, ν) induces a bijection between Z' and Z'. Here ψ_z denotes the composition of ψ with the map to the residue field of z

It is important for the application to local-global compatibility questions that the automorphic Galois representations associated to the automorphic representations π_z for $z \in Z'$ are interpolated on the eigenvariety in the following way. By [CHE, Cor. 3.9] there is a continuous *n*-dimensional pseudo-character

$$T: \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}(X)$$

such that for each $z \in Z'$ with associated automorphic representation π_z one has

$$T_z = \text{Trace} \left(\rho_{\pi_z, p, \iota} \right)$$

where T_z is the composition of T with the map $\mathcal{O}(X) \to \mathcal{O}_{X,z}/\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}_{X,z}}$ to the residue field of z.

Let us make some definitions for later use:

Definition 17. Fix a uniformizer $\varpi \in F_v^+$ and let q denote the size of the residue field of F_v^+ . For each $1 \leq i \leq n$ let $u_i \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ be the diagonal matrix

$$u_i = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & & & \\ & \ddots & & \\ & & \varpi & & \\ & & & \ddots & \\ & & & & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

with ϖ in the *i*'th column and all other entries being 1's. Define for each $1 \le i \le n$

$$\mathbf{F}_i := \nu(u_i) \in O(X)^{\times}$$

For each $z \in Z'$ let $\chi_{\pi_z} := \chi'_{\pi_z,v} \otimes |\det|^{\frac{n-1}{2}}$ and note that

$$F_{i}(z) = \nu_{\pi_{z}}(u_{i}) = \iota^{-1} \chi_{\pi_{z},i}(\varpi) q^{\frac{n+1}{2}-i} \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma(v)} \tau(\varpi)^{k_{v,\tau,i}}$$
where $(k_{v,\tau,i})_{\tau,i}$ is the element in $(\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\tau\in\Sigma(v)}$ corresponding to $\chi_{\pi_z,\infty,v}$.

Definition 18. As before, for $z \in Z'$ let π_z be the corresponding automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$. Define Z to be the subset of Z' consisting of those $z \in Z'$ such that $\pi_{z,v}$ is an unramified principal series representation for $v \in S_p$.

We want to use Z and X to obtain local-global compatibility results for Galois representations associated to automorphic representations π_z with $z \in Z'$ but $z \notin Z$. In order to do so we recall in Lemma 5.3 a quantitative version of the fact that automorphic representations π_z for $z \in Z'$ can be approximated in a certain sense by automorphic representations π_z for $z \in Z$. Let us first recall from [BC] some notation for rigid spaces:

Definition 19. A subset U of a rigid space Y is said to accumulate at a point $x \in Y$ if there is a basis of affinoid neighborhoods of x such that U is Zariski dense in each. More generally, U is defined to accumulate at a subset U' of Y if U accumulates at every $u' \in U'$.

The following lemma will eventually allow us to deduce from Hypothesis 5.1.1 local-global compatibility results for automorphic Galois representations at places where ramification is expected. The proof of the lemma essentially follows from the arguments in [CHE2, Prop. 6.4.7] but since only the case of $F^+ = \mathbb{Q}$ is written there we will now recall the proof:

Lemma 5.3. Z accumulates at Z'.

Proof. Let $v \in S_p$ be as defined earlier. For $C \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ let $X^*(T_v)^{\operatorname{reg},C}$ be the subset of $X^*(T_v)$ corresponding to $(k_{v,\tau,i})_{\tau,i} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\tau \in \Sigma(v)}$ such that

$$k_{v,\tau,i} - k_{v,\tau,j} > C$$
 for all $\tau \in \Sigma(v)$ and all $1 \le i < j \le n$

Let $X^*(T_v)^{\text{reg}} := X^*(T_v)^{\text{reg},0}$. For any Galois extension L/\mathbb{Q}_p such that L contains F_v^+ view $X^*(T_v) \subset \mathcal{W}_{S_p}(L)$. By the same proof as in [CHE, Lem. 2.7], but with $X^*(T_v)^{\text{reg,C}}$ replacing $X^*(T_v)^{\text{reg}}$ in the argument, it follows that $X^*(T_v)^{\text{reg,C}}$ accumulates at $X^*(T_v)$. The relation between \mathcal{W}_{S_p} and the eigenvariety X is now used to also show that Z accumulates at Z': Let $z \in Z'$ and let U' be an admissible open neighborhood of z in X. Let $U \subseteq U'$ be an affinoid neighborhood of z. To show that Z accumulates at Z' it suffices to show that $Z \cap U$ is Zariski dense in U for U sufficiently small. Let κ denote the composition of ν with the natural map $\mathcal{T}_{S_p} \to \mathcal{W}_{S_p}$ and let V be a sufficiently small affinoid neighborhood of $\kappa(z)$. By [CHE, Lem. 2.7], and the accumulation of $X^*(T_v)^{\text{reg,C}}$ at $X^*(T_v)$, for any $C \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ one has that $X^*(T_v)^{\text{reg,C}} \cap V$ is Zariski dense in V. Let q denote the size of the residue field of F_v^+ and in the following use additive notation for the product on $X^*(T_v)$. By using [CHE2, Lem. 6.2.8], to prove that Z accumulates at Z' it suffices to show that for C sufficiently large any point $x \in U$ with $\kappa(x) \in X^*(T_v)^{\text{reg,C}}$ and $\kappa(x) - \kappa(z) \in (q-1)p^N X^*(T_v)$ for some sufficiently large $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ satisfies the following: The point x corresponds to an automorphic representation π_x and the local component $\pi_{x,v}$ is an unramified principal series representation for $v \in S_p$. The former follows for U sufficiently small from the classicality criterion of [CHE, Thm. 1.6]. For the latter note that $\pi_{x,v}$ is Iwahori-spherical and hence $\pi_{x,v} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi)$ for some unramified character $\chi = \prod_{i=1}^n \chi_i$. Suppose that $\pi_{x,v}$ is not an unramified principal series representation. Then there is i < j such that

$$\chi_i(\varpi)/\chi_j(\varpi) = q^{\pm 1}$$

Then

$$\frac{\mathbf{F}_i(x)}{\mathbf{F}_j(x)} = q^{\pm 1 + i - j} \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma(v)} \tau(\varpi)^{k_{v,\tau,i} - k_{v,\tau,j}}$$

where $(k_{v,\tau,i})_{\tau,i}$ is the element in $(\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\tau \in \Sigma(v)}$ corresponding to $\chi_{\pi_x,\infty,v}$. As explained in [CHE2, Prop. 6.4.7], since F_i and F_j are in $\mathcal{O}(X)^{\times}$ there is a constant D such that $|F_i(x)/F_j(x)|_p > D > 0$ for all $x \in U$. Hence for C sufficiently large one obtains a contradiction if $\pi_{x,v}$ is not an unramified principal series representation. It follows that Z accumulates at Z'.

5.4 The key lemma

We will now study crystalline periods of exterior powers of automorphic Galois representations in a somewhat similar way to [BC2, Prop. 6.1]. This will be used to obtain information about local properties of automorphic Galois representations at places of Iwahori-spherical ramification of the automorphic representation. In the following statement the morphism i_w is as defined in the discussion preceding Hypothesis 5.1.2.

Lemma 5.5. Let G, F and F^+ be as above and let π be an automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$. Let v be a finite place of F^+ and let q denote the size of the residue field of F_v^+ . Suppose v splits as $v = ww^c$ in F and suppose $\pi_v \circ i_w^{-1}$ is Iwahori-spherical. Let ϖ be a uniformizer of F_w . For any lift $\sigma \in W_{F_w}$ of the geometric Frobenius let S_σ denote the multiset of eigenvalues of σ acting on $WD_\iota(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_w}})$. Then for any accessible refinement

$$\chi_v = \prod_{j=1}^n \chi_{v,j}$$

of $\pi_v \circ i_w^{-1}$ and each $1 \leq i \leq n$ there is a multiset

$$\{\alpha_{j_1},\cdots,\alpha_{j_i}\}\subseteq S_{\sigma}$$

such that

$$\prod_{k=1}^{i} \alpha_{j_k} = q^{\frac{i(n-1)}{2}} \prod_{k=1}^{i} \chi_{v,k}(\varpi)$$

Moreover, one always has $q^{\frac{n-1}{2}}\chi_{v,1}(\varpi) \in S_{\sigma}$ and $q^{\frac{n-1}{2}}\chi_{v,n}(\varpi) \in S_{\sigma}$.

Proof. Let v be a finite place of F^+ as in the statement of the lemma and let p denote its residue characteristic. Fix throughout this proof a finite place w of F lying above v and let $\tilde{\Sigma}(v)$ denote the subset of embeddings in $\operatorname{Hom}(F, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell})$ which lie above $\Sigma(v)$ and which correspond to w. Fix a uniformizer ϖ of F_w . By Hypothesis 5.1.2 (iii) in order to prove the lemma one can assume that $p = \ell$. This allows the use of the eigenvarieties described in the beginning of Section 5.2. In the notation of the beginning of that section let us make the following definitions:

- Let $S_p := \{v\}$
- Let S be a finite set of finite places of F^+ which is disjoint from S_p and contains all places at which π is ramified except the place v
- Let $K \leq G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+}^{(\infty)})$ be a compact open subgroup of the form described in the beginning of Section 5.2 and such that $\pi^K \neq (0)$
- Let W_{∞} denote the representation of $\prod_{\tau \in \Sigma'_{\infty}} G(F_{\tau}^+)$ on $\otimes_{\tau \in \Sigma'_{\infty}} \pi_{\tau}$ where Σ'_{∞} is as defined in the beginning of Section 5.2

Let (X, ψ, ν, Z') be the associated eigenvariety and let Z be the subset of Z' as in Definition 18. The automorphic representation π and the accessible refinement χ_v of the statement of the lemma yield a point

$$x_0 = (\psi_\pi, \nu_\pi) \in X(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$$

We will now apply the crystalline periods results described in Chapter 3. To be able to do so one must first describe twists of the Galois representations corresponding to points on the eigenvariety X by a suitable character and we will do this now.

Let $z \in Z'$ and as before let $(k_{v,\tau,i})_{\tau,i}$ be the element in $(\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\Sigma(v)}$ corresponding to $\chi_{\pi_z,\infty,v}$. The representation ρ_z is Hodge-Tate at w and for each $\tau \in \tilde{\Sigma}(v)$ and $1 \leq i \leq n$ one has

$$m_{\tau,i}(z) := \mathrm{HT}_{\tau}^{(1)}(\wedge^{i}\rho_{z}|_{G_{F_{w}}}) = \frac{i(i+1-2n)}{2} - \sum_{j=1}^{i} k_{v,\tau,j}$$

where $\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}^{(1)}(-)$ is as defined in Section 3.4. Since $\nu: X \to \mathcal{T}_{S_p}$ is an analytic map and since by [CHE, Thm. 1.6] Z'accumulates at X, there is a neighborhood X' of x_0 and $m_{\tau,i} \in \mathcal{O}(X')$ such that the specializations of $m_{\tau,i}$ at points $z \in Z'$ which are also in X' are given by the above formula. For ease of notation, in the the rest of this proof we will denote the intersection of Z' and X' again by Z' and we will denote X' by X. For each $\tau \in \tilde{\Sigma}(v)$ fix a continuous character $\chi_{\tau}: F^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{F}^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ such that

- $\chi_{\tau,w}$ is unramified
- $\chi_{\tau}|_{(F_{\infty}^{\times})^{\circ}}((x_{\sigma})_{\sigma\in\operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C})}) = \prod_{\sigma\in\operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C})} x_{\sigma}^{a_{\sigma}}$ with a_{σ} given by $a_{\iota(\tau)} = 1$ and $a_{\iota(\tau)\circ c} = -1$ and zero otherwise

See for example [CHT, Sect. 4] for the existence of a character with the weight as defined above. Define

$$\chi_{\tau}^{(\ell)}(x) := \prod_{\sigma} (\iota^{-1}\sigma)(x_{\ell})^{a_{\sigma}} \iota^{-1} (\prod_{\sigma} x_{\sigma}^{-a_{\sigma}} \chi_{\tau}(x))$$

By global class field theory the character $\chi_{\tau}^{(\ell)}$ corresponds to a continuous character

$$r_{\ell,\iota}(\chi_{\tau}): \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}^{\times}$$

Since $m_{\tau,i} \in \mathcal{O}(X)$ and since Z' accumulates at X one can define a continuous map

$$\mu_i : \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}(X)$$

such that for all $z \in Z'$ one has

$$\mu_i(g)(z) = \prod_{\tau \in \hat{\Sigma}(v)} r_{\ell,\iota}(\chi_\tau)(g)^{-m_{\tau,i}(z)}$$

for all $g \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F)$. For $x \in X$ let $\mu_{i,x}$ denote the composition of μ with the map to the residue field of x. Note that for example by [CHT, Lem. 4.1.3] the representation $r_{\ell,\iota}(\chi_{\tau})|_{G_{F_w}}$ has Hodge-Tate weight 1 with respect to τ . Furthermore, since $w|v \in \operatorname{Spl}_{F/F^+}$ it follows that $\Sigma_{\infty}(w) \cap c \circ \Sigma_{\infty}(w) = \emptyset$ where c denotes the non-trivial element of $\operatorname{Gal}(F/F^+)$. It follows that for each $z \in Z'$ and $\tau \in \tilde{\Sigma}(v)$ one has

$$\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}(\mu_{i,z}|_{G_{F_w}}) = \{-m_{\tau,i}(z)\}$$

Now let $G_i \in \mathcal{O}(X)^{\times}$ be such that for all $z \in Z'$ one has

$$\mathbf{G}_{i}(z) = \prod_{\tau \in \tilde{\Sigma}(v)} \chi_{\tau,v}(\varpi)^{-m_{\tau,i}(z)} \tau(\varpi)^{m_{\tau,i}(z)}$$

Let U be an admissible open affinoid neighborhood of x_0 in X such that for each $1 \le i \le n$ the inclusion $U \to X$ is $G_i \prod_{j=1}^{i} F_j$ -small as defined in [KIS, Sect. 5.2]. For each such i let

$$\mathbf{H}_{i} := (q^{i(i-1)/2} \prod_{\tau \in \tilde{\Sigma}(v)} (\tau(\varpi)^{-\frac{i(i+1-2n)}{2}}) \mathbf{G}_{i} \prod_{j=1}^{i} \mathbf{F}_{j})|_{U} \in \mathcal{O}(U)^{\times}$$

Using [BC, Lem. 7.8.11] as in [CHE, Sect. 3.15] gives the following: There exists a reduced rigid space U' and a finite map $h: U' \to U$ such that the following holds:

• There is a free $\mathcal{O}(U')$ -module M of rank n with a continuous Galois representation

$$\rho_{\mathrm{M}} : \mathrm{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \mathrm{GL}(\mathrm{M})$$

For a point x in U' we will denote by E_x its residue field and by $\rho_{M,x}$ the Galois representation on $M \otimes_{\mathcal{O}(U')} E_x$ obtained from ρ_M • There is a Zariski dense subset $\tilde{Z} \subseteq U'$ such that $h(\tilde{Z}) \subseteq Z$ and for all $z' \in \tilde{Z}$ one has

$$\rho_{\mathrm{M},z'} \otimes_{E_{z'}} \overline{E}_{z'} \cong \rho_{\pi(h(z')),\ell,\iota}$$

• There is $x'_0 \in U'$ such that $h(x'_0) = x_0$ and $\rho_{\mathrm{M},x'_0}^{\mathrm{ss}} \cong \rho_{\pi(x_0),\ell,\iota}$

Let $\mu'_i : \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \to \mathcal{O}(U')$ be the pullback to U' of the restriction of μ_i to U and let $\mathcal{O}(U')(\mu'_i)$ denote the free rank one $\mathcal{O}(U')$ -module with the $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F)$ -action given by μ'_i . Define

$$(\wedge^i \rho_{\mathcal{M}})(\mu_i) := (\wedge^i \rho_{\mathcal{M}}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}(U')} \mathcal{O}(U')(\mu'_i)$$

Then for all $z \in Z'$ and $\tau \in \tilde{\Sigma}(v)$ one has

- $\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}^{(1)}((\wedge^{i}\rho_{\mathrm{M}})(\mu_{i})_{z}|_{G_{F_{m}}}) = 0$
- $\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}^{(2)}((\wedge^{i}\rho_{\mathrm{M}})(\mu_{i})_{z}|_{G_{F_{w}}}) > 0$

Hence the crystalline periods results of Chapter 3 might be applied to the Galois representation $(\wedge^i \rho_M)(\mu_i)$. To do so, fix $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 1}$ and let

 $I_k :=$

$$\{z \in Z \cap U \mid \min_{\tau \in \tilde{\Sigma}(v)} \operatorname{HT}_{\tau}^{(2)}((\wedge^{i}\rho_{\mathrm{M}})(\mu_{i})_{z}|_{G_{F_{w}}}) > \max(k, [F_{v}^{+}:\mathbb{Q}_{p}]v_{p}(\mathrm{H}_{i}(x_{0})))\}$$

By the arguments used to show that Z accumulates at Z' it also follows that I_k is Zariski dense in U. For each $z \in Z'$ and each $1 \le i \le n$ one has

$$\iota^{-1}[q^{i(n-1)/2}\prod_{j=1}^{i}\chi_{\pi(z),j}(\varpi)] = q^{i(i-1)/2}\prod_{j=1}^{i}F_{j}(z)\prod_{\tau\in\Sigma(v)}\tau(\varpi)^{-\sum_{j=1}^{i}k_{v,\tau,j}}$$

By Hypothesis 5.1.2 for each $z \in Z$ the representation $\rho_z|_{G_{F_w}}$ is crystalline and hence

$$\wedge^{i} \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{cris}}(\rho_{z}|_{G_{F_{w}}}) \cong \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{cris}}(\wedge^{i} \rho_{z}|_{G_{F_{w}}})$$

Therefore, for any $\lambda \in \{q^{i(n-1)/2} \prod_{s=1}^{i} \chi_{\pi(z),j_s}(\varpi) | 1 \le j_1 < \cdots < j_i \le n\}$ one has

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{cris}}(\wedge^{i}\rho_{z}|_{G_{F_{w}}})^{\varphi_{F_{w}}=\lambda}\neq(0)$$

For all $z \in Z$ the character $\mu_{i,z}$ is crystalline at w and

$$\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{cris}}(\mu_{i,z}|_{G_{F_w}})^{\varphi_{F_w}=\mathbf{G}_i(z)\prod_{\tau\in\Sigma(v)}\tau(\varpi)^{-m_{\tau,i}(z)}}\neq(0)$$

It follows that for all $z \in Z$ one has

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{cris}}((\wedge^{i}\rho_{\mathrm{M}})(\mu_{i})_{z}|_{G_{F_{w}}})^{\varphi_{F_{w}}=\mathcal{H}_{i}(z)}\neq(0)$$

It now follows from Lemma 3.6 that for $\mathcal{R} := \mathcal{O}(U')$, the \mathcal{R} -module dual of $(\wedge^i M)(\mu_i)$, \mathcal{R}_i the collection of residue fields of \mathcal{R} corresponding to points which map under h to points in I_k for some $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 1}$, and $Y := H_i^{-1}$ all assumptions of Theorem 3 are satisfied. It follows that

$$D_{\rm cris}((\wedge^i \mathbf{M})(\mu_i)_{x_0}|_{G_{F_w}})^{\varphi_{F_w}=\mathbf{H}_i(x_0)} \neq (0)$$

Hence

$$D_{\rm cris}((\wedge^{i}\rho_{x_{0}})(\mu_{i,x_{0}})|_{G_{F_{w}}})^{\varphi_{F_{w}}=\mathrm{H}_{i}(x_{0})}\neq(0)$$

and therefore

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{cris}}((\wedge^{i}\rho_{x_{0}}|_{G_{F_{w}}})^{\varphi_{F_{w}}=q^{i(n-1)/2}\prod_{j=1}^{i}\chi_{v,j}(\varpi)}\neq(0)$$

where χ_v is the refinement of $\pi_v \circ i_w^{-1}$ as in the statement of the lemma. The first part of the lemma now follows from Lemma 3.5.

To prove the second part of the lemma let σ and S_{σ} be as in the statement of the lemma. By applying the first part of the lemma with i = 1 one obtains $q^{\frac{n-1}{2}}\chi_{v,1}(\varpi) \in S_{\sigma}$. The first part of the lemma with i = n-1 implies that there is a subset $\{x_1, \dots, x_{n-1}\} \subset S_{\sigma}$ such that

$$x_1 \cdots x_{n-1} = q^{\frac{(n-1)^2}{2}} \prod_{j=1}^{n-1} \chi_{v,j}(\varpi)$$

The first part of the lemma with i = n implies that if x_n is such that $\{x_1, \dots, x_n\} = S_{\sigma}$, then

$$x_1 \cdots x_n = q^{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}} \prod_{j=1}^n \chi_{v,j}(\varpi)$$

and hence $q^{\frac{n-1}{2}}\chi_{v,n}(\varpi) = x_n \in S_{\sigma}$.

Remark 10. Note that one might obtain stronger results than in the previous corollary by using variants of the crystalline period results of [KIS, Prop. 5.14] where more than one weight is fixed.

The above results were obtained for automorphic representations of rather specific unitary groups. Nonetheless, by using base change for GL_n as constructed in [AC] as well as base change and descent between unitary groups and GL_n as constructed in [LAB], one can deduce rather general results for automorphic representations of GL_n over CM-fields:

Lemma 5.6. Let F be a CM-field and let Π be a regular algebraic cuspidal conjugate self-dual automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let v be a finite place of F, let ϖ be a uniformizer of F_v and let q denote the size of the residue field of F_v . Assume that Π_v is Iwahori-spherical. For any lift $\sigma \in W_{F_v}$ of the geometric Frobenius let S_{σ} denote the multiset of eigenvalues of the action on $\operatorname{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}})$. Then for any accessible refinement

$$\chi_v = \prod_{j=1}^n \chi_{v,j}$$

of Π_v and each $1 \leq i \leq n$ there is a multiset

$$\{\alpha_{j_1},\cdots,\alpha_{j_i}\}\subseteq S_{\sigma}$$

such that

$$\prod_{k=1}^{i} \alpha_{j_k} = q^{\frac{i(n-1)}{2}} \prod_{k=1}^{i} \chi_{v,k}(\varpi)$$

Moreover, one always has $q^{\frac{n-1}{2}}\chi_{v,1}(\varpi) \in S_{\sigma}$ and $q^{\frac{n-1}{2}}\chi_{v,n}(\varpi) \in S_{\sigma}$.

Proof. Choose a CM-field L containing F, with maximal totally real subfield denoted by L^+ , such that

- (i) L/F is a solvable extension and $L = EL^+$ for some imaginary quadratic field E
- (ii) $n[L^+:\mathbb{Q}]/2$ is even
- (iii) v splits completely in L and any place w|v of L lies above Spl_{L/L^+}
- (iv) any place of L above ℓ lies above $\operatorname{Spl}_{L/L^+}$
- (v) L/L^+ is unramified at all finite places
- (vi) $BC_L(\Pi)$ is cuspidal

Here $\mathrm{BC}_L(-)$ denotes the base change as constructed in [AC]. The existence of such a base change is already used in [CHT]. Note that condition (i) can be achieved by taking the composite of F with an imaginary quadratic field. To arrange certain places to lie above Spl_{L/L^+} is achieved by taking if necessary the composite of L with a suitable totally real field, see for example [HT] (p.228). Now let L be a CM-field satisfying the above conditions. Then there exists a totally definite unitary group G over L^+ as in the beginning of Section 5.1 and by [LAB] there exists an automorphic representation π of $G(\mathbb{A}_{L^+})$ whose base change to $\mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_L)$ is isomorphic to $\mathrm{BC}_L(\Pi)$. In particular, at all places u of F^+ which split as u_1u_2 in F one has

$$\pi_u \circ i_{u_1}^{-1} \cong \mathrm{BC}_L(\Pi)_{u_1}$$

Since $BC_L(\Pi)$ is cuspidal one has

 $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota} \cong \rho_{\mathrm{BC}_L(\Pi),\ell,\iota}$

and since v splits in L the lemma follows from Lemma 5.5.

Due to results announced very recently by Liu in [LIU] and Kedlaya-Pottharst-Xiao in [KPX] on the existence of global triangulations, one can now often prove stronger results than the ones discussed above. The point is that Kisin's original results on variation of crystalline periods have very recently been strengthened to show very general results on the existence of triangulations for analytic families of Galois representations. We will now state such a recent result proved by Liu in [LIU] where for simplicity we assume that we study representations of $\text{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ instead of representations of the absolute Galois group of a finite extension of K. First, we recall some definitions, see for example [BEN] and [BC] for more details.

Consider the cyclotomic character $\chi : \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ and let

$$\Gamma := \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)/\operatorname{Ker}(\chi)$$

Let $\mathcal{R}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ be the Robba ring over \mathbb{Q}_p as defined for example in [BC, Section 2.2.2]. Let A be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p and let $\mathcal{R}_A = \mathcal{R}_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \otimes A$. One has an action of φ and Γ on \mathcal{R}_A by

$$\varphi f(z) = f(z^p)$$
 and $(\gamma f)(z) = f(z^{\chi(\gamma)})$

A (φ, Γ) -module is a finitely generated \mathcal{R}_A -module M which is free as an $\mathcal{R}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ -module and which has \mathcal{R}_A -semi linear actions of φ and Γ which commute and are continuous in a sense defined for example in [BC, Section 2.2.2] and such that $\mathcal{R}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}\varphi(M) = M$.

It is known that there is an equivalence of categories between *p*-adic representation *V* and so called (φ, Γ) -modules of slope 0. The (φ, Γ) -module associated to *V* will be denoted by $D^{\dagger}_{rig}(V)$. For a (φ, Γ) -module *M* one can associate certain finite-dimensional K_0 -vector spaces $\mathcal{D}_{cris}(M)$ and $\mathcal{D}_{st}(M)$. A (φ, Γ) -module is called semi-stable if

$$\dim_{K_0} \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{st}}(M) = \mathrm{rank}_{\mathcal{R}(K)}(M)$$

and it is called crystalline if

$$\dim_{K_0} \mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{cris}}(M) = \operatorname{rank}_{\mathcal{R}(K)}(M)$$

These definitions are equivalent to define M semi-stable or crystalline if $M \cong D^{\dagger}_{rig}(V)$ and V is semi-stable or crystalline.

Definition 20. A (φ, Γ) module M of rank n over \mathcal{R}_A is called trianguline if there is a filtration

$$(0) \subset F_0 M \subset F_1 M \subset \dots \subset F_n M = M$$

where each $F_i M$ is a saturated (φ, Γ) sub-module of M over \mathcal{R}_A and

$$\operatorname{gr}_i M := F_i M / F_{i-1} M$$

is free of rank one for all $1 \le i \le n$. A *p*-adic representation V is called trianguline if and only if $D^{\dagger}_{rig}(V)$ is trianguline.

Specialize now to the case $K = \mathbb{Q}_p$ for simplicity. Assume that M is a semi-stable (φ, Γ) -module and suppose A is chosen such that all eigenvalues of $\varphi : \mathcal{D}_{st}(M) \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}_{st}(M)$ are contained in A. A refinement of $\mathcal{D}_{st}(M)$ is defined in [BEN] to be a filtration

$$0 = F_0 \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{st}}(M) \subset F_1 \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{st}}(M) \subset \cdots \in F_n \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{st}}(M) = \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{st}}(M)$$

where each $F_i \mathcal{D}_{st}(M)$ is an A-subspace of $\mathcal{D}_{st}(M)$ which is φ -stable and N-stable and such that

$$\operatorname{gr}_i \mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{st}}(M) := F_i \mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{st}}(M) / F_{i-1} \mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{st}}(M)$$

is of dimension one for all $1 \le i \le n$. Similarly one defines the refinement of a crystalline representation.

Let $\delta : \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} \longrightarrow A^{\times}$ be a continuous character. In [BC, Sect. 2.3] the (φ, Γ) -module $R_A(\delta)$ is defined to be the free rank one \mathcal{R}_A -module with \mathcal{R}_A -semilinear action of φ and Γ defined as follows:

$$\varphi(1) = \delta(p)$$
 and $\gamma(1) = \delta(\gamma)$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$

By [BEN, Proposition 1.3.2] there is a bijection between triangulations of M and refinements of $\mathcal{D}_{st}(M)$. Order the φ -eigenvalues as $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n$ corresponding to the filtration and similarly order the multiset of Hodge-Tate weights as k_1, \dots, k_n . It is shown in [BEN] that

$$\operatorname{gr}_i M \cong R_A(\delta_i)$$

where $\delta_i : \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} \longrightarrow A^{\times}$ is the character given by

$$\delta_i(p) = \alpha_i p^{-k_i}$$
 and $\delta_i(x) = x^{-k_i}$ for $x \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$

The parameter of a triangulation is defined to be the map

$$\mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} \longrightarrow (A^{\times})^n$$

whose components are the characters δ_i .

We now describe Liu's result. Let X be an analytic space and suppose we are given a p-adic family of refined representations, as defined in a more general way in [BC, Section 4.2]. For the following slightly less general case see [LIU, Definition 5.2.3]. There is given a continuous Galois representation

$$G \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(V)$$

where V is a free $\mathcal{O}(X)$ -module of finite rank n. Suppose for each $1 \leq i \leq n$ there is $F_i \in \mathcal{O}(X)^{\times}$ and $\kappa_i \in \mathcal{O}(X)$ and suppose there is a Zariski dense subset Z of X such that:

- for every $x \in X$ the multiset of Hodge-Tate weights of V_x is given by $\{\kappa_1(x), \dots, \kappa_n(x)\}$
- for all $z \in Z$ the representation V_z is crystalline
- for all $z \in Z$ one has $\kappa_1(z) < \cdots < \kappa_n(z)$
- for all $z \in Z$ the eigenvalues of crystalline Frobenius φ acting on $D_{cris}(V_z)$ are distinct and given by $\{p^{\kappa_1(z)}F_1(z), \cdots, p^{\kappa_n(z)}F_n(z)\}$
- let C be any non-negative integer and define the subset Z_C of Z to be

$$\{z \in Z | |\kappa_I(z) - \kappa_J(z)| > C \text{ for all } I, J \subset \{1, \dots, n\}, \#I = \#J > 0, I \neq J\}$$

where $\kappa_I = \sum_{i \in I} \kappa_i$. Then Z_C accumulates at all $z \in Z$

• for each $1 \leq i \leq n$ there is a continuous character $\chi_i : \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \mathcal{O}(X)^{\times}$ whose derivative at 1 is κ_i and whose evaluation at any $z \in Z$ is the map which raises to the $\kappa_i(z)$ -th power.

Fix now a p-adic family of refined representations as defined above. For each $1 \le i \le n$ let

$$\Delta_i: \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}(X)^{\times}$$

be given by

$$\Delta_i(p) = \prod_{j=1}^i F_j \text{ and } \Delta_i|_{\Gamma} = \prod_{j=1}^i \chi_j$$

It is then shown in [LIU] that on every affinoid subdomain of a Zariski dense subset X_s of X there is a triangulation with parameter whose components are given by

$$(\Delta_{i+1}/\Delta_i)_{1,\cdots,n-1}$$

Note that more is shown about the set X_s in [LIU]. We recall this now briefly. Let V be a crystalline representation of G_p . If the Hodge-Tate weights of V are distinct and given by $k_1 < \cdots < k_n$ then a refinement of V is called non-critical if for all $1 \le i \le n$ one has

$$D_{cris}(V) \cong F_i D_{cris}(V) \oplus Fil^{k_{i+1}}(D_{cris}(V))$$

Let φ_i be the eigenvalue of φ on F_i/F_{i-1} . Then the refinement is called regular if for all $1 \leq i \leq n \varphi_1 \cdots \varphi_i$ is an eigenvalue of φ acting on $D_{cris}(\wedge^i V)$ of multiplicity one. For $z \in Z$ associate the refinement

$$(p^{\kappa_1(z)}F_1(z),\cdots,p^{\kappa_n(z)}F_n(z))$$

The point $z \in Z$ is called regular if the associated refinement is regular and it is called non-critical if the associated refinement is non-critical. One now defines what it means for a point $x \in X$ to be a saturated point. It is shown that regular non-critical points are saturated and since regular non-critical points are Zariski dense it follows that X_s is Zariski dense.

Suppose now that M is a specialization at a point x of X_s which is semi-stable. By the earlier discussion it follows that the eigenvalues $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n$ of φ acting on $\mathcal{D}_{st}(M)$ are given by

$$F_i(p)(x)p^{k_i(x)}$$

for $1 \le i \le n$. In our application this matches the prediction from the local Langlands correspondence. For most of this memoir we focus however on the simpler study of the variation of one crystalline period due to Kisin and this is sufficient for many purposes relating to, for example, Hilbert modular forms and modular forms on GSp₄.

6 Local semi-simplifications: The case of general linear groups

In this chapter we give some examples of how the results of the previous chapter can be used to obtain local-global compatibility results for local semi-simplifications of Galois representations associated to automorphic representations of general linear groups over CM-fields and totally real fields. The calculations of this chapter can be thought of as making explicit, in terms of the classification of Iwahori-spherical representations of GL_n over *p*-adic fields, the consequences of the variation of one crystalline period in families of automorphic Galois representations of general linear groups.

6.1 Results in dimension at most 4

In this section we focus on the case of low-dimensional representations since it is in this situation that we obtain the most complete local-global compatibility results. In Section 6.4 we then describe how knowledge of monodromy operators can be used in conjunction with the results of the previous chapter to obtain local-global comptibility for the local semi-simplification of automorphic Galois representations of arbitrary dimension. **Theorem 5.** Let F be a CM-field and let Π be a regular algebraic cuspidal conjugate self-dual automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ for $n \leq 4$. Let v be a finite place of F such that Π_v is Iwahori-spherical. Then

$$\operatorname{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{\iota}}})^{\operatorname{ss}} \cong \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_{n}}(\Pi_{v} \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})^{\operatorname{ss}}$$

unless n = 4 and there is an unramified character $\chi: F_v^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ such that one of the following holds:

- (i) $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi) \boxplus \chi | \cdot |^{\pm 1/2} \boxplus \chi | \cdot |^{\pm 1/2}$ (same sign)
- (*ii*) $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\chi)$
- (*iii*) $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_3(\chi) \boxplus \chi | \cdot |^{\pm 1}$
- (iv) $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_4(\chi)$ and $\operatorname{WD}_\iota(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_\iota}})^{\operatorname{F-ss}}$ has trivial monodromy operator

Proof. If Π_v is unramified there is nothing to show and hence one can assume that one of the following holds:

- n = 2 and $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi)$ for some unramified character χ of F_v^{\times}
- n = 3 and one of the following holds:
 - $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi_1) \boxplus \chi_2$ for some unramified characters χ_1 and χ_2 of F_v^{\times}
 - $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_3(\chi)$ for some unramified character χ of F_v^{\times}
- n = 4 and one of the following holds:
 - $-\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_4(\chi)$ for some unramified character χ of F_v^{\times}
 - $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_3(\chi_1) \boxplus \chi_2$ for some unramified characters χ_1 and χ_2 of F_v^{\times}
 - $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi_1) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\chi_2)$ for some unramified characters χ_1 and χ_2 of F_v^{\times}
 - $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi_1) \boxplus \chi_2 \boxplus \chi_3$ for some unramified characters χ_1, χ_2 and χ_3 of F_v^{\times}

Let $\operatorname{Fr}_v \in W_{F_v}$ be any lift of the geometric Frobenius, let ϖ be a uniformizer of F_v and let q denote the size of the residue field of F_v . Let

$$S' = \{x_1, \cdots, x_n\}$$

denote the multiset of eigenvalues of Fr_{v} acting on $\operatorname{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F..}})^{\text{F-ss}}$ and let

$$S = \{x_1 q^{\frac{1-n}{2}}, \cdots, x_n q^{\frac{1-n}{2}}\}$$

Let $\mu = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i$ be an accessible refinement of Π_v . By [SAI, Lem. 1] in order to prove the corollary it is enough to show that

$$S = \{\mu_1(\varpi), \cdots, \mu_n(\varpi)\}$$

We will now prove the corollary by working case by case.

• Suppose $\Pi_v \cong \text{St}_2(\chi)$. Applying Lemma 5.6 to the accessible refinement

$$\Pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi|\cdot|^{1/2}, \chi|\cdot|^{-1/2})$$

yields $S = \{\chi(\varpi)q^{-1/2}, \chi(\varpi)q^{1/2}\}$. This is as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence.

• Suppose $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi_1) \boxplus \chi_2$. Applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 1 to the accessible refinement

$$\Pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_1|\cdot|^{1/2} \times \chi_1|\cdot|^{-1/2} \times \chi_2)$$

shows that $\chi_1(\varpi)q^{-1/2} \in S$ and applying the lemma to the accessible refinement

$$\Pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_2 \times \chi_1 | \cdot |^{1/2} \times \chi_1 | \cdot |^{-1/2})$$

shows that $\chi_1(\varpi)q^{1/2} \in S$. It follows that $S = \{\chi_1(\varpi)q^{-1/2}, \chi_1(\varpi)q^{1/2}, x\}$ for some x. Applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 3 to the previous refinement shows that $x = \chi_2(\varpi)$ and hence S is as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence.

• Suppose $\Pi_v \cong \text{St}_3(\chi)$. Applying Lemma 5.6 to the accessible refinement

$$\Pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi|\cdot|, \chi, \chi|\cdot|^{-1})$$

shows that $S = \{\chi(\varpi)q^{-1}, \chi(\varpi)q, x\}$ for some x. Applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 3 to the same refinement shows that $x = \chi(\varpi)$ and hence S is as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence.

• Suppose $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_4(\chi)$. Let $\alpha := \chi(\varpi)$. Applying Lemma 5.6 to the accessible refinement

$$\Pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi|\cdot|^{3/2}, \chi|\cdot|^{1/2}, \chi|\cdot|^{-1/2}, \chi|\cdot|^{-3/2})$$

yields $S = \{\alpha q^{-3/2}, \alpha q^{3/2}, x, y\}$ for some x, y and applying the lemma with i = 2 to the same refinement shows that there is a subset $\{a, b\} \subset S$ such that $ab = \alpha^2 q^{-2}$.

- If

$$\{a,b\} = \{x,y\}$$

then applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 4 to the same refinement yields a contradiction.

- If

$$\{a,b\} = \{x, \alpha q^{-3/2}\}$$

then $x \cdot \alpha q^{-3/2} = \alpha^2 q^{-2}$ and hence $x = \alpha q^{-1/2}$. Applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 4 to the previous refinement yields $y = \alpha q^{1/2}$ and hence S is as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence.

- If

$$\{a,b\} = \{x, \alpha q^{3/2}\}$$

then $x \cdot \alpha q^{3/2} = \alpha^2 q^{-2}$ and hence $x = \alpha q^{-7/2}$. Applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 4 to the previous refinement yields $y = \alpha q^{7/2}$. Hence

$$S = \{\alpha q^{-7/2}, \alpha q^{-3/2}, \alpha q^{3/2}, \alpha q^{7/2}\}$$

and there are no $c, d \in S$ such that $c/d = q^{\pm 1}$. Write

$$WD_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{\iota}}})^{F-ss} \cong (r,N)$$

Since

$$r(\mathrm{Fr}_v) \cdot N \cdot r(\mathrm{Fr}_v)^{-1} = q^{-1}N$$

it follows that the monodromy operator N has to be trivial.

• Suppose $\Pi_v \cong \text{St}_3(\chi_1) \boxplus \chi_2$. Let $\alpha := \chi_1(\varpi)$ and $\beta := \chi_2(\varpi)$. Applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 1 to the accessible refinement

$$\Pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_1|\cdot|,\chi_1,\chi_1|\cdot|^{-1},\chi_2)$$

and applying the lemma to the accessible refinement

$$\Pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_2, \chi_1 | \cdot |, \chi_1, \chi_1 | \cdot |^{-1})$$

yields $S = \{\alpha q^{-1}, \alpha q, x, y\}$ for some x, y. Suppose first that $\chi_2 \neq \chi_1 |\cdot|^{\pm 1}$. Applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 1 to

the previous refinement yields $S = \{\alpha q^{-1}, \alpha q, \beta, z\}$ for some z. Applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 4 to the same refinement shows that $z = \alpha$ and hence S is as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence. If $\chi_2 = \chi_1 |\cdot|^{-1}$ then

$$\{\alpha q^{-2}, \alpha q^{-1}, \alpha q, \alpha q^3\}$$

is not as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence but satisfies all the relations coming from Lemma 5.6. If $\chi_2 = \chi_1 |\cdot|^{+1}$ then

$$\{\alpha q^{-3}, \alpha q^{-1}, \alpha q, \alpha q^2\}$$

is not as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence but satisfies all the relations coming from the Lemma 5.6.

- Suppose $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi_1) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\chi_2)$. Let $\alpha := \chi_1(\varpi)$ and $\beta := \chi_2(\varpi)$.
 - Assume first $\chi_1 \neq \chi_2$. Applying Lemma 5.6 to the accessible refinement

$$\Pi_{v} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_{1}|\cdot|^{1/2}, \chi_{1}|\cdot|^{-1/2}, \chi_{2}|\cdot|^{1/2}, \chi_{2}|\cdot|^{-1/2})$$

and applying the lemma to the accessible refinement

$$\Pi_{v} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_{2}|\cdot|^{1/2}, \chi_{2}|\cdot|^{-1/2}, \chi_{1}|\cdot|^{1/2}, \chi_{1}|\cdot|^{-1/2})$$

yields $S = \{\alpha q^{-1/2}, \alpha q^{1/2}, x, y\}$ for some x, y. Applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 1 to the previous refinement shows that $\beta q^{-1/2} \in S$. If $\beta q^{-1/2} \neq \alpha q^{\pm 1/2}$ then applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 4 to the previous refinement shows that S is as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence. Otherwise, since $\alpha \neq \beta$, one has $\beta q^{-1/2} = \alpha q^{1/2}$. However, this is impossible since the representation Π_v is generic.

- Assume now $\chi_1 = \chi_2$. Then

$$\{\alpha q^{-3/2}, \alpha q^{-1/2}, \alpha q^{1/2}, \alpha q^{3/2}\}$$

is not as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence but satisfies all the relations coming from Lemma 5.6.

• Suppose $\Pi_v \cong \text{St}_2(\chi_1) \boxplus \chi_2 \boxplus \chi_3$. Let $\alpha := \chi_1(\varpi)$ and $\beta := \chi_2(\varpi)$ and $\gamma := \chi_3(\varpi)$. Applying Lemma 5.6 to the accessible refinement

 $\Pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_1|\cdot|^{1/2}, \chi_1|\cdot|^{-1/2}, \chi_2, \chi_3)$

and applying the lemma to the accessible refinement

$$\Pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_2, \chi_3, \chi_1 | \cdot |^{1/2}, \chi_1 | \cdot |^{-1/2})$$

yields $S = \{\alpha q^{-1/2}, \alpha q^{1/2}, x, y\}$ for some x, y.

- Assume first that $\chi_2 \neq \chi_1 |\cdot|^{\pm 1/2}$. Applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 1 to the previous refinement shows that $S = \{\alpha q^{-1/2}, \alpha q^{1/2}, \beta, y\}$ for some y and applying the lemma with i = 4 to the same refinement shows that $y = \gamma$ and hence S is as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence.
- Assume now that $\chi_2 = \chi_1 |\cdot|^{\pm 1/2}$.
- Assume first $\chi_2 \neq \chi_3$. Then $\gamma \notin \{\alpha q^{-1/2}, \alpha q^{1/2}\}$ since this would imply, since $\beta \neq \gamma$, that $\gamma/\beta \in \{q, q^{-1}\}$ which is impossible since the representation Π_v is generic. Hence, applying Lemma 5.6 with i = 1 to the accessible refinement

$$\Pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_3, \chi_2, \chi_1 | \cdot |^{1/2}, \chi_1 | \cdot |^{-1/2})$$

yields $S = \{\alpha q^{-1/2}, \alpha q^{1/2}, \gamma, z\}$ for some z and applying the lemma with i = 4 to the same refinement shows that $z = \beta$ and hence S is as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence.

- Assume now $\chi_2 = \chi_3 = \chi_1 |\cdot|^{\pm 1/2}$. In this case

$$\{\alpha q^{-1/2}, \alpha, \alpha q^{1/2}, \alpha q^{\mp 1}\}$$

is not as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence but satisfies all the relations coming from Lemma 5.6.

We will now deduce analogues of the previous results for automorphic representations of general linear groups over totally real fields.

Let F be a totally real field and let II be a regular algebraic cuspidal essentially self-dual automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ as defined in [CHT, p. 134]. In particular, there exists a character

$$\chi: F^{\times} \backslash \mathbb{A}_F^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$$

such that

- $\bullet \ \Pi^{\vee} \cong \Pi \otimes \chi$
- $\chi_v(-1)$ is independent of $v|\infty$

The existence of the relevant automorphic Galois representations follows then from the CM-case as shown in [CHT, Prop. 3.3.1] by letting CM-fields with maximal totally real subfield F^+ vary. It follows from this construction, by using CM-extensions of the totally real field in which suitable finite places split completely, that the previous local-global compatibility results directly imply the corresponding results for totally real fields:

Corollary 6.2. Let F be a totally real field and let π be a regular algebraic cuspidal essentially self-dual automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ for $n \leq 4$. Let v be a finite place of F such that π_v is Iwahori-spherical. Then

$$\operatorname{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{v}}})^{\operatorname{ss}} \cong \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_{n}}(\pi_{v} \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})^{\operatorname{ss}}$$

unless n = 4 and there is an unramified character $\chi: F_v^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ such that one of the following holds:

- $\pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi) \boxplus \chi |\cdot|^{\pm 1/2} \boxplus \chi |\cdot|^{\pm 1/2}$ (same sign)
- $\pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\chi)$
- $\pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_3(\chi) \boxplus \chi | \cdot |^{\pm 1}$
- $\pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_4(\chi)$ and $\operatorname{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_*}})^{\operatorname{F-ss}}$ has trivial monodromy operator

In particular, one obtains the following for Galois representations associated to Hilbert modular forms:

Corollary 6.3. Let F be a totally real field and let π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of cohomological weight. Let v be a finite place of F such that π_v is Iwahori-spherical. Then

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{\iota}}})^{\mathrm{ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GL}_2}(\pi_v \otimes |\mathrm{det}|^{-\frac{1}{2}})^{\mathrm{ss}}$$

Proof. The result follows from Corollary 6.2 since if χ_{π} denotes the central character of π then $\pi^{\vee} \cong \pi \otimes \chi_{\pi}^{-1}$ and $\chi_{\pi,v}^{-1}(-1)$ is independent of $v|\infty$.

6.4 Results in arbitrary dimension

We now discuss some implications of the crystalline periods approach to local-global compatibility for Galois representations of arbitrary dimension. After dealing with some specific types of ramification in Section 6.4.1, we prove in Section 6.4.2 that if the local component of the automorphic representation in question is "in general position" then knowledge of the monodromy operators can be combined with the crystalline periods result to obtain semi-simple local-global compatibility results. Note that in Chapter 10 we prove a result - in a symplectic context, but similar results should hold by very similar proofs for GL_n - of how certain generalized potential level-lowering results might be used to obtain strong lower bounds on the rank of monodromy. Hence, via the results of the current section, this gives an approach to showing the full semi-simple local-global compatibility.

6.4.1 Various higher dimensional examples

For some representations of arbitrary large dimension one can still obtain local-global compatibility by the methods of the previous sections:

Suppose π is a local component of an automorphic representation of GL_n over a CM-field or totally real field F as discussed in the previous section. Say it is the local component of Π at a finite place v of F. As before, let $\operatorname{Fr}_v \in W_{F_v}$ be any lift of the geometric Frobenius, let ϖ be a uniformizer of F_v and let q denote the size of the residue field of F_v . Let

$$S' = \{x_1, \cdots, x_n\}$$

denote the multiset of eigenvalues of Fr_{v} acting on $\operatorname{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{\iota}}})^{\operatorname{F-ss}}$ and let

$$S = \{x_1 q^{\frac{1-n}{2}}, \cdots, x_n q^{\frac{1-n}{2}}\}$$

Now suppose for example that

$$\pi \cong \operatorname{St}_3(\chi) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\mu_1) \boxplus \cdots \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\mu_a) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_1(\lambda_1) \boxplus \cdots \boxplus \operatorname{St}_1(\lambda_b)$$

Then

$$S = \{\alpha q^{-1}, \alpha q, x, \mu_1, \cdots, \mu_r\}$$

and hence $x = \alpha$ and one is done. However, the more general case where

$$\pi \cong \operatorname{St}_3(\chi_1) \boxplus \cdots \boxplus \operatorname{St}_3(\chi_r) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\mu_1) \boxplus \cdots \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\mu_a) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_1(\lambda_1) \boxplus \cdots \boxplus \operatorname{St}_1(\lambda_b)$$

is already more complicated: The crystalline period method can not distinguish the correct set from the set

$$S = \{\alpha_1 q^{-1}, \alpha_1^2 / \alpha_{\sigma(1)}, \alpha q, \cdots, \mu_1, \cdots, \mu_r\}$$

where σ is any permutation in the symmetric group S_r .

Note that, depending on the type of ramification the representation Π_v has, the amount of possible sets S can increase quickly as n gets larger. For example, suppose that $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_5(\chi)$ for some character χ and let $\alpha = \chi(\varpi)$. Then

$$S = \{\alpha q^{-2}, \alpha q^2, x, y, z\}$$

for some numbers x, y, z such that $xyz = \alpha^3$. Via the crystalline periods method it follows that there are two distinct elements $a, b \in S$ such that $ab = \alpha^2 q^{-3}$ and two distinct elements $c, d \in S$ such that $cd = \alpha^2 q^3$. By analyzing the different possibilities one can see that exactly the following 9 multisets cannot be ruled out to be S via the crystalline period method:

$$\{\alpha q^{-8}, \alpha q^{-2}, \alpha q^2, \alpha q^3, \alpha q^5\}$$

•

$$\{\alpha q^{-5}, \alpha q^{-3}, \alpha q^{-2}, \alpha q^2, \alpha q^8\}$$

$$\{\alpha q^{-5}, \alpha q^{-2}, \alpha, \alpha q^2, \alpha q^5\}$$

$$\{\alpha q^{-5}, \alpha q^{-2}, \alpha q, \alpha q^2, \alpha q^4\}$$

$$\{\alpha q^{-4}, \alpha q^{-2}, \alpha q^{-1}, \alpha q^2, \alpha q^5\}$$

$$\{\alpha q^{-4}, \alpha q^{-2}, \alpha q^{-1}, \alpha q^2, \alpha q^3\}$$

$$\{\alpha q^{-3}, \alpha q^{-2}, \alpha q^{-1}, \alpha q^2, \alpha q^3\}$$

Here the last multiset is the one predicted by the local Langlands correspondence.

6.4.2 Using the monodromy operator

We now combine the crystalline period method with assumptions on the rank of the local monodromy operator. We restrict to local components of the automorphic representation in question which satisfy a certain assumption which we now define:

Definition 21. Let K be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p for some prime p and let q denote the size of the residue field. Let π be an Iwahori-spherical irreducible admissible representation of $GL_n(K)$ for some $n \ge 1$. Write it as

$$\pi \cong \boxplus_{i=1}^r \operatorname{St}_{n_i}(\chi_i)$$

We say that the representation π is in general position if

$$\chi_i(\varpi)/\chi_j(\varpi) \notin q^{\mathbb{Z}}$$

for $i \neq j$.

Note that the segments of π as above are unlinked as defined in [ZEL, Section 4.1] and hence a representation which is in general position is generic by [ZEL, Section 9.7].

Definition 22. Let K be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p for some prime p. For $n \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 1}$ let $\operatorname{Sp}(n)$ denote the Weil-Deligne representation (r, N) with underlying vector space \mathbb{C}^n , with a basis say $\{e_1, \dots, e_n\}$ and r the unramified representation such that for any $\sigma \in W_K$ one has

$$r(\sigma)e_i = |\sigma|^{n-i}e_i$$
 for all i

and

$$N(e_{i+1}) = e_i$$
 for all $1 \le i \le n-1$ and $N(e_1) = 0$

Let ρ be an irreducible finite dimensional continuous complex representation of the Weil group W_K . Define $\text{Sp}_n(\rho)$ to be the Weil-Deligne representation

$$\operatorname{Sp}_n(\rho) := \rho \otimes \operatorname{Sp}(n)$$

A Weil-Deligne representation (r, N) is called admissible if r is a semi-simple representation. Note (r, N) is admissible if and only if the image under r of some lift of Frobenius is semi-simple. It is known that any admissible Weil-Deligne representation (r, N) is isomorphic to one of the form

$$\bigoplus_{i=1}^{r} \operatorname{Sp}_{n_i}(\rho_i)$$

and this description is unique up to permutations.

At places where the local component of the automorphic representation is in general position, the variation of one crystalline period together with matching of the rank of monodromy with the prediction from the local Langlands correspondence implies the local-global compatibility for the semi-simple part of the relevant Weil-Deligne representation:

Proposition 6.5. Let F be a CM-field and let Π be a regular algebraic cuspidal conjugate self-dual automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let v be a finite place of F such that Π_v is Iwahori-spherical and in general position. Write $\operatorname{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}})^{\operatorname{F-ss}} \cong (r,N)$ and $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_n}(\Pi_v \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}}) \cong (r_{\operatorname{rec}}, N_{\operatorname{rec}})$. Under Hypothesis 5.1.1 and assuming that rank $N = \operatorname{rank} N_{\operatorname{rec}}$ it follows that

$$(r, N) \cong (r_{\rm rec}, N_{\rm rec})$$

Proof. Since Π_v is Iwahori-spherical it is of the form

$$\Pi_v \cong \boxplus_{i=1}^r \operatorname{St}_{n_i}(\chi_i)$$

for integers n_i and for characters χ_i of F_v^{\times} . Write

$$(r,N) \cong \bigoplus_{j=1}^{\circ} \operatorname{Sp}_{m_j}(\rho_j)$$

for integers m_i and irreducible representations ρ_i of W_{F_v} . Note that by Hypothesis 5.1.1 the representation r is unramified and hence the representations ρ_i are unramified characters. One has

$$n-s = \sum_{j} (m_j - 1) = \text{rank } N = \text{rank } N_{\text{rec}} = \sum_{i} (n_i - 1) = n - r$$

and hence r = s. Let Fr_v be any lift of Frobenius and let ϖ be a uniformizer of F_v . By Hypothesis 5.1.1 and Lemma 5.6 it follows that for each $1 \le i \le r$ the numbers

$$\chi_i(\varpi)q^{(1-n_i)/2}q^{(n-1)/2}$$
 and $\chi_i(\varpi)q^{(1+n_i)/2}q^{(n-1)/2}$

are eigenvalues of $r(\operatorname{Fr}_v)$. Suppose that for some *i* these two numbers occur as eigenvalues of $\operatorname{Sp}_{j_k}(\rho_{j_k})$ with $k \in \{1, 2\}$ and $1 \leq j_k \leq s$ and $j_1 \neq j_2$. Since Π_v is in general position it follows that

$$r \ge s+1$$

which is a contradiction. Hence, after possibly reordering the labeling of the j's, one can assume that for all $1 \le i \le r$ the numbers $\chi_i(\varpi)q^{(1-n_i)/2}q^{(n-1)/2}$ and $\chi_i(\varpi)q^{(1+n_i)/2}q^{(n-1)/2}$ are eigenvalues of Fr_v corresponding to $\operatorname{Sp}_{m_i}(\rho_i)$ and hence $m_i \ge n_i$. Since r = s it follows that in fact

$$m_i = n_i$$

for all $1 \leq i \leq r$. It also follows that $\rho_i = \tilde{\chi}_i \cdot |\cdot|^{(1-n)/2}$ for all such *i* and since

$$\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_n}(\boxplus_{i=1}^r \operatorname{St}_{n_i}(\chi_i)) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^r \operatorname{Sp}_{n_i}(\tilde{\chi}_i)$$

it follows that

$$(r, N) \cong (r_{\rm rec}, N_{\rm rec})$$

as desired.

Note that it makes sense in the above result to restrict to the case where local component π_v is in general position since otherwise one can not obtain very complete results: Assume the set-up of Proposition 6.5 and assume for example that

$$\pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\chi)$$

Let ϖ be a uniformizer of F_v and $\alpha = \chi(\varpi_v)$. It can then be seen that the crystalline periods method cannot rule out that, in the notation of the proof of Proposition 6.5, one has

$$S = \{\alpha q^{-3/2}, \alpha q^{-1/2}, \alpha q^{1/2}, \alpha q^{3/2}\}$$

In other words, one can not rule out the semi-simple Galois action looks as if the local component were $\text{St}_4(\chi)$. In this case, even if one knows that $N \sim N_{\text{rec}}$ one can not conclude the desired semi-simplified local-global compatibility result.

7 Local semi-simplifications: The case of symplectic groups

In this chapter we use the results of Chapter 5 to prove local-global compatibility results for Galois representations associated to automorphic representations of symplectic groups over totally real fields. Note that the existence of Galois representations attached to certain automorphic representations of GSp_4 over totally real fields as well as the corresponding local-global compatibility were deduced in [SOR] from the corresponding results for GL_4 in [HT] and [TY] by using transfer from GSp_4 to GL_4 . Instead of appealing to the results of the latter two references we will in this section use the results of the previous chapter to deduce local-global compatibility results. The main result is Theorem 6 which, in the special case of type (IIa) representations, is of relevance for Conjecture 3.1.7 of [SU]. As described in the introduction, this conjecture would in particular allow in the work of Skinner-Urban in [SU] to avoid the appeal to the difficult work of Kato on Euler systems. In fact, one only needs the upper bound on the rank of monodromy operators for type (IIa) representations and the next theorem proves this desired upper bound in the case of globally generic representations. Essentially the same proof, but using symplectic group eigenvarieties instead of unitary group eigenvarieties, should give the desired upper bound as predicted by the conjecture. See for example [JOR2] where our methods have been used for such purposes in combination with γ -factor arguments.

Let

$$J := \begin{bmatrix} & & 1 \\ & 1 \\ & -1 \\ -1 \end{bmatrix}$$

and let GSp_4 denote the algebraic group over \mathbb{Q} corresponding to those $X \in \mathrm{GL}_4(\mathbb{Q})$ such that

$$^{\mathrm{T}}X \cdot J \cdot X = c(X) \cdot J$$

for some scalar c(X). Now let F be a totally real field and π a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of weight

$$((b_{\tau,1}, b_{\tau,2})_{\tau}; w) \in (\mathbb{Z}^2)^{\operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{R})} \times \mathbb{Z}$$

with $b_{\tau,1} \ge b_{\tau,2} \ge 0$ and $b_{\tau,1} + b_{\tau,2} \equiv w \mod 2$ for all $\tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{R})$. This means that if $v \mid \infty$ is the place of F corresponding to $\tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{R})$ then π_v is an essentially discrete series representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(F_v)$ with the same infinitesimal character and central character as the finite-dimensional irreducible algebraic representation of GSp_4 of highest weight given by

$$t = \operatorname{diag}(t_1, t_2, t_3, t_4) \mapsto t_1^{b_{\tau,1}} t_2^{b_{\tau,2}} c(t)^{(-w - b_{\tau,1} - b_{\tau,2})/2}$$

An automorphic representation π of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ as above will be called cuspidal regular algebraic. Suppose π is in addition also globally generic as defined for example in [SOR, Sect. 2.3]:

Let ψ be a non-trivial character of $F \setminus \mathbb{A}_F$ and define a character on the unipotent radical N of the upper-triangular Borel of GSp_4 by

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & u & * & * \\ & 1 & z & * \\ & & 1 & -u \\ & & & 1 \end{bmatrix} \longrightarrow \psi(u+z)$$

Then π is called globally generic if there exists $f \in \pi$ such that

$$\int_{N(F)\setminus N(\mathbb{A}_F)} f(n)\psi^{-1}(n)dn \neq 0$$

For such a globally generic automorphic representation it follows from the discussion in [SOR] that Hypothesis 5.1.1 implies that for a rational prime ℓ and isomorphism ι between $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ and \mathbb{C} there is a continuous semi-simple ℓ -adic Galois representation

$$\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}: \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_4(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$$

such that for all finite places $v \nmid \ell$ of F such that π_v is unramified one has

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{\iota}}})^{\mathrm{F-ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GSp}_4}(\pi_v \otimes |c|^{-\frac{3}{2}})$$

where $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(-)$ denotes the local Langlands correspondence for GSp_4 as constructed in [GT]. We will use deformation theory to extend this to places where π is not spherical. To state the local-global compatibility results that we will prove, we first recall some notation about Iwahori-spherical representations of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(K)$ where K is a p-adic field.

Let B denote the Borel subgroup of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(K)$ consisting of upper-triangular matrices and let T denote the diagonal maximal torus. For smooth characters χ_1, χ_2, χ of K^{\times} let $\operatorname{Ind}_B^G(\chi_1, \chi_2; \chi)$ denote the normalized induction of the extension to B of the character

$$t = \text{diag}(t_1, t_2, t_3, t_4) \mapsto \chi_1(t_1)\chi_2(t_2)\chi(c(t))$$

This induced representation will also be denoted by $\chi_1 \times \chi_2 \rtimes \chi$. Let π_v be a generic Iwahori-spherical representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(K)$. In particular there is an injection

$$\pi_v \hookrightarrow \chi_1 \times \chi_2 \rtimes \chi$$

for some characters χ_1 , χ_2 and χ of K^{\times} . The generic Iwahori-spherical representations of $GSp_4(K)$ are divided into six classes in [SCH], namely type (Ia) to type (VIa), and these types can be described in the following manner:

• type (Ia)

Here π_v is isomorphic to an irreducible principal series representation $\chi_1 \times \chi_2 \rtimes \chi$ for some unramified characters χ_1 , χ_2 and χ

• type (IIa)

Here π_v is the generic constituent of $\chi_1 |\cdot|^{1/2} \times \chi_1 |\cdot|^{-1/2} \rtimes \chi_2$ with $\chi_1^2 \notin \{|\cdot|^{\pm 1}, |\cdot|^{\pm 3}\}$

• type (IIIa)

Here π_v is the generic constituent of $\chi_1 \times |\cdot| \rtimes \chi_2 |\cdot|^{-1/2}$ with $\chi_1 \notin \{1, |\cdot|^{\pm 2}\}$.

• type (IVa)

Here π_v is the generic constituent of $|\cdot|^2 \times |\cdot| \times |\cdot|^{-3/2} \chi$.

• type (Va)

Here π_v is the generic constituent of $\xi_0 |\cdot| \times \xi_0 \rtimes \chi |\cdot|^{-1/2}$ where ξ_0 is the unramified character of K^{\times} such that $\xi_0^2 = 1$ and $\xi_0 \neq 1$

• type (VIa)

Here π_v is the generic constituent of $|\cdot| \times 1 \rtimes |\cdot|^{-1/2} \chi$.

Let π_v be a generic Iwahori-spherical representations of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(K)$. We now describe explicitly some aspects of the local Langlands correspondence for such a representation. Since π_v is generic it follows, in the notation of [GT, Thm. 5.2], that π_v is of type (B). Hence it follows from the construction of $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(-)$ in [GT, Sect. 7] as well as from [GT, Prop. 3.4] that

$$\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\pi_v)^{\operatorname{ss}} \cong \tilde{\chi} \oplus \tilde{\chi} \tilde{\chi}_1 \oplus \tilde{\chi} \tilde{\chi}_2 \oplus \tilde{\chi} \tilde{\chi}_1 \tilde{\chi}_2$$

The local global compatibility results that we will prove in Theorem 6 for the representation $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ are obtained by using functoriality transfer of π to an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. We will only deal with the case of Iwahori-spherical ramification and in this case it will follow from the above description of $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(-)$ that the only local components of automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ that will intervene in the calculations are subquotients of representations of the form

$$\operatorname{Ind}(\chi, \chi\chi_1, \chi\chi_2, \chi\chi_1\chi_2)$$

for some characters χ_1 , χ_2 and χ as above.

Theorem 6. Let F be a totally real field and let π be a cuspidal globally generic regular algebraic automorphic representation of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let v be a finite place of F such that π_v is Iwahori-spherical but not of type (VIa). Then

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{\iota}}})^{\mathrm{ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GSp}_{4}}(\pi_{v} \otimes |c|^{-\frac{3}{2}})^{\mathrm{ss}}$$

unless π_v is of type (IVa) and WD_{\iota}($\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_F}$)^{F-ss} has trivial monodromy operator.

Proof. By [GT] the transfer of π to an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ is either cuspidal or an isobaric sum $\pi_1 \boxplus \pi_2$ with π_1 and π_2 cuspidal automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$. In the latter case the Galois representation $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ is constructed from $\rho_{\pi_1,\ell,\iota}$ and $\rho_{\pi_2,\ell,\iota}$ and the theorem follows from Corollary 6.3. Hence assume now that the transfer of π to an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ is cuspidal. Let v be as in the statement of the theorem. Since π_v is Iwahori-spherical there is an injection

$$\pi_v \hookrightarrow \chi_1 \times \chi_2 \rtimes \chi$$

for some unramified characters χ_1, χ_2 and χ of F_v^{\times} . In order to prove that

$$\operatorname{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}})^{\operatorname{ss}} \cong \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\pi_v \otimes |c|^{-\frac{3}{2}})^{\operatorname{ss}}$$

it is enough, by [SOR] and the discussion preceding the theorem, to show the following: Suppose Π is a cuspidal regular algebraic essentially self-dual automorphic representation $GL_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ such that Π_v is the generic constituent of

$$\operatorname{Ind}(\chi\chi_1\chi_2,\chi\chi_1,\chi\chi_2,\chi)$$

where χ_1, χ_2 and χ are as above. Then

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{\iota}}})^{\mathrm{ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GL}_{4}}(\Pi_{v} \otimes |\det|^{-\frac{3}{2}})^{\mathrm{ss}}$$

To show this we will use Theorem 5 and a case by case study of the possible types of π_v .

• type (Ia)

Here π_v is isomorphic to an irreducible principal series representation $\chi_1 \times \chi_2 \rtimes \chi$ for some unramified characters χ_1, χ_2 and χ . By [ST, Lem. 3.2] it follows that $\chi_1 \neq |\cdot|^{\pm 1}, \chi_2 \neq |\cdot|^{\pm 1}$, and $\chi_1 \neq |\cdot|^{\pm 1}\chi_2^{\pm 1}$ where in the last expression all sign combinations are allowed. It follows that $\operatorname{Ind}(\chi, \chi\chi_1, \chi\chi_2, \chi\chi_1\chi_2)$ is also irreducible and therefore

$$\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{Ind}(\chi, \chi\chi_1, \chi\chi_2, \chi\chi_1\chi_2)$$

Hence one is done.

• type (IIa)

Here π_v is the generic constituent of $\chi_1 |\cdot|^{1/2} \times \chi_1 |\cdot|^{-1/2} \rtimes \chi_2$ with $\chi_1^2 \notin \{|\cdot|^{\pm 1}, |\cdot|^{\pm 3}\}$. It follows that

 $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi_1\chi_2) \boxplus \chi_1^2 \chi_2 \boxplus \chi_2$

Hence one is done unless $\chi_1^2 \chi_2 = \chi_2 = \chi_1 \chi_2 |\cdot|^{\pm 1/2}$. But this implies $\chi_1^2 = |\cdot|^{\pm 1}$ which is a contradiction.

• type (IIIa)

Here π_v is the generic constituent of $\chi_1 \times |\cdot| \rtimes \chi_2 |\cdot|^{-1/2}$ with $\chi_1 \notin \{1, |\cdot|^{\pm 2}\}$. It follows that

 $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi_1 \chi_2) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\chi_2)$

Hence one is done unless $\chi_1 = 1$ but this is a contradiction.

• type (IVa)

Here π_v is the generic constituent of $|\cdot|^2 \times |\cdot| \rtimes |\cdot|^{-3/2} \chi$. It follows that

 $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_4(\chi)$

Hence one is done if $WD_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{\iota}}})^{F-ss}$ has non-trivial monodromy operator.

• type (Va)

Here π_v is the generic constituent of $\xi_0 |\cdot| \times \xi_0 \rtimes \chi |\cdot|^{-1/2}$ where ξ_0 is the unramified character of K^{\times} such that $\xi_0^2 = 1$ and $\xi_0 \neq 1$. It follows that

$$\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\xi_0 \chi) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\chi)$$

Hence one is done since $\xi_0 \neq 1$.

• type (VIa)

Here π_v is the generic constituent of $|\cdot| \times 1 \rtimes |\cdot|^{-1/2} \chi$. It follows that

$$\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\chi)$$

Here the desired result does not follow.

Remark. The local-global compatibility results for local semi-simplifications of automorphic Galois representations obtained in the corollaries 5, 6.2 and 6 can be strengthened if non-triviality results for local monodromy operators are known. In Chapter 9 we will obtain such results.

In the previous chapters we described an approach to obtain local-global compatibility results for semi-simple information via the variation of crystalline periods of Galois representations. Similar ideas have been used before in [SU] with the following difference. In that work one studies extension of automorphic Galois representations by putting them into a family whose generic member is irreducible. The variation results on crystalline periods then show something about the so obtained extension classes. Strictly speaking, this lies outside the framework of local-global compatibility since in the case of reducible Galois representations local-global compatibility does not predict something about the extension classes. However, via the deformation theoretic approach these two questions are seen to be very closely related. The unifying philosophy is the following: In many cases, local-global compatibility is simply part of the information that can be obtained at p by deforming p-adic Galois representations. In the work of Skinner-Urban the same is done, and crystallinity properties of pieces of reducible automorphic Galois representations are obtained.

Let $f \in S_k(\Gamma_0(N))$ be a newform of even weight k which is at least 2, with associated automorphic representation π . Let V_f be the p-adic representation associated to f. The Selmer group is defined as

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}_{f}(\mathbb{Q}, V_{f}(k/2)) := \mathrm{Ker}(\mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}, V_{f}(k/2)) \longrightarrow \prod_{v} \frac{\mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{v}, V_{f}(k/2))}{\mathrm{H}^{1}_{f}(\mathbb{Q}_{v}, V_{f}(k/2))})$$

where for $v \neq p$ one has

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}_{f}(\mathbb{Q}_{v}, V_{f}(k/2)) = \mathrm{Ker}(\mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{v}, V_{f}(k/2)) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{1}(I_{v}, V_{f}(k/2)))$$

where I_v denotes the inertia subgroup of $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_v/\mathbb{Q}_v)$, and for v = p one defines

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}_{f}(\mathbb{Q}_{v}, V_{f}(k/2)) = \mathrm{Ker}(\mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{v}, V_{f}(k/2)) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{v}, V_{f}(k/2) \otimes \mathrm{B}_{\mathrm{cris}}))$$

If $\epsilon(1/2, \pi) = -1$, then one knows that there exists a certain special cuspidal automorphic representation $SK(\pi)$ of $PGSp_4(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$. The existence of this special symplectic automorphic representation is then exploited, via deformation theory, to prove in [SU, Theorem 4.1.4] for suitable primes p that

$$\dim \mathrm{H}^{1}_{f}(\mathbb{Q}, V_{f}(k/2)) \geq 1$$

We will now discuss some aspects of local-global compatibility and deformation theory used in the proof. The general principle is to put the Saito-Kurokawa form $SK(\pi)$ into a *p*-adic family of automorphic representations with generic member having irreducible Galois representation. A crucial input in the whole strategy is Theorem 4.2.7 of [SU] which says that a certain irreducible component of an eigenvariety is not so called globally endoscopic. To prove this theorem one shows that global endoscopy would imply the existence of a non-trivial extension * of ϵ^{-1} by the trivial representation, where ϵ is the *p*-adic cyclotomic character of $Gal(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$. If * can be shown to be everywhere unramified this yields be a contradiction. To control the ramification at *p* one uses Kisin's result on analytic variation of crystalline periods! With this result on failure of global endoscopy, by a deformation theoretic argument one produces a non-zero class

$$c \in \mathrm{H}^{1}_{f}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, V_{f}(2k - 3 - r))$$

where r = 1 - k or r = 2 - k which is a candidate to be in the desired Selmer group. The key is now to show that in fact c yields a non-trivial class in the Selmer group. This uses in particular that the Galois representation is ordinary at p if f is ordinary at p. This has been proven by Kisin via crystalline periods. Now one want to show that r = 2 - k as opposed to 1 - k. It is a deep result of Kato's that

$\dim \mathrm{H}^{1}_{f}(\mathbb{Q}, V_{f}(s)) = 0$

for $s \neq k/2$. A fortiori, it follows that r = 2 - k. However, to deduce the last result, really much less is needed. As follows from the discussion in [SU, Section 4.3.4], an upper bound on the monodromy at places of para-spherical ramification suffices and this in turn can be proven - at p - via crystalline periods. More precisely, if r = 1 - k one obtains a non-split extension

$$0 \to L \to \mathcal{K} \to L(\epsilon^{-1}) \to 0$$

where L is some finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p . If one can show that this extension is everywhere unramified one obtains a contradiction. The ramification control at p is obtained via a crystalline periods argument and the desired control of the ramification at a place q|N follows from [SU, Conjecture 3.1.7]. As mentioned in the remark preceding the theorem, the required upper bound on the rank of monodromy can be proven via crystalline period method developed in this memoir. Note that in this case the independence of ℓ hypothesis can be assumed to be known due to the corresponding independence of ℓ theorem for compatible systems of Galois representations associated to suitable automorphic representations of GL₄.

8 Congruences

As described in the introduction, our approach to local monodromy operators of automorphic Galois representations is to combine automorphic congruences with modularity lifting theorems. In the current chapter we discuss an instance of such congruences, namely potential level-lowering results. We prove strengthened versions of the potential levellowering result of [CHT, Lem. 4.4.1] and [SOR] where we control the residual Hecke action at the place where the level is lowered. One motivation for this is that it allows us to prove in this chapter residual local-global compatibility results in the context of general linear groups, unitary groups, and symplectic groups. This should be useful when proving modularity lifting results since to do so one usually has to use a certain amount of local-global compatibility results. Hence the study of congruences might turn out to be useful for carrying out the previously described principle for the calculation of monodromy operators of automorphic forms on more general reductive algebraic groups than currently approachable cases. The level-lowering proof of the residual local-global compatibility simpler than attempting to show this via a study of singularities of Shimura varieties, for example on symplectic groups.

8.1 Potential level-lowering and residual local-global compatibility

We first describe some notation for automorphic forms on unitary groups. Let G, F and F^+ be as in Section 5.1: F^+ is a totally real field, E an imaginary quadratic extension of \mathbb{Q} and $F := F^+E$ is such that F/F^+ is unramified at all finite places and that $n[F^+:\mathbb{Q}]/2$ is even, $n \geq 2$ is an integer and G is an inner form of the quasi-split unitary group U_n^* discussed earlier, that is quasi-split at all places of F^+ which are inert in F and such that $\prod_{v \mid \infty} G(F_v^+)$ is compact. If $v \in \text{Spl}_{F/F^+}$ splits as ww^c in F then i_w is the isomorphism discussed in Section 5.1.

Let c be the non-trivial element of $\operatorname{Gal}(F/F^+)$. Let $\ell > n$ be a rational prime and fix throughout this section an isomorphism ι between $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ and \mathbb{C} . Fix a subfield K of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ such that K/\mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} is a finite extension and K contains the image of all embeddings $F \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$. Let \mathcal{O} denote the valuation ring of K and let k denote its residue field. Let S_{ℓ} denote the set of places of F^+ above ℓ and assume that $S_{\ell} \subset \operatorname{Spl}_{F/F^+}$. Choose a subset \tilde{S}_{ℓ} of the set of places of Fabove ℓ such that

$$\{ \text{places of } F \text{ above } \ell \} = \hat{S}_{\ell} \sqcup \hat{S}_{\ell}^c$$

where S_{ℓ}^c is the collection of elements $x \circ c$ for $x \in \tilde{S}_{\ell}$. Let

- $G(F_{\ell}^+) := \prod_{v \in S_{\ell}} G(F_v^+)$ and identify $G(F_v^+)$ with $\operatorname{GL}_n(F_w)$ where $w \in \tilde{S}_{\ell}$ divides v
- $G(\mathcal{O}_{F_{\ell}^+}):=\prod_{v\in S_{\ell}}G(\mathcal{O}_{F_v^+})$
- $U = \prod_v U_v$ be a compact open subgroup of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+}^{(\infty)})$ where v ranges over the finite places of F^+ and U_v is a subgroup of $G(F_v^+)$ and assume that the projection of U to $G(F_\ell^+)$ is contained in $G(\mathcal{O}_{F_\ell^+})$

Fix $\overline{a} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\operatorname{Hom}(F,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell})}$ such that

$$\overline{a}_{\tau,i} = -\overline{a}_{\tau \circ c,n+1-i}$$

for all $\tau \in \text{Hom}(F, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell})$ and all $1 \leq i \leq n$. Let \tilde{I}_{ℓ} denote the set of embeddings $F \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ which correspond to places in \tilde{S}_{ℓ} . There exists a finite free \mathcal{O} -module $M_{\overline{a}}$ and a representation

$$\kappa: G(\mathcal{O}_{F^+}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{GL}(\mathrm{M}_{\overline{a}})$$

such that

$$\mathcal{M}_{\overline{a}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}} K \cong \otimes_{\tau \in \widetilde{I}_{\ell}} (W_{\overline{a}_{\tau}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} K)$$

where $W_{\overline{a}_{\tau}}$ is as defined in Section 5.1. For any \mathcal{O} -module A define

$$S_{\kappa}(U,A) = \{f: G(F^+) \setminus G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+}^{(\infty)}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}_{\overline{a}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}} A | f(xu) = u_{\ell}^{-1} \cdot f(x) \text{ for all } x \in G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+}^{(\infty)}), u \in U\}$$

where u_{ℓ} is the projection of $u \in U$ to $G(F_{\ell}^+)$. Define an action of $G(\mathbb{A}_F^{(\infty)})$ on $S_{\kappa}(U, A)$ by

$$(g \cdot f)(x) = g_{\ell} \cdot f(xg)$$

for $g \in G(\mathbb{A}_F^{(\infty)})$ and $f \in S_{\kappa}(U, A)$. For $f \in S_{\kappa}(U, \mathcal{O})$ we will denote by \overline{f} the corresponding element of $S_{\kappa}(U, k)$. For $f_1, f_2 \in S_{\kappa}(U, \mathcal{O})$ we will write $f_1 \equiv f_2$ if their reductions in $S_{\kappa}(U, k)$ agree. This will also sometimes be denoted as $\overline{f}_1 \equiv \overline{f}_2$.

Let \mathcal{A} denote the complex vector space of automorphic forms on $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$. Let ξ denote the representation of

$$G(F_{\infty}^{+}) := \prod_{v \mid \infty} G(F_{v}^{+})$$

corresponding to $\overline{a} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\operatorname{Hom}(F,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell})}$ as described in Section 5.1. As described for example in [CHT, p. 101], to each $f \in S_{\kappa}(U, \mathcal{O})$ corresponds, via ι , an element in

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G(F^+_{\infty})}(\xi^{\vee},\mathcal{A})$$

Hence to each such f one can associate in an $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+}^{(\infty,\ell)})$ -equivariant way a vector $\Psi(f)$ of an automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$.

8.1.1 Lowering the level

In the proof of Proposition 8.2 certain subspaces of $S_{\kappa}(U, \mathcal{O})$ will be used which we now define:

Fix a finite place $v \in \operatorname{Spl}_{F/F^+}$ such that $v \nmid \ell$. Via the choice of w | v of F identify $G(F_v^+)$ with $\operatorname{GL}_n(F_w)$. Via this identification let T_v be the diagonal torus of $G(F_v^+)$, let I denote the Iwahori subgroup of $G(F_v^+)$ corresponding to the upper triangular Borel subgroup and let I_1 be the subgroup of I as defined in the beginning of Section 3.3. Assume that the compact open subgroup U of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+}^{(\infty)})$ as above satisfies $U_v = I_1$. For any character $\theta : I/I_1 \to \mathcal{O}^{\times}$ let

$$S^{\theta}_{\kappa}(U,\mathcal{O}) := \{ f \in S_{\kappa}(U,\mathcal{O}) \mid g \cdot f = \theta(g) f \text{ for all } g \in I \}$$

Let $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}$ denote the maximal ideal of \mathcal{O} and let $\overline{\theta} := \theta \mod \mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}$. Define

$$S^{\theta}_{\kappa}(U,k) := \{ f \in S_{\kappa}(U,k) | g \cdot f = \overline{\theta}(g) f \text{ for all } g \in I \}$$

For the statement of the next result fix also the following notation. A character $\chi: T_v \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ will be called ℓ -integral if

$$|\iota^{-1}\chi(x)|_{\ell} \le 1$$

for all $x \in T_v$. Moreover, for ℓ -integral characters χ_1 and χ_2 as above we write

 $\chi_1 \equiv \chi_2 \mod \ell$

if $|\iota^{-1}\chi_1(x) - \iota^{-1}\chi_2(x)|_{\ell} < 1$ for all $x \in T_v$.

Proposition 8.2. Let G, F, F^+ and ι be as above. Let π be an automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$ of weight ν , $\ell > n$ a rational prime such all places of F^+ above ℓ split in F and such that that π_v is spherical at all places above ℓ . Assume v_0 is a finite place of F^+ which splits as ww^c in F and is such that

- $N(v_0) \equiv 1 \mod \ell$.
- $\pi_{v_0} \circ i_w^{-1}$ is Iwahori-spherical, say

$$(\pi_{v_0} \circ i_w^{-1}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_1)$$

for some unramified character χ_1

For any finite place $v \neq v_0$ take a compact open subgroup $U'_v \leq G(F_v^+)$ such that

- $\pi_v^{U'_v} \neq (0)$
- $U'_v = G(\mathcal{O}_{F^+_v})$ for almost all places

Then there is a place w_0 and an automorphic representation $\tilde{\pi}$ of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$ of weight ν such that

• There is an isomorphism

$$\overline{\rho}_{\tilde{\pi},\ell,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$$

• There is an at most tamely ramified character χ such that

$$(\tilde{\pi}_{v_0} \circ i_w^{-1}) \cong \operatorname{Ind}(\chi)$$

and

$$\chi \equiv \chi_1 \mod \ell$$

• For all finite places $v \notin \{v_0, w_0\}$ of F^+ one has $\tilde{\pi}_v^{U'_v} \neq (0)$

Proof. Let us first make some definitions. Fix a place $w_0 \in \text{Spl}_{F/F^+}$ such that π_{w_0} is spherical and such that $w_0 \neq v_0$ and $w_0 \nmid \ell$. Let S be the subset of the set of places of F^+ which is given by the union of the following sets:

- the set finite places of F^+ which do not split in F
- the set of finite places of F^+ in $\operatorname{Spl}_{F/F^+} \setminus \{v_0\}$ at which π is not spherical
- $\{w_0\}$
- the set of all places of F^+ above ℓ
- the set of finite places v of F^+ such that U'_v is not $G(\mathcal{O}_{F_v^+})$, where U'_v is as in the statement of the lemma
- the set of infinite places

For each $v \notin S$ fix an isomorphism $G(F_v^+) \cong \operatorname{GL}_n(F_v^+)$ and note that in the rest of this proof we will identify these groups. We will assume that for $v = v_0$ the isomorphism is given by i_w . Let I be the Iwahori-subgroup of $G(F_{v_0}^+)$ corresponding to the upper triangular Borel B and let I_1 and T be as before. Let

$$U = \prod_{v} U_v \le G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+}^{(\infty)})$$

be a compact open subgroup such that

- $U_{v_0} = I_1$
- $U_{w_0} \leq G(\mathcal{O}_{F_{w_0}^+})$ has no non-trivial element of finite order
- for all finite places $v \notin \{v_0, w_0\}$ one has $U_v = U'_v$

Note that

$$\pi^U \neq (0)$$

Now let

$$\mathcal{H}_1 = \otimes'_{v \notin S} \mathcal{H}_{1,v}$$

be the Hecke algebra which, in the notation of Section 3.3, at v_0 equals \mathcal{H}_1^+ and for $v \neq v_0$ equals the spherical Hecke algebra consisting of functions on $G(F_v^+)$ which are locally constant, have compact support and are $G(\mathcal{O}_{F_v^+})$ bi-invariant. Let ν^{\vee} denote the dual representation of ν . As discussed in Section 5.1, the representation ν^{\vee} corresponds to some

$$\overline{a} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C})}$$

In the notation of the discussion preceding the lemma, choose any set \tilde{S}_{ℓ} and let $\kappa : G(\mathcal{O}_{F_{\ell}^+}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(\operatorname{M}_{\overline{a}})$ be the corresponding representation.

Let $f'_1 \in \pi^{U^{(v_0)}I}$ be an eigenform for the \mathcal{H}_1 -action, this exists due to the commutativity of the action, such that there exists a finite extension K/\mathbb{Q}_ℓ with valuation ring \mathcal{O} , maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}$ and residue field k_ℓ such that

$$f_1 := \Psi^{-1}(f_1') \in S_\kappa(U, \mathcal{O})$$

and such that $\overline{f}_1 \in S_{\kappa}(U, k_{\ell})$ is non-zero. After possibly taking a finite extension we will now assume that K contains a primitive ℓ -th root of unity ζ_{ℓ} . Let $\mathcal{O}_{F_{v_0}^+}$ denote the valuation ring of $F_{v_0}^+$ and let k_{v_0} denote the residue field. Let x be a generator of $k_{v_0}^{\times}$ and define a character

$$\xi: T(\mathcal{O}_{F_{v_0}^+}) \to 1 + \mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}$$

by the composition of the reduction map with the character of $T(k_{v_0})$ defined by

diag
$$(1, \cdots, 1, x, 1, \cdots, 1) \mapsto \zeta_{\ell}^{i}$$

where x is at the *i*'th entry. Note that since $\ell > n$ the character ξ is regular. Via the isomorphism of I/I_1 with $T(k_{v_0})$ one also obtains from the above definitions a character ρ of I/I_1 . Since U_{w_0} has no non-trivial element of finite order it follows from [CHT, Lem. 2.3.1] that $S_{\kappa}(U, \mathcal{O})$ is a free $\mathcal{O}[I/I_1]$ -module and hence there exists $f_{\xi} \in S_{\kappa}^{\rho}(U, \mathcal{O})$ such that

$$\overline{f}_{\xi} \equiv \overline{f}_1$$

The representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$ generated by $\Psi(f_{\xi})$ decomposes as a direct sum $\pi_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \pi_r$ for some automorphic representations π_i of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$. We will show in the rest of this proof that at least one of these automorphic representations can be taken as the $\tilde{\pi}$ in the statement of the lemma.

First note that one can write

$$\Psi(f_{\xi}) = \sum_{i=1}^{r} g_i$$

for some $g_i \in \pi_i$. Since $f_{\xi} \in S^{\rho}_{\kappa}(U, \mathcal{O})$ it follows that for all $v \notin S \cup \{v_0\}$ each g_i is fixed by the action of $G(\mathcal{O}_{F_v^+})$ and furthermore it follows that each g_i transforms under I by ξ . In particular one has

$$\pi^{\rho}_{i,v_0} \neq (0)$$

for each $1 \leq i \leq r$. Here and also later in the proof we identify ρ with the \mathbb{C} -valued character corresponding to it via ι . It follows from [ROC] that for each i the representation π_{i,v_0} is a subquotient of $\operatorname{Ind}(\chi_2)$ for some character χ_2 ,

depending on i, such that

$$(\iota^{-1}\chi_2)|_{T(\mathcal{O}_{F_{v_0}^+})} = \xi$$

Since ξ is regular it follows from [ROD, p. 419] that $\operatorname{Ind}(\chi_2)$ is in fact irreducible and hence

$$\pi_{i,v_0} \cong \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_2)$$

We already know that $\pi_{i,v_0}^{\rho} \neq (0)$ and we will now show that in fact

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} \pi_{i,v_0}^{\rho} = 1$$

Note that we will use in the following the description of principal series representations given in section 3.3. Let $g \in \pi_{i,v_0}^{\rho}$ and let $h \in T(\mathcal{O}_{F_{v_0}^+})$. Let W denote the Weyl group of $G(F_{v_0}^+)$ and let $w \in W$. Then one has

$$\xi(h)g(w) = g(wh) = g((whw^{-1})w) = \chi_2(whw^{-1})g(w) = \xi(whw^{-1})g(w)$$

By the regularity of ξ it follows that g(w) = 0 unless w = 1. By the Iwasawa decomposition

$$G(F_{v_0}^+) = BWI$$

it follows that the space π_{i,v_0}^{ρ} is one-dimensional. A generator is for example the function $G(F_{v_0}^+) \to \mathbb{C}$ which is given by

$$bh \mapsto \chi_2(b)\xi(h)$$

for $b \in B$ and $h \in I$ and which is zero on BwI for any non-trivial $w \in W$.

Now let $\mathcal{H}_2 = \otimes'_{v \notin S} \mathcal{H}_{2,v}$ denote the Hecke algebra such that $\mathcal{H}_{2,v}$ is the spherical Hecke algebra for all $v \neq v_0$ and, in the notation of Section 3.3, $\mathcal{H}_{v_0} \cong \mathcal{H}_{\rho}^+$. It follows from the above discussion that each g_i is an eigenvector for the \mathcal{H}_{ρ}^+ -action. By using the one-dimensionality of spherical vectors in unramified representations it follows that in fact each g_i is an eigenform for the \mathcal{H}_2 -action. Let $g'_i := \Psi^{-1}(g_i)$ and note that after possibly taking a finite extension of K one can assume that $g'_i \in S_{\kappa}(U, \mathcal{O})$ for all i.

For each $R \in \mathcal{H}_v$ for $v \notin S$ let $\alpha(R)$ be given by $R \cdot f_1 = \alpha(R)f_1$ and for each i let $\alpha_i(R)$ be given by $R \cdot g'_i = \alpha_i(R)g'_i$. We will now show that there exists g'_i such that

$$\alpha_i(R) \equiv \alpha(R) \mod \mathfrak{m}_\mathcal{O}$$

for every R as above. Suppose for contradiction that for each j there exists a finite place v_j and $R \in \mathcal{H}_{v_j}$ such that $\alpha_j(R) \not\equiv \alpha(R)$. First note that since $f_{\xi} \equiv f_1$ one has

$$\sum_{i=1}^r \alpha(R) \cdot \overline{g}'_i \equiv \alpha(R) \cdot \overline{f}_{\xi} \equiv R \cdot \overline{f}_{\xi} \equiv \sum_{i=1}^r \alpha_i(R) \cdot \overline{g}'_i \mod \mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}$$

For example for j = 1 one deduces that

$$\overline{f}_{\xi} \equiv \sum_{2 \leq i \leq r} \frac{\alpha_i(R) - \alpha_1(R)}{\alpha(R) - \alpha_1(R)} \cdot \overline{g}'_i \mod \mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}$$

By applying to the above description of f_{ξ} the corresponding calculation for j = 2 and continuing in this way yields that $\overline{f}_{\xi} \equiv 0$ which is a contradiction. Hence there exists g'_i such that $\alpha_i(R) \equiv \alpha(R) \mod \mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}$ for every R as above. Choose one such g'_i and let $\tilde{\pi}$ denote the corresponding automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$. We will now show that $\tilde{\pi}$ satisfies all the properties stated in the lemma. First note that by construction at every place $v \notin \{v_0, w_0\}$ one has

$$\tilde{\pi}_v^{U_v'} \neq (0)$$

Moreover, note that for all $v \notin S \cup \{v_0\}$ for any $R \in \mathcal{H}_v$ the eigenvalues of R acting on f_{ξ} and f_1 have the same image in k_{ℓ} . We have hence shown that there exists a valuation ring \mathcal{O}' in a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} such that for almost all finite places v in $\operatorname{Spl}_{F/F^+}$ one has $\tilde{\pi}_v \cong \operatorname{Ind}(\mu_1)$ and $\pi_v \cong \operatorname{Ind}(\mu_2)$ for some characters μ_1 and μ_2 , depending on v, such that $\iota^{-1}\mu_1$ and $\iota^{-1}\mu_2$ take values in \mathcal{O}' and their reductions in the residue field of \mathcal{O}' agree. It hence follows that

$$\overline{\rho}_{\tilde{\pi},\ell,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$$

Let us now show the remaining property of $\tilde{\pi}$ stated in the lemma. As explained earlier, one knows that

$$\tilde{\pi}_{v_0} \cong \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_2)$$

for some character χ_2 of $T(F_{v_0}^+)$ with

$$(\iota^{-1}\chi_2)|_{T(\mathcal{O}_{F_{v_0}^+})} = \xi$$

We will now show that there is w in the Weyl group such that $\chi_2^w \equiv \chi_1 \mod \ell$. Let $t \in T(F_{v_0}^+)$ and write

$$ItI = \bigsqcup_{b \in S} bI$$

for some finite set S of elements in $G(F_{v_0}^+)$. One can choose $b \in S$ to be of the form $b = i \cdot t$ for some $i \in I$. Write $i = i_1 i'$ with $i_1 \in I_1$ and $i' \in T(k_{v_0})$. Since $t \in T(F_{v_0}^+)$ it follows that one can choose $b \in I_1 \cdot t$ and since

$$\phi_t^{\xi}(t) = 1$$

it follows that $\phi_t^{\xi}(b) = 1$. We will now assume that all the elements $b \in S$ are chosen to be of this form. Fix a Haar measure on $G(F_{v_0}^+)$ such that I has volume 1. Then

$$\begin{aligned} (\phi_t^{\xi} f_{\xi})(x) &= \int_{G(F_{v_0}^+)} \phi_t^{\xi}(y) f_{\xi}(xy) dy \\ &= \sum_{b \in S} f_{\xi}(xb) \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, for the characteristic function $char(ItI) = \phi_t^1 \in \mathcal{H}_1^+$ one has

$$(\phi_t^1 f_1)(x) = \sum_{b \in S} f_1(xb)$$

For any $t \in T(F_{v_0}^+)$ let $\lambda_{\xi}(t)$ and $\lambda_1(t)$ denote the eigenvalue of ϕ_t^{ξ} and ϕ_t^1 acting on f_{ξ} and f_1 , respectively. Then it follows from the above that $\lambda_{\xi}(t)$ and $\lambda_1(t)$ have the same image in the residue field k_{ℓ} since $\overline{f}_{\xi} \equiv \overline{f}_1$.

Fix a uniformizer of F_{v_0} and let $T(F_{v_0})^+$ be the corresponding subset of $T(F_{v_0})$ as defined in Chapter 3. Recall the $T(F_{v_0})^+$ -equivariance, as described in Chapter 3, of the isomorphism

$$\pi_{v_0}^I \longrightarrow J(\pi_{v_0})^{T(\mathcal{O}_{F_v})} \otimes \delta_B^{-1}$$

as well as of the isomorphism

$$\tilde{\pi}^{\rho}_{v_0} \longrightarrow J(\tilde{\pi}_{v_0})^{\xi} \otimes \delta_B^{-1}$$

By [ZEL, Thm. 1.2] there are maps of $\mathbb{C}[T(\mathcal{O}_{F_{v_0}^+})]$ -modules

$$J(\pi_{v_0})^{\mathrm{ss}} \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{w \in W} \chi_1^w \cdot \delta_B^{1/2}$$

as well as

$$J(\tilde{\pi}_{v_0})^{\mathrm{ss}} \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{w \in W} \chi_2^w \cdot \delta_B^{1/2}$$

where W denotes the Weyl group of $G(F_{v_0})$. Since $\Psi(f_1)$ and $\Psi(f_{\xi})$ are eigenvectors for the $\mathbb{C}[T(\mathcal{O}_{F_{v_0}^+})]$ -action their images in

$$J(\pi_{v_0}) \otimes \delta_B^{-1}$$
 and $J(\tilde{\pi}_{v_0}) \otimes \delta_B^{-1}$

respectively span lines of the form

$$\chi_1^{w_1} \cdot \delta_B^{-1/2}$$
 and $\chi_2^{w_2} \cdot \delta_B^{-1/2}$

for some elements $w_1, w_2 \in W$. Since we have already shown that $\lambda_{\xi}(t)$ and $\lambda_1(t)$ have the same image in the residue field k_{ℓ} it follows that $\chi_1^{w_1} \equiv \chi_2^{w_2} \mod \ell$ and hence $\chi_1 \equiv \chi_2^w \mod \ell$ for some w in the Weyl group. Hence $\tilde{\pi}$ satisfies all the properties of the lemma if one takes $\chi := \chi_2^w$.

One can deduce from Proposition 8.2 residual local-global compatibility results for automorphic Galois representations. Such results can be useful in proving modularity lifting theorems where the only assumed properties of automorphic Galois representations are as in Hypothesis 5.1.1. See the beginning of Section 9.1 for a brief discussion of this.

Corollary 8.3. Let G, F, F^+ and ι be as above and let π be an automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$. Let $\ell > n$ be a rational prime and let v be a finite place of F^+ which splits as ww^c in F such that $N(v) \equiv 1 \mod \ell$ and $\pi_v \circ i_w^{-1}$ is Iwahori-spherical. Then $(\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota})|_{G_{F_w}}^{ss}$ is as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence.

Proof. Let v and w be as in the statement of the corollary and identify throughout this proof $G(F_v^+)$ with $\operatorname{GL}_n(F_w)$ via i_w . By Lemma 8.2 there exists an automorphic representation π' of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$ and characters $\mu_i : F_w^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ and $\rho_i : F_w^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$ such that the following holds: Firstly, one has

$$\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi',\ell,\iota}$$

Secondly, one has

$$\pi_v \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\mu_1, \cdots, \mu_n)$$

as well as

$$\pi'_v \cong \operatorname{Ind}(\rho_1, \cdots, \rho_n)$$

and there is a finite extension K/\mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} such that the characters $\iota^{-1}\mu_i$ and $\iota^{-1}\rho_i$ take values in \mathcal{O}_K and

$$\iota^{-1}\mu_i \equiv \iota^{-1}\rho_i \mod \mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}_K}$$

for all $1 \leq i \leq n$. Here \mathcal{O}_K denotes the valuation ring of K and $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}}$ denotes the maximal ideal of \mathcal{O} . By Hypothesis 5.1.2 one has

$$\rho_{\pi',\ell,\iota}^{ss}|_{G_{F_w}} \cong (\iota^{-1}(\tilde{\rho}_1|\tilde{\cdot}|^{\frac{1-n}{2}} \oplus \cdots \oplus \tilde{\rho}_n|\tilde{\cdot}|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_K} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$$

and since

$$\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota}^{ss}|_{G_{F_w}} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi',\ell,\iota}^{ss}|_{G_{F_w}}$$

the lemma follows.

Results like Proposition 8.2 also allow to deduce level-lowering results for automorphic representations of GL_n over CM-fields. This method is due to Clozel-Harris-Taylor, see [CHT] (Lemma 4.4.1). We state it in a form convenient for our later use:

Corollary 8.4. Let F be a CM-field and Π a cuspidal regular algebraic conjugate self-dual automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ and $\ell > n$ a rational prime such that $\overline{\rho}_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}$ is irreducible. Let $v \nmid \ell$ be a finite place of F such that π_v is Iwahori-spherical. Then there is a solvable CM-extension F'/F such that the base change of Π to F' remains cuspidal and there is a cuspidal regular algebraic conjugate self-dual automorphic representation $\widetilde{\Pi}$ of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_{F'})$ such that

$$\overline{\rho}_{\mathrm{BC}_{F'}(\Pi),\ell,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\tilde{\Pi},\ell,\iota}$$

and $\tilde{\Pi}_w$ is an unramified principal series representation for some w|v. The extension F' can be chosen to be linearly disjoint over F from any given finite extension of F.

Proof. By making a base change to a suitable solvable imaginary CM-extension of F which is linearly disjoint over F with $\overline{F}^{\ker \overline{\rho}_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}}$ and such that the base change of Π remains cuspidal one can assume that

- $N(v) \equiv 1 \mod \ell$
- v lies above a place v_0 of $\operatorname{Spl}_{F/F^+}$
- all places of F above ℓ lie above places in $\operatorname{Spl}_{F/F^+}$
- F/F^+ is unramified at all finite places
- $n[F^+:\mathbb{Q}]/2$ is even

In particular, there exists a unitary group G over F^+ as described in Section 5.1. It follows from [LAB] that there is an automorphic representation π of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$ whose base change to $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ is Π . Then π , G and v_0 satisfy the conditions in Lemma 8.2. Hence there is an automorphic representation π' of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$ such that $\overline{\rho}_{\pi',\ell,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ and such that π'_{v_0} is a principal series representation. By [LAB] one can base change π' to an automorphic representation Π' of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ and Π' is cuspidal since $\overline{\rho}_{\Pi,\ell,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ is irreducible. Now take a solvable CM-extension such that the base change of Π' and Π remain cuspidal and such that at all places w|v the base change of Π' is an unramified principal series representation. This representation satisfies all the requirements of the lemma.

By essentially the same proofs as above, one can prove corresponding level-lowering and residual local-global compatibility result for symplectic groups. This in particular generalizes the symplectic potential level-lowering results of Sorensen in [SOR2]. We simply state the results:

Proposition 8.5. Let F be a totally real field and let G be an inner form of $\operatorname{GSp}_{2n,F}$ (for some $n \ge 1$) such that G_{∞} is compact mod center (and ι be as above). Let π be an automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_F)$ with infinity type ξ . Suppose $\ell > 2n$ is a rational prime. Assume v_0 is a finite place of F such that

- $N(v_0) \equiv 1 \mod \ell$
- π_{v_0} is Iwahori-spherical, say $\pi_{v_0} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ind}(\chi_1)$ for some unramified character χ_1

For any finite place $v \neq v_0$ take a compact open subgroup $U'_v \leq G(F_v^+)$ such that

- $\pi_v^{U'_v} \neq (0)$
- $U'_v = G(\mathcal{O}_{F^+_v})$ for almost all places

Then there is a place w_0 and an automorphic representation $\tilde{\pi}$ of $G(\mathbb{A}_{F^+})$ of weight ξ such that

- $\overline{\rho}_{\tilde{\pi},\ell,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$
- $\tilde{\pi}_{v_0} \cong \operatorname{Ind}(\chi)$ for an at most tamely ramified character χ such that

 $\chi \equiv \chi_1 \mod \ell$

• for all finite places $v \notin \{v_0, w_0\}$ of F^+ one has $\tilde{\pi}_v^{U'_v} \neq (0)$.

Corollary 8.6. Let G, F, ι , π , $\ell > 2n$ and v_0 be as above. Then $(\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota})|_{G_{Fv_0}}^{ss}$ is as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence.

By using functoriality one can deduce analogous results for symplectic groups as in Theorem C of [SOR2]. We refer to loc. cit. for detailed definitions of some of the notions we are now using. Let F be a totally real field. As in loc. cit. we will assume the following:

Hypothesis 8.6.1. Let π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $\text{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ such that there is an integer w such that $\pi \otimes |\det|^{w/2}$ is algebraic. Then for each rational prime ℓ there exists a 4-dimensional Galois representation $\rho_{\pi,\ell}$ associated to π and if π is non-CAP then π_v is tempered for almost all finite places v of F.

If π is as above and non-endoscopic and non-CAP and assuming the previous hypothesis and that $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell}$ is absolutely irreducible one can deduce the analogues of Proposition 8.5 and Corollary 8.6 for automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ by using Theorem B of [SOR2]. We omit the detailed formulation.

9 Local monodromy operators: The case of general linear groups

In this chapter we prove non-triviality results for local-monodromy operators associated to automorphic representation of GL_n and unitary groups and hence generalize the results of Section 4.2.1 to this more general situation. We also discuss implications of the non-triviality of monodromy to local-global compatibly questions concerning the semi-simple part of local Weil-Deligne representations associated to automorphic Galois representations and prove an analogue of the conjecture of Skinner-Urban that was discussed in Chapter 2.

The main result of this chapter is Theorem 7 which is a generalization of Proposition 4.3 and in which modularity lifting theorems are used to obtain non-triviality results for local monodromy operators of automorphic Galois representations. In the next chapter we then carry out an analogous analysis for monodromy operators of automorphic representations of symplectic groups.

9.1 Monodromy operators

As explained before, the aim of this chapter is to use the deformation theory of automorphic forms to obtain local-global compatibility results for automorphic Galois representations. In particular, we want to use modularity lifting theorems to calculate local monodromy operators of automorphic Galois representations. In proving such modularity lifting theorems it is important to construct certain maps from Galois deformation rings to Hecke algebras or related objects. These maps are constructed by using some local-global compatibility results for automorphic Galois representations. In order to avoid potential instances of circular reasoning, we try to develop the approach to local monodromy operators via modularity lifting theorems in such a way that the local-global compatibility assumptions of Hypothesis 5.1.1 are sufficient for the proofs of the modularity lifting theorems that we use. Hence we will now briefly discuss some of the local properties of automorphic Galois representations that are used in the proofs of relevant modularity lifting results of [CHT], [TAY] and [GUE].

• Firstly:

Consider the crystalline deformation condition as defined in [CHT, Sect. 2.4.1]. The necessary local-global compatibility result is that $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ is crystalline at all $v|\ell$ if π_v is spherical for all $v|\ell$. This is assumed in Hypothesis 5.1.1.

• Secondly:

Consider the Taylor-Wiles deformation condition as defined in [CHT, Sect. 1.4.6]. Apart from the local-global compatibility at places for principal series representations one has to show in the proof of [CHT, Prop. 3.4.4 (8)] a certain residual local-global compatibility at places where the local component is a representation of GL_n of the form

$$\chi_1 \boxplus \cdots \boxplus \chi_{n-2} \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\chi_{n-1})$$

for some unramified characters χ_i for $1 \le i \le n-1$. This residual local-global compatibility follows from Hypothesis 5.1.1 and Corollary 8.3.

• Thirdly:

Consider the deformation condition as defined in [TAY, Sect. 2]. The necessary local-global compatibility results concern local-global compatibility for principal series representations as well as unipotent inertia action at places of Iwahori-spherical ramification. Both of these results follow from Hypothesis 5.1.1.

In the following, in order to avoid a complete discussion of whether or not Hypothesis 5.1.1 does indeed imply all the necessary local-global compatibility results that are necessary to prove the modularity lifting theorems, we will simply treat modularity lifting theorems as hypotheses. Note also that for ease of exposition we base our hypotheses on the results of [CHT] which are not the most general known modularity lifting theorems that are known. It should be clear, however, how to modify our proofs in order to incorporate stronger modularity lifting results.

Hypothesis 9.1.1. Let F be a CM-field and let

$$\rho: \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$$

be a continuous Galois representation which is unramified outside a finite set of places. Assume there is $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ such that

- $\ell > n$ and ℓ is unramified in F
- $\rho^c \cong \rho^{\vee}(1-n)$
- for every place $v|\ell$ of F the representation $\rho|_{G_{F_v}}$ is crystalline
- there exists $\overline{a} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C})}$ such that for all $\tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C})$
 - either

$$\ell - n - 1 \ge a_{\tau,1} \ge a_{\tau,2} \ge \dots \ge a_{\tau,n} \ge 0$$

or the inequalities hold with τ replaced by $\tau \circ c$

- for all $1 \leq i \leq n$ one has $a_{\tau \circ c,i} = -a_{\tau,n+1-i}$
- if $\iota^{-1}\tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(F, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell})$ gives rise to $v|\ell$ then

$$\operatorname{HT}_{\tau}(\rho|_{G_{F_{v}}}) = \{-(a_{\tau,j} + n - i) | 1 \le i \le n\}$$

- $\overline{F}^{\operatorname{Ker}(\operatorname{ad}\overline{\rho})}$ does not contain $F(\zeta_{\ell})$ where ζ_{ℓ} is a primitive ℓ 'th root of unity
- the group $\overline{\rho}(\text{Gal}(\overline{F}/F(\zeta_{\ell})))$ is big as defined in [CHT, Def. 2.5.1]
- $\overline{\rho}$ is absolutely irreducible and $\overline{\rho} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\Pi_1,\ell,\iota}$ for some regular algebraic cuspidal conjugate self-dual automorphic representation Π_1 of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of weight \overline{a}

Then there is a regular algebraic cuspidal conjugate self-dual automorphic representation Π' of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of weight \overline{a} such that

- $\rho \cong \rho_{\Pi',\ell,\iota}$
- Π'_v is spherical for all finite places $v \nmid \ell$ such that $\rho|_{G_{F_v}}$ is unramified and $\Pi_{1,v}$ is spherical

As in Chapter 4 we will now apply the modularity lifting hypothesis to the residual representations of the automorphic Galois representations for which we try to prove local-global compatibility results. Hence, guided by the previous hypothesis, we make the following definition: **Definition 23.** Let F be a CM-field. For a regular algebraic cuspidal conjugate self-dual automorphic representation Π of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of weight $\overline{a} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C})}$ define \mathcal{B}_{Π} to be the set of pairs (ℓ, ι) consisting of a rational prime ℓ and an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ such that

- $\ell > n$ and ℓ is unramified in F
- for all $\tau \in \text{Hom}(F, \mathbb{C})$ either $\ell n 1 \ge a_{\tau,1} \ge a_{\tau,2} \ge \cdots \ge a_{\tau,n} \ge 0$ or the inequalities hold with τ replaced by $\tau \circ c$
- for every place $v|\ell$ of F the representation $\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_{\nu}}}$ is crystalline
- $\overline{F}^{\operatorname{Ker}(\operatorname{ad}\overline{\rho}_{\Pi,\ell,\ell})}$ does not contain $F(\zeta_{\ell})$ where ζ_{ℓ} is a primitive ℓ 'th root of unity
- the group $\overline{\rho}_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}(\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F(\zeta_{\ell})))$ is big as defined in [CHT, Def. 2.5.1]

We will later also prove results for automorphic representations of GL_n over totally real fields and hence we make the following definition:

Definition 24. Let F be a totally real field. For a regular algebraic cuspidal essentially self-dual automorphic representation Π of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of weight

$$\overline{a} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{n,+})^{\operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{R})}$$

define \mathcal{B}_{Π} to be the set of pairs (ℓ, ι) consisting of a rational prime ℓ and an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ such that

- $\ell > n$ and ℓ is unramified in F
- for all $\tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(F, \mathbb{R})$ one has $\ell n 1 + a_{\tau,n} \ge a_{\tau,1}$
- for every place $v|\ell$ of F the representation $\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_v}}$ is crystalline
- $\overline{F}^{\operatorname{Ker}(\operatorname{ad}\overline{\rho}_{\Pi,\ell,\iota})}$ does not contain $F(\zeta_{\ell})$ where ζ_{ℓ} is a primitive ℓ 'th root of unity
- the group $\overline{\rho}_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}(\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F(\zeta_{\ell})))$ is big as defined in [CHT, Def. 2.5.1]

We now prove the main theorem:

Theorem 7. Let F be a CM-field and let Π be a regular algebraic cuspidal conjugate self-dual automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let $(\ell, \iota) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Pi}$ and let $v \nmid \ell$ be a finite place of F such that Π_v is Iwahori-spherical. Then the monodromy operator of the Weil-Deligne representation associated to $\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}}$ is non-trivial if and only if it is predicted to be non-trivial by the local Langlands correspondence.

Proof. Let N be the monodromy operator of the Weil-Deligne representation associated to $\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}}$. If the local Langlands correspondence predicts, in the above notation, that N is trivial then Π_v is a principal series representation and by 5.1.1 (i) it follows that N is indeed trivial. Hence suppose now that the local Langlands correspondence predicts that N is non-trivial and assume for contradiction that N is trivial. Let F'/F be a solvable extension such that F' is a CM-field and such that $BC_{F'}(\Pi)$ is cuspidal and such that $\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F'}}$ is unramified at all places of F' above v. Note that F' can be chosen linearly disjoint over F to any given finite extension of F. Since $\ell > n$ it follows from Corollary 8.4 that there is a solvable CM-extension L/F' and a regular algebraic cuspidal conjugate self-dual automorphic representation Π_1 of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_L)$ of the same weight as $BC_L(\Pi)$ such that

- $\overline{\rho}_{\mathrm{BC}_L(\Pi),\ell,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\Pi_1,\ell,\iota}$
- $\Pi_{1,w}$ is an unramified principal series for some place w above v
- Π_1 is spherical at all places above ℓ
- $(\ell, \iota) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Pi_1}$

By Hypothesis 9.1.1 there exists a regular algebraic cuspidal conjugate self-dual automorphic representation Π_2 of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_L)$ of the same weight as $\operatorname{BC}_L(\Pi)$ such that $\rho_{\operatorname{BC}_L(\Pi),\ell,\iota} \cong \rho_{\Pi_2,\ell,\iota}$ and such that $\Pi_{2,w}$ is spherical for some place w|v of L. Since Π_2 and $\operatorname{BC}_L(\Pi)$ have the same ℓ -adic Galois representation and since the local-global compatibility is known by Hypothesis 5.1.1 for all but finitely many places it follows that $\Pi_{2,u} \cong \operatorname{BC}_L(\Pi)_u$ for all but finitely many places u of L. Hence by the strong multiplicity one theorem for cuspidal automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_L)$, see for example [PS], it follows that $\Pi_{2,w} \cong \operatorname{BC}_L(\Pi)_w$ which is a contradiction: The representation $\Pi_{2,w}$ is spherical but $\operatorname{BC}_L(\Pi)_w$ is not since $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_n}(\operatorname{BC}_L(\Pi)_w)$ has non-trivial monodromy operator.

We will now deduce an analogous result for automorphic representations of general linear groups over totally real fields. As discussed before Corollary 6.2, it follows from the construction of Galois representations associated to regular algebraic cuspidal essentially self-dual automorphic representations of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ where F is a totally real field, that Proposition 7 implies the following:

Corollary 9.2. Let F be a totally real field and let Π be a regular algebraic cuspidal essentially self-dual automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let $(\ell, \iota) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Pi}$ and let $v \nmid \ell$ be a finite place of F such that Π_v is Iwahori-spherical. Then the monodromy operator of the Weil-Deligne representation associated to $\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}}$ is non-trivial if and only if it is predicted to be non-trivial by the local Langlands correspondence.

By the same argument used in the proof of Corollary 6.3 one can deduce the following result for Galois representations associated to Hilbert modular forms:

Corollary 9.3. Let F be a totally real field and let π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of cohomological weight. Let $(\ell, \iota) \in \mathcal{B}_{\pi}$ and let $v \nmid \ell$ be a finite place of F such that π_v is Iwahori-spherical. Then the monodromy operator of the Weil-Deligne representation associated to $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}}$ is non-trivial if and only if it is predicted to be non-trivial by the local Langlands correspondence.

We will now deduce an analogous result for automorphic representations of symplectic groups over totally real fields.

Definition 25. Let π be a globally generic regular algebraic cuspidal automorphic representation of $\text{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ for some totally real field F. Let Π be the transfer of π to an automorphic representation of $\text{GL}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ and if Π is cuspidal define

$$\mathcal{B}_{\pi} := \mathcal{B}_{\Pi}$$

Note that whenever we use the set \mathcal{B}_{π} we assume implicitly that the transfer Π of π is cuspidal.

Corollary 9.4. Let F be a totally real field and let π be cuspidal globally generic regular algebraic automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let $(\ell, \iota) \in \mathcal{B}_{\pi}$ and let $v \nmid \ell$ be a finite place of F such that π_v is Iwahori-spherical. Then the monodromy operator of the Weil-Deligne representation associated to $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}}$ is non-trivial if and only if it is predicted to be non-trivial by the local Langlands correspondence.

9.5 Applications

In this section we will strengthen the local-global compatibility results of Chapter 6 and Section 9.1 by using the interaction between the horizontal and vertical deformation theory of automorphic forms. As a consequence, in Corollary 9.10, we prove a version for globally generic automorphic representations of GSp_4 of Conjecture 3.1.7 in [SU]. Using similar methods as in the proof of this corollary, but using eigenvarieties for symplectic groups instead of unitary groups, leads to results concerning this conjecture even for non-globally generic representations.

Let us first use the results of Section 9.1 to strengthen the local-global compatibility results for local semisimplifications of automorphic Galois representations that were obtained in Chapter 6.

Corollary 9.6. Let F be a CM-field (totally real field) and let Π be a regular algebraic cuspidal conjugate (essentially) self-dual automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ for $n \leq 4$. Let $(\ell, \iota) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Pi}$ and let $v \nmid \ell$ be a finite place of F such that Π_v is Iwahori-spherical. Then

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{u}}})^{\mathrm{ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GL}_{n}}(\Pi_{v} \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})^{\mathrm{ss}}$$

unless n = 4 and there is an unramified character $\chi: F_v^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ such that one of the following holds:

- $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi) \boxplus \chi |\cdot|^{\pm 1/2} \boxplus \chi |\cdot|^{\pm 1/2}$ (same sign)
- $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi) \boxplus \operatorname{St}_2(\chi)$
- $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_3(\chi) \boxplus \chi | \cdot |^{\pm 1}$

Proof. Assume first F is a CM-field. By Theorem 5 it suffices to show that if $\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_4(\chi)$ for some unramified character χ then $\operatorname{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}})^{\text{F-ss}}$ has non-trivial monodromy operator. This follows from Proposition 7. Now assume that F is a totally real field. Similarly to the proof in the CM-case the result follows from corollaries 6.2 and 9.2.

For automorphic representations of symplectic groups over totally real fields one obtains:

Corollary 9.7. Let F be a totally real field and let π be cuspidal globally generic regular algebraic automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let $(\ell, \iota) \in \mathcal{B}_{\pi}$ and let $v \nmid \ell$ be a finite place of F such that π_v is Iwahori-spherical. If π_v is not of type (VIa) then

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F}})^{\mathrm{ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GSp}_{4}}(\pi_{v} \otimes |c|^{-\frac{3}{2}})^{\mathrm{ss}}$$

Proof. Write $WD_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}})^{F-ss} \cong (r, N)$. To prove the corollary it suffices by Corollary 6 to show that if π_v is of type (IVa) then N is non-trivial. This follows from Corollary 9.2.

All of the above corollaries are examples of how the horizontal deformation theory of automorphic forms can strengthen the results for local semi-simplifications of automorphic Galois representations obtained by using the vertical deformation theory. In the reverse direction we will now give examples of how to use the vertical deformation theory to strengthen results obtained by using the horizontal deformation theory.

Corollary 9.8. Let F be a CM-field (totally real field) and let Π be a regular algebraic cuspidal conjugate (essentially) self-dual automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{A}_F)$ for $n \leq 4$. Let $(\ell, \iota) \in \mathcal{B}_{\Pi}$ and let $v \nmid \ell$ be a finite place of F such that

- Π_v is Iwahori-spherical
- $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_n}(\Pi_v \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})$ has a monodromy operator of rank at most 1

Then

$$WD_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{v}}})^{F-ss} \cong \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_{n}}(\Pi_{v} \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})$$

unless the following two conditions hold:

• *n* = 4

• there is an unramified character $\chi: F_v^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ such that

$$\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi) \boxplus \chi | \cdot |^{\pm 1/2} \boxplus \chi | \cdot |^{\pm 1/2}$$

(same sign)

Proof. Suppose that $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GL}_n}(\Pi_v \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})$ has a monodromy operator of rank at most 1. By corollary 9.6 it follows that

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{\iota}}})^{\mathrm{ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GL}_n}(\Pi_v \otimes |\det|^{\frac{1-n}{2}})^{\mathrm{ss}}$$

unless n = 4 and there is an unramified character $\chi: F_v^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ such that

$$\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi) \boxplus \chi | \cdot |^{\pm 1/2} \boxplus \chi | \cdot |^{\pm 1/2}$$

Moreover, by Proposition 7 the representation $WD_{\iota}(\rho_{\Pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_{\nu}}})^{F-ss}$ has a non-trivial monodromy operator if and only if it is predicted by the local Langlands correspondence and this proves the corollary.

For Hilbert modular forms one obtains the following:

Corollary 9.9. Let F be a totally real field and let π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of cohomological weight. Let $(\ell, \iota) \in \mathcal{B}_{\pi}$ and let $v \nmid \ell$ be a finite place of F such that π_v is Iwahori-spherical. Then

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F}})^{\mathrm{F-ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GL}_{2}}(\pi_{v} \otimes |\mathrm{det}|^{-\frac{1}{2}})$$

Proof. This follows from Corollary 6.3 and Corollary 9.3.

We will now deduce a result for automorphic representations of symplectic groups over totally real fields.

The next corollary deals with type (Ia) and type (IIa) representations since those types of Iwahori-spherical representations are the only type of the six families of generic representations (Ia) to (VIa) whose local monodromy operator under the local Langlands correspondence has rank at most one: By [ROS, Table A.7] a type (Ia) representation has trivial monodromy operator and a type (IIa) representation has monodromy operator

$$egin{array}{ccc} 0 & 1 & & \\ & 0 & & \\ & & 0 & \\ & & & 0 \end{array}$$

and a type (IIIa) representation has monodromy operator

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & & \\ & 0 & & \\ & & 0 & -1 & \\ & & & 0 & \end{bmatrix}$$

and type (Va) and type (VIa) representations have monodromy operator

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \\ & 0 \\ & & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

and a type (Iva) representation has monodromy operator

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & & & \\ & 0 & 1 & & \\ & & 0 & -1 & \\ & & & 0 & \end{bmatrix}$$

Corollary 9.10. Let F be a totally real field and let π be cuspidal globally generic regular algebraic automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let $(\ell, \iota) \in \mathcal{B}_{\pi}$ and let $v \nmid \ell$ be a finite place of F such that π_v is Iwahori-spherical and of type (Ia) or (IIa). Then

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}})^{\mathrm{F-ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GSp}_4}(\pi_v \otimes |c|^{-\frac{3}{2}})$$

Proof. In case that π_v is of type (Ia) the result follows from Hypothesis 5.1.1 (i). Hence assume now that π_v is of type (IIa). By arguing as in the proof of Corollary 6, in order to prove the corollary it suffices to check that the corresponding result holds for regular algebraic cuspidal essentially self-dual automorphic representations Π of $GL_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ whose local component at v satisfies

$$\Pi_v \cong \operatorname{St}_2(\chi_1\chi_2) \boxplus \chi_1^2 \chi_2 \boxplus \chi_2$$

for some unramified characters χ_1 and χ_2 of F_v^{\times} such that $\chi_1^2 \notin \{|\cdot|^{\pm 1}, |\cdot|^{\pm 3}\}$. Since

 $\chi_1 \chi_2 |\cdot|^{\pm 1/2} \neq \chi_1^2 \chi_2$

this follows from Corollary 9.8.

10 Local monodromy operators: The case of symplectic groups

In this chapter we develop a variant of the modularity lifting theorem approach to monodromy operators which is more general than the previously described results in Chapter 9. This variant describes how to obtain general lower bounds on the rank of monodromy and it also applies to automorphic representations of reductive groups where strong multiplicity one results might not be known or might not hold. Note that we develop this approach in the current chapter in the setting of GSp_4 , but the method allows to treat higher rank symplectic groups, amongst other cases, as well.

The traditional approach to studying the monodromy operator is based on the study of singularities of algebraic varieties. As mentioned before, the approach we take is very different. The idea is to combine a priori congruences of automorphic representations, such as potential level-lowering results, and combine them with modularity lifting theorems. An obstacle for this strategy for general groups is that strong multiplicity one results might not be available. However, strong multiplicity one is a much stronger result than what is needed and we will in this chapter give an alternative approach to the required rigidity via γ -factors obtained from the doubling method. The latter theory has been developed for general classical groups but for simplicity we focus on automorphic representations of GSp_4 over totally real fields. The main result is Theorem 8 where we show under some strong hypotheses that the rank of monodromy is at least as predicted by the local Langlands correspondence. The hypotheses are strong since, for a result of the above generality, they assume level-lowering principles beyond what has been proved in the potential levellowering section of the previous chapter and we do not know how to obtain such general congruence results without assuming local-global compatibility in the first place. Similar results could presumably be shown, for example, in the GL_n -case but as mentioned before we restrict to GSp_4 for simplicity. One should note that a much more intricate use of the γ -factors from the doubling methods was used by Jorza in [JOR] to obtain multiplicity one results for automorphic representations of GSp_4 and as a consequence monodromy results are deduce from the known GL_4 -cases. Interestingly enough, the eigenvariety arguments that we developed in earlier sections were used there to remove a certain quadratic twist in the results.

10.1 γ -factor arguments

The fine local information of the γ -factors from the doubling method has been proved by Lapid and Rallis in [LR] and we now recall this briefly in the special case of symplectic groups.

Let F be a totally real field. Fix a non-trivial character $\psi = \bigotimes_v \psi_v$ of $F \setminus \mathbb{A}_F$. For a cuspidal automorphic representation π of $\operatorname{Sp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ one obtains via the doubling-method a γ -factor $\gamma(s, \pi, \psi)$. One defines the L-factor $L(s, \pi_v, \psi_v)$ as the numerator of $\gamma(s, \pi, \psi)$ if π is tempered and other wise via the Langlands classification. The relation between the L-factors, ϵ -factors and γ -factors, as defined in [LR], is given as

$$\gamma(s, \pi \times \omega, \psi) = \epsilon(s, \pi \times \omega) \frac{L(1 - s, \tilde{\pi} \times \omega^{-1}, \psi)}{L(s, \pi \times \omega, \psi)}$$

where $\tilde{\pi}$ is the contragredient representation of π . By [GT2] (Main theorem, property (i)) the γ -factors obtained by the doubling method agree with the γ -factors of the local Langlands correspondence for Sp₄ as constructed by Gan-Takeda in [GT2]. Since the γ -factors as above are defined for representations for Sp₄, but we are interested in representations of GSp₄, let us recall the relation between the local Langlands correspondences of these two groups. Consider

$$std: GSp_4 \longrightarrow PGSp_4 \cong SO_5$$

where the last isomorphism is as described for example in [ROS, A.7]. Let π_v be an irreducible smooth admissible representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(F_v)$. Let π'_v be some irreducible component of the restriction of π_v to $\operatorname{Sp}_4(F_v)$. Then by [GT2] (Section 1) one has

std
$$\circ \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\pi_v) = \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{Sp}_4}(\pi'_v)$$

The key properties of the γ -factors for our intended application are:

• Functional equation:

Suppose $\pi \cong \otimes'_v \pi_v$ is an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{Sp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let S be a finite set of finite places of F and define

$$L^{(S)}(s,\pi,\psi) := \prod_{v \notin S} L(s,\pi_v,\psi_v)$$

where the product is over finite places of F not in S. Then

$$L^{(S)}(s, \pi, \psi) = \prod_{v \in S} \gamma(s, \pi_v, \psi_v) L^{(S)}(1 - s, \pi_v^{\vee}, \psi_v)$$

This is [LR, Theorem 4, property 10]. Hence, if π and $\tilde{\pi}$ are two automorphic representations of $\text{Sp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ such that $\pi_v \cong \tilde{\pi}_v$ for all $v \notin S$ where S contains all the archimedean places and all places where π or $\tilde{\pi}$ are ramified then

$$\prod_{v \in S} \gamma(s, \pi_v \times \omega_v, \psi_v) = \prod_{v \in S} \gamma(s, \tilde{\pi}_v \times \omega_v, \psi_v)$$

where $\omega = \prod \omega_v$ is a Hecke character of $F^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_F^{\times}$.

• Stability:

The stability of local γ -factors arising from the doubling method has been proved by Rallis-Soudry in [RS]. It implies in our current situation that given π_v there exists a character χ of F_v^{\times} such that

$$\gamma(s, \pi_v \otimes \chi, \psi_v) = 1$$

10.1.1 Local Langlands correspondence for GSp₄

For later use we describe how the construction of the local Langlands correspondence for GSp_4 for *p*-adic fields by Gan-Takeda is compatible with the explicit constructions of [ROS] for Iwahori spherical representations. As explained in [GT, Section 7], via the explicit description of certain theta-correspondences in [GT3] it can be seen that the two constructions agree. Since in [GT] this matching is mentioned explicitly only for nondiscrete series representations we recall here the matching also for essentially discrete Iwahori spherical representations. As described in [ROS, Table A.1] these are exactly the type (IVa) and (Va) representations.

The local Langlands correspondence of [GT] is constructed via the theta-correspondence. Let $\text{GSO}_{3,3}$ denote the algebraic group over \mathbb{Q} given by the orthogonal simulate group of a 6-dimensional quadratic form of signature (3,3) and note that, say for a *p*-adic field *K*, there is an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{GSO}_{3,3}(K) \cong (\operatorname{GL}_4(K) \times \operatorname{GL}_1(K)) / \{ (z, z^{-2}) | z \in K^{\times} \}$$

where we view K^{\times} embedded into the diagonal torus of $\operatorname{GL}_4(K)$. Via this description, one writes representations of $\operatorname{GSO}_{3,3}(K)$ as $\Pi \boxtimes \mu$ where Π is a representation of $\operatorname{GL}_4(K)$ and μ a representation of $\operatorname{GL}_1(K)$. As described in [GT], the L-group of $\operatorname{GSO}_{3,3}$ is

$$\{(g, z) \in \mathrm{GL}_4(\mathbb{C}) \times \mathrm{GL}_1(\mathbb{C}) | \det g = z^2\}$$

The L-group of GSp_4 should be $GSp_4(\mathbb{C})$. Consider the map *inc* from the L-group of GSp_4 to the L-group of GSO(V) given by

$$g \to (g, c(g))$$

where c(g) is the similitude factor. In [GT, Theorem 5.2] an irreducible admissible representation π of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(K)$ for a *p*-adic field *K* is defined to be of type (B) if π participates in the theta-correspondence with $\operatorname{GSO}_{3,3}(K)$. By [GT, Theorem 5.6] an irreducible admissible representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(K)$ is of type (B) if and only if it is not a nongeneric essentially tempered representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(K)$. For an irreducible admissible representation of type (B) the Langlands parameter is constructed in the following manner. The theta lift of π to $\operatorname{GSO}_{3,3}(K)$ will be non-zero, say of the form $\Pi \boxtimes \mu$. Let ϕ_{Π} and ϕ_{μ} be the Langlands parameters of Π and μ under a local Langlands correspondence for GL_4 and GL_1 . Then the parameter of π is defined to be

$$\phi_{\Pi} \times \phi_{\mu} : W_K \times \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{GL}_4(\mathbb{C}) \times \mathrm{GL}_1(\mathbb{C})$$

By [GT, Section 7] this map factors through the image of $GSp_4(\mathbb{C})$ under the inclusion map *inc* and hence one obtains a symplectic Langlands parameter. Note that, as explained for example in [KUD, Section 4], Weil-Deligne representations over \mathbb{C} can also be described via the continuous complex semi-simple representations of $W_K \times SL_2(\mathbb{C})$.

Let K be a p-adic field. If follows from the discussion in [GT3, Section 5.2] that the Iwahori-spherical discrete series representations of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(K)$ are of the following form. As mentioned in [GT3, Section 5.2.1], all of these representations are in fact generic. Let P denote a Siegel parabolic of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(K)$. The Levi-subgroup is isomorphic to $\operatorname{GL}_2(K) \times \operatorname{GL}_1(K)$ via an isomorphism which takes $(A, u) \in \operatorname{GL}_2(K) \times \operatorname{GL}_1(K)$ to

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & 0\\ 0 & uA' \end{pmatrix} \in \mathrm{GSp}_4(K)$$

where

$$A' := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} (A^{-1})^T \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Via this isomorphism, if τ is a representation of $\operatorname{GL}_2(K)$ and μ of $\operatorname{GL}_1(K)$ then we can form the normalized induction $I_P(\tau, \chi)$. We now describe the type (IVa) and type (Va) representations:

• Let μ be a character of K^{\times} . The representation

$$I_P(st|\cdot|^{3/2},\mu|\cdot|^{-3/2})$$

has by [GT3, Lemma 5.2(b)(iii)] a unique irreducible sub-representation which will be denoted by $St_{PGsp_4} \otimes \mu$. By [ROS, A.3] this is a type (IVa) representation.

• Let μ be a character of K^{\times} and ξ_0 is a non-trivial quadratic character of K^{\times} . Then the normalized induction

$$I_P(\operatorname{St}_2(\xi_0|\cdot|^{1/2}),\mu|\cdot|^{-1/2})$$

has by [GT3, Lemma 5.2(b)(ii)] a unique irreducible sub-representation which will be denoted by $St(st_{\xi_0}, \mu)$. By [ROS, A.3] this is a type (Va) representation.

Let θ denote the theta-correspondence from $\text{GSp}_4(K)$ to $\text{GSO}_{3,3}(K)$ and let $P_{2,2}$ denote the standard parabolic subgroup of $\text{GL}_4(K)$ corresponding to the partition 4 = 2 + 2. By [GT3, Theorem 8.3(iv)] one has

$$\theta(\operatorname{St}(st_{\xi_0},\mu)) = I_{P_{2,2}}(st_{\xi_0} \otimes \mu, st \otimes \mu) \boxtimes \mu^2$$

In [ROS, Table A.7] the Langlands parameter associated to a type (IVa) representation is given by (ρ, N) where for $w \in W_K$ one has

$$\rho(w) = \begin{bmatrix} \mu(w)|w|^{1/2} & & \\ & \mu(w)|w|^{1/2}\xi_0(w) & & \\ & & \mu(w)|w|^{-1/2}\xi_0(w) & \\ & & & \mu(w)|w|^{-1/2} \end{bmatrix}$$

and

$$N = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & & 1 \\ & 0 & 1 \\ & & 0 \\ & & & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Hence the degree 4 Langlands parameters of [GT] and [ROS] agree and hence, in particular, the degree 5 L-factors agree. By [GT3, Theorem 8.3(v)] one has

$$\theta(\operatorname{St}_{\operatorname{PGSp}_4} \otimes \mu) = (\operatorname{St}_{\operatorname{PGL}_4} \otimes \chi) \boxtimes \chi^2$$

In [ROS, Table A.7] the Langlands parameter associated to a type (Va) representations is given by (ρ, N) where for $w \in W_K$ one has

$$\rho(w) = \begin{bmatrix} \mu(w)|w|^{3/2} & & \\ & \mu(w)|w|^{-1/2} & \\ & & \mu(w)|w|^{-1/2} & \\ & & \mu(w)|w|^{-3/2} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$N = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & & \\ & 0 & 1 & \\ & & 0 & -1 & \\ & & & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

and

10.1.2 Rigidity

Let K be a p-adic field and let N(K) be the unipotent radical of the upper-triangular Borel subgroup of $GSp_4(K)$. For a non-trivial complex character ψ of K define the character, denoted by ψ' , of N(K) given by

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & x & * & * \\ & 1 & y & * \\ & & 1 & -x \\ & & & 1 \end{bmatrix} \longrightarrow \psi(x+y)$$

Recall that an irreducible admissible representation π of $GSp_4(K)$ is called generic if

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{N(K)}(\pi,\psi')\neq(0)$$

We can now prove the crucial rigidity lemma:

Lemma 10.2. Let F be a totally real field. Suppose π_1 and π_2 are cuspidal automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ such that $\pi_w \cong \tilde{\pi}_w$ for almost all finite places w of F. Let v be any finite place of F. Then it is not possible that π_v is generic Iwahori-spherical and unramified and $\tilde{\pi}_v$ is generic Iwahori-spherical and ramified.

Proof. Suppose that π_1 and π_2 are automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ such that $\pi_w \cong \tilde{\pi}_w$ for almost all finite places w of F. For i = 1, 2 the representation π_i can be realized in space of functions on $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Restricting all of these functions to $\operatorname{Sp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ one obtains a representation of $\operatorname{Sp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let π'_i be an irreducible component of this representations. It is a cuspidal automorphic representation of $\operatorname{Sp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let w be a finite place of F. Since

std
$$\circ \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\pi_w) = \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{Sp}_4}(\pi'_w)$$

it follows that

$$\operatorname{rec}(\pi'_{1,w}) \cong \operatorname{rec}(\pi'_{2,w})$$

for all finite places w of F outside a finite set S of finite places. Hence it follows from the functional equation that

$$\prod_{w \in S} \gamma(s, \pi_w, \psi_w) = \prod_{w \in S} \gamma(s, \pi'_w, \psi_w)$$

Fix a finite place v of F. By stability of γ -factors it follows that

$$\gamma(s, \pi'_{1,v}, \psi_v) = \gamma(s, \pi'_{2,v}, \psi_v)$$

Since, as mentioned before, the γ -factors from the doubling method agree with the γ -factors of the local Langlands correspondence for Sp_4 and since this local Langlands correspondence preserves γ -factors, it follows that

$$\gamma(s, \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{Sp}_4}(\pi'_{1,v}), \psi_v) = \gamma(s, \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{Sp}_4}(\pi'_{2,v}), \psi_v)$$

By the relate between the local Langlands correspondences for Sp_4 and GSp_4 it should follow that

$$\gamma(s, \mathrm{std} \circ \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GSp}_4}(\pi_{1,v}), \psi_v) = \gamma(s, \mathrm{std} \circ \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GSp}_4}(\pi_{2,v}), \psi_v)$$

The degree five L-factors of generic Iwahori-spherical representations of GSp_4 are listen in table A.10 of [ROS] and by the discussion preceding the lemma, these L-factors agree with the one defined in [GT].

- type (Ia): $L(s,\chi_1)L(s,\chi_1^{-1})L(s,1_{F^{\times}})L(s,\chi_2)L(s,\chi_2^{-1})$ • type (IIa): $L(s, \chi | \cdot |^{1/2}) L(s, \chi^{-1} | \cdot |^{1/2}) L(s, 1_{F^{\times}})$
- type (IIIa):
- type (IVa):
- type (Va):

 $L(s,\xi|\cdot|)L(s,\xi)L(s,1_{F^{\times}})$

 $L(s, |\cdot|^2)$

 $L(s,\chi)L(s,\chi^{-1})L(s,|\cdot|)$

• type (VIa):

$$L(s, |\cdot|)L(s, 1_{F^{\times}})L(s, 1_{F^{\times}})$$

One sees that the only generic Iwahori-spherical representation of $GSp_4(F_v)$ whose L-factor has degree 5 is the unramified irreducible principal series representation. But this contradicts

Hence the γ -factor distinguishes between ramified and unramified generic Iwahori-spherical representations.

In fact this argument can be strengthened: The following is a special case of Proposition 6.2 of [JOR]. It will be used when we prove stronger lower bounds on the rank of monodromy than the mere non-triviality.

Lemma 10.3 (Jorza). Let F be a totally real field. Suppose now that π_1 and π_2 are cuspidal automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ such that $\pi_w \cong \tilde{\pi}_w$ for almost all finite places w of F. Let v be any finite place of F. Then

it is not possible that π_v is generic Iwahori-spherical with $\operatorname{rec}(\pi_v)$ having monodromy of rank r_1 and $\tilde{\pi}_v$ is generic Iwahori-spherical with $\operatorname{rec}(\tilde{\pi}_v)$ having monodromy of rank r_2 with $r_1 \neq r_2$.

10.4 Monodromy Operators

With the rigidity results of the previous section in hand it is now relatively straightforward to adapt the methods of the proof of Theorem 7 to the symplectic case. It should become clear how to, in principle, generalize the arguments to automorphic representations on other groups as well. We also illustrate how one might prove stronger lower bounds on the rank of monodromy than the mere non-triviality. The following is a generally expected hypothesis, see for example the discussion in [SOR], and we will assume it for the remainder of this chapter:

Hypothesis 10.4.1. Let F be a totally real field and let π be a cuspidal regular algebraic automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Then for a rational prime ℓ and isomorphism ι between $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell$ and \mathbb{C} there is a continuous semi-simple ℓ -adic Galois representation

$$\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}: \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GSp}_4(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$$

such that for all finite places $v \nmid \ell$ of F such that π_v is a principal series representation one has

$$\mathrm{WD}_{\iota}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}})^{\mathrm{F-ss}} \cong \mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GSp}_4}(\pi_v \otimes |c|^{-\frac{3}{2}})$$

where c denotes the symplectic similitude character. Moreover, if π is non-endoscopic and non-CAP then π_v is tempered for all finite places v.

Let F_v be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p where p is some prime. Let \mathcal{O} denote the integer ring in F_v and \mathfrak{p} the maximal ideal. We now define, following [ROS, Sect. 2.1], some subgroups of $\mathrm{GSp}_4(F_v)$: The Klingen parahoric J_Q is defined to be the subgroup of $\mathrm{GSp}_4(F_v)$ consisting of matrices A with determinant in \mathcal{O}^{\times} and

$$A \in \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} \\ \mathfrak{p} & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} \\ \mathfrak{p} & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} \\ \mathfrak{p} & \mathfrak{p} & \mathfrak{p} & \mathcal{O} \end{bmatrix}$$

Fix a uniformizer ϖ of F_v . The para-modular group \tilde{K} is defined to be the subgroup of $\mathrm{GSp}_4(F_v)$ given by

$$\tilde{K} = \langle J_Q, \eta J_Q \eta^{-1} \rangle$$

where

$$\eta = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ \varpi & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\varpi & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Definition 26. If V is a Weil-Deligne representation we denote by N_V the corresponding monodromy operator.

Definition 27. Fix an integer $0 \le i \le 3$. Let F_v be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p for some prime p. We say that a pair (K, ϕ) is associated to i over F_v if K is a compact open subgroup $K \le \operatorname{GSp}_4(F_v)$ and a ϕ is a finite dimensional smooth representation K such that for any irreducible admissible generic Iwahori-spherical representation π_v of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(F_v)$ one has

$$\pi_v^{K,\phi} \neq (0) \Longrightarrow \operatorname{rank} N_{\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\pi_v)} \leq i$$

Here $\pi_v^{K,\phi}$ denotes the subspace of π_v on which K acts through ϕ .

Remark. Note that there are groups satisfying the properties outlined in definition 27: Fix an integer $0 \le i \le 3$ and let F_v be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p for some prime p. Then there exists a pair (K, ϕ) which is associated to i over F_v :

As can be seen for example from the tables in [SOR], one has the following implications:

$$\pi_v^{\mathrm{GSp}_4(\mathcal{O}),1} \neq (0) \Longrightarrow \mathrm{rank} \ N_{\mathrm{rec}_{\mathrm{GSp}_4}(\pi_v)} \le 0$$

Let \tilde{K} be the para-modular group. Then

$$\pi_v^{K,1} \neq (0) \Longrightarrow \operatorname{rank} N_{\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\pi_v)} \leq 1$$

Let J_P be a Klingen parahoric subgroup. Then

$$\pi_v^{J_P,1} \neq (0) \Longrightarrow \operatorname{rank} N_{\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\pi_v)} \leq 2$$

Let I be an Iwahori subgroup. Then

$$\pi_v^{I,1} \neq (0) \Longrightarrow \operatorname{rank} N_{\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\pi_v)} \leq 3$$

To prove lower bounds on the rank of monodromy operators we will assume strong cyclic base change for GSp_4 :

Hypothesis 10.4.2. Let K/F be a cyclic extension of totally real number fields and let π be an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Then there exists an automorphic representation $\operatorname{BC}_{K/F}(\pi)$ of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_K)$ such that for all places v of F and places w|v the representation $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\operatorname{BC}_{K/F}(\pi)_w)$ of the Weil-Deligne representation of W_{K_w} is obtained by restriction from the Weil-Deligne representation $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\pi_v)$ of W_{F_v} .

The following hypothesis about the existence of congruences between automorphic representations is stronger than the known potential level-lowering results. It will be assumed when proving lower bounds on the rank of monodromy operators which go beyond the non-triviality of monodromy treated in earlier chapter.

Hypothesis 10.4.3. Let F be a totally real field and let π be an automorphic representation of $\text{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Fix a rational prime ℓ and finite place $v \nmid \ell$ of F such that π_v is generic. Assume $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ is absolutely irreducible. Then there exists a solvable totally real extension F'/F, a place w|v of F' and a cuspidal cohomological automorphic representation π' of $\text{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_{F'})$ of the same weight as $\text{BC}_{F'}(\pi)$ such that

- $\overline{\rho}_{\pi',\ell,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F')}$
- π'_w is generic
- •

 $(\pi'_w)^{K,\phi} \neq (0)$

where (K, ϕ) is associated over F'_w to the rank of $N_{WD(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{G_{F_{\iota,\iota}}})}$

We phrase our requirements on a modularity lifting theorem for GSp_4 as a hypothesis. See for example [GET] for some known results. Certainly one can assume weaker modularity lifting results, for example with stronger conditions on the image of the residual Galois representation. The proof of Theorem 8under such a suitably modified hypothesis will essentially be the same.

Hypothesis 10.4.4. Let

$$\rho: \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{GSp}_4(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$$

be a continuous representation unramified outside a finite set of finite places and such that there exists a cuspidal regular algebraic automorphic representation π of $\text{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ such that

• there is an isomorphism

 $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}$

and these representations are absolutely irreducible

• π_v is generic and $\pi_v^{K,\phi} \neq (0)$ where (K,ϕ) is associated to

$$i := \operatorname{rank} N_{\mathrm{WD}(\rho|_{G_{F_v}})}$$

over F_v and is as in Hypothesis 10.4.3

Then there exists a cuspidal regular algebraic automorphic representation $\tilde{\pi}$ of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ of the same weight as π and such that

- there is an isomorphism $\rho \cong \rho_{\tilde{\pi},\ell,\iota}$
- $\tilde{\pi}_v$ is generic and $\tilde{\pi}_v^{K,\phi} \neq (0)$

We can now prove the main theorem on lower bounds for the rank of monodromy operators of Galois representations associated to symplectic automorphic representations:

Theorem 8. Let F be a totally real field and let π be an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ which is cuspidal regular algebraic. Let ℓ be a rational prime and $v \nmid \ell$ a finite place of F such that π_v is generic. Let N_ℓ be the monodromy operator of the Weil-Deligne representation associated to $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}}$ and let N_{rec} denote the monodromy operator of $\operatorname{rec}(\pi_v)$. Assuming Hypotheses 10.4.2, 10.4.3, and 10.4.4 with $\rho = \rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ it follows that

rank
$$N_{\ell} \ge \operatorname{rank} N_{\operatorname{rec}}$$

Proof. Suppose for contradiction that rank $N_{\ell} < \text{rank } N_{\text{rec}}$. After making a suitable solvable base change one can assume that π_v is Iwahori-spherical. By Hypothesis 10.4.3 there exists a solvable totally real extension F'/F and a cuspidal cohomological automorphic representation π' of $\text{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_{F'})$ such that $\overline{\rho}_{\pi',\ell,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{\text{Gal}(\overline{F}/F')}$ and

$$(\pi'_v)^{K,\phi} \neq (0)$$

where (K, ϕ) is associated to the rank of $N_{\text{WD}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_F})}$ over F'_w . By Hypothesis 10.4.4 it follows that

$$\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/F')} \cong \rho_{\tilde{\pi},\ell,\iota}$$

for some cuspidal automorphic representation $\tilde{\pi}$ of $\mathrm{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$ such that

$$\tilde{\pi}_v^{K,\phi} \neq (0)$$

It therefore follows that $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\operatorname{BC}_{F'/F}(\pi)_w) \cong \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\tilde{\pi}_w)$ for almost all finite places w of F' and

rank
$$N_{\operatorname{rec}(\tilde{\pi}_v)} \leq \operatorname{rank} N_{\operatorname{WD}(\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}})} < \operatorname{rank} N_{\operatorname{rec}}$$

Since for all finite places w of F' which lie above v the rank of the monodromy operator of $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\operatorname{BC}_{F'/F}(\pi_v)_w)$ equals the rank of N_{rec} one obtains from Lemma 10.3 a contradiction.

Since potential level-lowering results are known, one can deduce a less conditional result for the mere non-triviality of monodromy operators.

Corollary 10.5. Let F be a totally real field and let π be a cuspidal regular algebraic automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Let $\ell > 3$ be a rational prime and assume that $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ is absolutely irreducible. Let v be a finite place of F such that $v \nmid \ell$ and such that π_v is generic. Let N_ℓ be the monodromy operator of the Weil-Deligne representation associated to $\rho_{\pi,\ell,\iota}|_{W_{F_v}}$ and let N_{rec} denote the monodromy operator of $\operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4}(\pi_v)$. Assuming Hypothesis 10.4.2 and 10.4.4 it follows that $N_\ell \neq 0$ whenever $N_{\text{rec}} \neq 0$.

Proof. Assume $N_{\text{rec}} \neq 0$ and assume for contradiction that $N_{\ell} = 0$. Hypothesis 10.4.3 in this case is then implied by the potential level-lowering for symplectic groups which have been proven by Sorensen assuming strong cyclic base

change, see [SOR2, Section 1], assuming that $\ell > 3$ and that $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\ell,\iota}$ is absolutely irreducible. Note that in contrast to [SOR2] we added the temperedness assumption for all finite places for non-endoscopic and non-CAP representations in Hypothesis 10.4.1 since otherwise the arguments of [SOR2] need more justification. The corollary now follows from Theorem 8.

References

- [AC] Arthur-Clozel: Simple algebras, base change, and the advanced theory of the trace formula, Ann. of Math. Studies 120, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1989
- [BC] Bellaiche-Chenevier: Families of Galois representations and Selmer groups, Astérisque 324 (2009)
- [BC2] Bellaiche-Chenevier: Formes non tempérées pour U(3) et conjectures de Bloch-Kato, Ann. scient. Éc. Norm. Sup. 37 (2004), 611-662
- [BEN] D. Benois: A generalization of Greenberg's L-invariant, American Jour. of Math. 133 (2011), 1573-1632
- [BH] Bushnell-Henniart: The local Langlands conjecture for GL(2), Grundlehren der math. Wissenschaften 335, Springer Verlag, 2006
- [BGR] Bosch-Güntzer-Remmert: Non-Archimedean analysis, Grundlehren der math. Wissenschaften 261, Springer Verlag, 1984
- [BT] Buzzard-Taylor: Companion forms and weight one forms, Annals of Math. 149 (1999), 905-919
- [BZ] Bernstein-Zelevinsky: Induced representations of reductive p-adic groups. I, Ann. scient. Éc. Norm. Sup. (1977), 441-472
- [CAR] H. Carayol: Sur les représentations l-adiques associées aux formes modulaires de Hilbert, Ann. scient. Éc. Norm. Sup. (1986), 409-468
- [CAS] Casselman: Introduction to the theory of admissible representations of p-adic reductive groups, Preprint
- [CH] Chenevier-Harris: Construction of automorphic Galois representations, II, Preprint
- [CHE] G. Chenevier: Une application des variétés de Hecke des groupes unitaires, Preprint
- [CHE2] G. Chenevier: Familles p-adiques de formes automorphes pour GL_n, J. reine angew. Math. 570 (2004), 143-217
- [CHL] Clozel-Harris-Labesse: Endoscopic transfer, Preprint
- [CHT] Clozel-Harris-Taylor: Automorphy for some l-adic lifts of automorphic mod l Galois representations I, Publ. Math. de L'IHÉS 108 (2008), 1-181
- [FON1] J.-M. Fontaine: Le corps des périodes p-adiques, Astérisque 223 (1994), 59-111
- [FON2] J.-M. Fontaine: Répresentations p-adiques semi-stables, Astérisque 223 (1994), 113-184
- [FON3] J.-M. Fontaine: Répresentations l-adiques potentiellement semi-stable, Astérisque 223 (1994), 321-347
- [GET] Genestier-Tilouine: Systèmes de Taylor-Wiles pour GSp(4), Formes Automorphes (II): Le cas du group GSp(4), Astérisque **302** (2005), 177-290
- [GT] Gan-Takeda: The local Langlands conjecture for GSp(4), Annals of Math. 173 (2011), 1841-1882
- [GT2] Gan-Takeda: The local Langlands conjecture for Sp(4), International Math. Research Notices 15 (2010), 2987-3038

- [GT3] Gan-Takeda: Theta correspondences for GSp(4), Representation Theory 15 (2011), 670-718
- [GUE] L. Guerberoff: Modularity lifting theorems for Galois representations of unitary type, Preprint
- [HAI] T. Haines: On Hecke algebra isomorphisms and types for depth-zero principal series, Preprint
- [HID2] H. Hida: Hilbert modular forms and Iwasawa theory, Oxford Mathematical Monographs, Oxford University Press, 2006
- [HID3] H. Hida: p-adic automorphic forms on Shimura varieties, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer Verlag, 2004
- [HT] Harris-Taylor: The geometry and cohomology of some simple Shimura varieties, Annals of Math. Studies 151, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2001
- [JAR] F. Jarvis: On Galois representations associated to Hilbert modular forms, J. reine angew. Math. 491 (1997), 199-216
- [JOR] A. Jorza: Galois representations for holomorphic Siegel modular forms, to appear in Math. Annalen
- [JOR2] A. Jorza: *p*-adic families and Galois representations for GSp(4) and GL(2), to appear in Math. Research Letters
- [KPX] Kedlaya-Pottharst-Xiao: Cohomology of arithmetic families of (φ, Γ) -modules, Preprint
- [KIS] M. Kisin: Overconvergent modular forms and the Fontaine-Mazur conjecture, Iventiones Math. 153 (2003), 373-454
- [LAB] J.-P. Labesse: Changement de base CM et séries discrètes, Preprint
- [KUD] S. Kudla: The local Langlands correspondence: The non-archimedean case, Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 55.2, 365-392
- [LIU] R. Liu: Triangulation of refined families, Preprint
- [LAN] R. Langlands: Modular forms and l-adic representations, Modular functions of one variable II, Lecture Notes in Math. 349, Springer Verlag, 1973
- [LR] Lapid-Rallis: On the local factors of representations of classical groups, Automorphic Representations, Lfunctions, and Applications: Progress and Prospects, de Gruyter, 2005
- [NAK] Nakamura: Deformations of trianguline B-pairs and Zariski density of two dimensional crystalline representations, Preprint
- [OCH] T. Ochiai: l-independence of the trace of monodromy, Math. Ann. 315 (1999), 321-340
- [PS] I.I. Piatetski-Shapiro: Multiplicity one theorems, Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 33, Part 1, (1979), 209-212
- [ROC] A. Roche: Types and Hecke algebras for principal series representations of split reductive p-adic groups, Ann. Sci. Ec. Norm. Sup. 31 (1998), 361-413
- [ROD] F. Rodier: Décompositions de la série principale des groupes réductifs p-adiques, Lecture Notes in Math. 880, Springer Verlag, 1991
- [RS] Rallis-Soudry: Stability of the local gamma factor arising from the doubling method, Math. Ann. 333 (2005), 291-313
- [ROS] Roberts-Schmidt: Local newforms for GSp(4), Lecture Notes in Math. 1918, Springer Verlag, 2007

- [SAI] T. Saito: Modular forms and p-adic Hodge theory, Inventiones Math. 129 (1997), 607-620
- [SAI2] T. Saito: Hilbert modular forms and p-adic Hodge theory, Compositio Math. 145 (2009), 1081-1113
- [SAI3] T. Saito: Weight spectral sequences and independence of ℓ , J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 2 (2003), 583-634
- [SCH] R. Schmidt: Iwahori-spherical representations of GSp(4) and Siegel-modular forms of degree 2 with square-free level, J. Math. Soc. Japan 57 (2005), 259-293
- [SKI] C. Skinner: A note on the p-adic Galois representations attached to Hilbert modular forms, Documenta Math. 14 (2009), 241-258
- [ST] Sally-Tadic: Induced representations and classifications for GSp(2, F) and Sp(2, F), Bull. Soc. Math. France **121** (1993), 75-133
- [SU] Skinner-Urban: Sur les déformation p-adiques de certaines représentations automorphes, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 5 (2006), 629-698
- [SW] Skinner-Wiles: Base-change and a problem of Serre, Duke Math. J. 107 (2001), 15-25
- [SOR] C. Sorensen: Galois representations attached to Hilbert-Siegel modular forms, Documenta Math. 15 (2010), 623-670
- [SOR2] C. Sorensen: Potential level-lowering for GSp(4), J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 8 (2009), 595-622
- [TAT] J. Tate: Number theoretic background, Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 33, Part 2, (1979)
- [TAY] R. Taylor: Automorphy for some l-adic lifts of automorphic mod l Galois representations. II, Publ. Math. de L'IHÉS 108 (2008), 183-239
- [TY] Taylor-Yoshida: Compatibility of local and global Langlands correspondences, J. AMS. 20 (2007), 467-493
- [WIL] A. Wiles: Modular elliptic curves and Fermat's last theorem, Annals of Math. 142 (1995), 443-551
- [ZEL] A. Zelevinsky: Induced representations of reductive p-adic groups II. On irreducible representations of GL(n), Ann. scient. Éc. Norm. Sup. (1980), 165-210